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Whitbread Group PL.C

Strategic report

Introduction
‘These consolidated financial statements represent Whithread Group PLC and alt its subsidiaries ('Group’). Whitbhread has emerged from
the COVID-19 pandemic in a position of strength, bouncing back strongly in the year and returning to profitability.

Our unique vertically integrated operating modei gives us a sustainable platform to outperform in the structurally attractive markets in
which we operate, built on our scale, brand strength, direct distribution and our leading customer offering. We have a long track-record
of generating a strong return on capital for our sharcholders. all the while staying true to our Force for Good ambitions.

Qur trading momentum in the UK is strong, and we are rapidly cxpanding our footprint in Germany. We enter the year ahead in a strong
position to succeed.

Gur strategy is to provide sustainable long-term value for our sharchelders by growing our successful hotel and restaurant
brands in structurally appealing markets. whilst delivering an attractive return on capital. Our three strategic priorities are: to
continue to grow and innovate in the UK and take market share: to grow at scale in Germany: and to enhance cur capabilities to
support long-term growth.

Premier Inn currently operates 800+ hotels in the UK (82,200 rooms) and Is looking Lo continue its expansion into Germany through
a combination of organic growth and acquisitions. It currently has a German pipeline of 8.454 rooms across key citics. Further
details can be found in the Strategic Report of the Annual Report and Accounts of Whithread PLC for the year ended 3 March
2022. The financial vear represents the 33 wecks to 3 March 2022 (prior financial year: 32 wecks to 25 February 2021),

Business Review
Group adjusted” loss before tax was £55.7m (2020/21: loss of £663.4m). Group statutory profit for the ycar was £11.6m
(2020/21: loss of £930.9m).

At 3 March 2022, nct debt* was £140.5m (2020721 net debt of £46.5m).

Liquidity and debt funding facilities

The Group’s aim is to manage to investment grade metrics of Funds From Operations lease adjusted debt™* of <3.5x Net Debt
over the medium term. Whilst the Group remains below its historic profit levels, the strong balance sheet cash position and
freehold assets support Whitbread PL.C’s investment grade rating.

Foliowing the release of the Ultimate Parent Group's financial statements, the Group notified its lending banks of its intention to remove
the covenant waivers that existed on its revolving credit facility. and issued a compliance certificate to reinstate the original covenants,

being:

Net Debt'/Adjusted EBITDA' <3.5%
Adjusted EBITDA Vinterest' »>3.0x

On 25 May 2022. the Group signed a new Revolving Credit Facility Agreemeni. which contains one financial covenant ratio. being:
Net Debt'/Adjusted EBITDA' <3.5x

The Revolving Credit Facility which at year end was £850.0m, was replaced on 25 May 2022 as the Group signed a new 3 year
£775.0m multicurrency Revolving Credit Facility Agreement. During the year, £200.0m US private placement notes were

repaid on 26 March 2021, with £25m US private placement notes repaid on 6 September 2021 and the remaining US private

placement notes of USD9%3.5m (£58.5m) repaid on 14 December 2021, There are now no outstanding US private placements.

The maturity of the Group's facilities is set out in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

+ Alternative performance measure — see page 10 for further detail.

! The covenant measures are calculated pre-IFRS 16



Whitbread Group PLC

Strategic report (continucd)

Premier Inn UK

Premier Inn UK statutory revenue was 189.0% ahead of FY21 and 18.6% down compared to FY20. with H1 statutory revenues
down 39.4% versus FY20, improving to up 4.3% in H2. The FY22 financial yecar is a 53 week period ended 3 March 2022,
whereas the FY21 is a 52 week period. Percentage comparisons are on a 33 week versus 32 week basis unless stated otherwise.
On a 52-week basis, total accommodation sales were 190.8% ahead of FY21, and down 13.9% compared to FY20 (H1 down
33.1%, H2 ahead 7.9%).

COVID restrictions materially impacted the performance of the UK business during the first half of the year. Only essential
business guests were permitted to stay overnight until 17 May 2021. at which point overnight leisure stays were permitted, Our
restaurants were also not permitted to open for indoor service until the same date. with the majority remaining temporarily closed
until then. OQur hotels and restaurants then operated largely restriction-free from 19 July, driving a strong improvement in
revenues from that date.

Leisure demand in the UK Regions was strong post 17 May 2021 and throughout the rest of the financial year, with tradespeople
business demand also resilient throughout. Office-based business demand remained behind pre-COVID levels. largely reflecting
the vartous work-from-home guidelines that were in place during the year.

The Londen market. and in particular central London (¢.7% of Premier Inn rooms} has lagged the regions during the COVID
pandemic as a result of the low levels of inbound international travel and subducd business commuting, however trends
improved during Q2. helped by the domestic leisure bounce, and then in to Q3 as offices reopened.

The emergence of the Omicron COVID variant dampened overall demand in December 2021 and into January 2022, however
Premier Inn UK total accommodation sales continued to outperform the market, with trends improving again in February as most
remaining Government COVID restrictions were lifted.

Premicr Inn total UK accommeodation sales growth was consistentiy ahead of the Midscale and Economy market through the
year driving significant market share gains versus the total market, and demonstrating the strengths of our scale, brand, direct
distribution model and our winning customer proposition.

On a 52-week basis, total food and beverage sales were 163.4% ahead of FY21 and down 32.7% compared to FY20 (H1 down
51.2%. H2 down 13.3%) with the vast majority of the estate only reopening on 17 May 2021, The overall value pub and
restaurant sector’s recovery has been slower than other restaurant sectors, and greater impacted in Q4 by the impact of the
Omicron variant. New menus. enhanced drinks oftering, and improved digital marketing will help drive an improvement in
Premier Inn food and beverage sales into FY23.

Other income of £70.1m reflects a £62.0m benefit from the Coronaviras Job Retention Scheme (“CJRS™) and other wage support
schemes in Ireland and Jersey and an £8.2m benefit from other grants. The Group ceased claiming under the CIRS in May 2021
following the full reopening of our hotels and restaurants. Operating costs of £1.248.6m were in-line with expectations and 44.9% higher
than FY21. driven by the impact of estate growth, an increase in revenue related variable costs (primarily food and beverage costs of
sales), lower levels of the Government’s business rates benefit and partly offset by cost efficiencies.
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Strategic report (continued)

Premier Inn Germany

Premier Inn’s aim is to be the number one budget hotel eperator in Germany. by leveraging the strengths and capabilities of the
UK business. Qur current open and committed pipeline of 14.329 rooms in Germany equates to around 1% share of the market in
2019 {compared to ¢.11% in the UK). We continue to grow our German pipeline and believe we have a long-term line of sight to
over 60.000 rooms. which would equate to around 6% market share. still only around half of that achieved in the UK. This growth
wili be achieved through both organic and inorganic investment.

Total statutory revenue in Germany was up 206.1% compared to FY21 driven by the growth in the size of the hotel estate (FY 20
down 2.5% with the impact of COVID-resirictions offsetting the material growth in the size of the hotel estate}. COVID
restrictions in Germany are administered through a complex framework of national and federal guidelines. resulting in more
wide-ranging restrictions than in the UK, both in terms of nature and duration during the ycar,

Total accommodation sales were 176.5% ahead of FY21 on a 52-week basis. reflecting the larger estate. At the cnd of the

vear, the open estate stood at 35 hotels. compared to 30 open hotels at the end of FY21 and 6 open hotels at the end of FY 20.

As in the UK. leisure demand was strong in the summer. and our hotels in leisure-led locations performed well. Business demand
remained low as a result of the COVID work from home directives that were in place for most of the year, and the absence of
most trade fairs. A digital marketing campaign. aimed at establishing the Premier Inn brand credentials in Germany saw
favouyrablc results. with brand recognition scores improving, albeit stiil at low levels.

Other income reflects £43.6m of COVID grants from the German Government. Operating costs increased by £21.9m to £65.8m
due to the investment in the business and the increased estate size. partially offset by £0.7m relief from the Kurzarbeit Job
Support Scheme in Germany. Right-of-use asset depreciation costs increased by £6.5m to £22.9m over the same period, reflecting
the fact that the majority of new opened propertics are leasehold. Other depreciation and amortisation costs were £9.9m, and lease
liability interest costs were £8 3m. The adjusted loss before tax for the vear decreased by £21.0m, compared to FY2!. to £23.9m.

During the year, 5 hotels were opened in Stuutgart, Libeck, Dusseldorf. Leipzig and Niirnberg and eight were added to the
pipeline {with one site being removed). The open and committed pipeline at year end stood at 78 hotels and over 14,000 rooms,
and we are continuing to assess opportunities to accelerate growth organically and through acquisitions.

Cash generation

Total net cashflow before shareholder returns and debt repayments was an inflow of £187.0m, driven by a recovery in adjusted
EBITDAR* to £472.6m. which compared to a loss of £194.9m in FY21, a working capital inflow of £182.5m and £56.4m
property disposal proceeds. T'he net cashflow also benefitted from the credit of £170.8m COVID Government grants and support
schemes.

Future likely developments
For details of these please reter to the likely future developments section of the Directors' report,

Risks and uncertainties

The Whitbread PLC Board has ultimate respensibility for risk management throughout the Group and determines the nature and
extent of the risks Whitbread is willing to take 10 achieve its objectives. Risk is managed proactively by the Executive Committee,
Certain responsibilities, such as overseeing the systems of risk management and internal control. have been delegated by the
Board to the Audit Committee, which completes an annual review of the effectiveness of these processes. The business units
complete an annual review of the risks to the achievement of their strategic goals, whilst also taking into account the key
operational risks. which are updated regularly. A robust top-down risk assessment is also completed to capture the Board’s views
ot the principal risks facing Whitbread and its risk appetite for each. Actions required to manage these risks are monitored and
revicwed on a regular basis. Emerging risk themes and twrends from industry and professional bodies. and peer networks. are
collated and reviewed biannually by the Executive Committee and managed through the risk management framework as
appropriate, The principal risks identified, together with a summary of key mitigations are summarised below.

! Strategic priorities key:
« 01 — innovate and grow in our core UK business
« 02 - focus on our strengths to grow internationally
» 03 — enhance our capability to support long term growth
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Strategic report {(continued)

Movement
Strategic Risk vs prior
Risk Key mitigations priorities' | appetite | year
Pandemic
It is still uncertain how future variants ySafeguarding the wellbeing of our guests and team 01.02.03 N/A No change
and outbreaks, vaceine efficacy and members is our priority. with regular monitoring to
resulting restrictions will continue to ensure compliance with updates to Government
impact the hospitality secior, resulting in | gwidelines and tlexibility of hybrid working where
a longer-term decline in returns and cash | Possible.
ftow. along with increasing tax burden »We continue to petform extensive scenario modelling to
following the end of Government assess the impact of the pandemic on our financial
support packages. The extended crisis facilities, borrowing costs and balance sheet. This,
mode puts additional pressure on coupled with our agile forward thinking, allows us 1o
orgamizational resilicnee, invecasig make miormed decisions which maintain headroom
heal:h and sa]t::gv risksi 10 customers and whilst optimising commercial opportunities.
employees whilst applying signiﬁcam yRigorous captal and cost controls are in place across the
stress and fatigue to the leadership team bufincss toag)sure we gan react fo the Jevgl of demand in
the market.
Uncertain economic recovery ) ‘
Uncertainty remains for UK and yWe have implemented a measured UK expansion plan 01.02 N/A Increased due
Germany economic recovery, with the until the ¢conomic environment is more certain. This is te economic
threat of a recession, whilst also supplemented with rigorous business planning processes uncertainty
recognising the impact from wider considering many scenarios and appropriate responses. and disruption
macroeconomic trends and current yWe have updated our international sourcing strategy to caused by
geopolitical conflicts. This is resulting in | include more focus on our local supplier base and COVID-19 and
changeable demand. public and warehousing in Germany to minimise supply chain the current
consumer confidence: structural and disruption. glf:_opohtlcal
;ﬂ'g:ﬂ;’;ﬂaggnl:mnﬁ?:n?ﬁr cotzt yWe continue to make good progress with our efficiency climate
1 constin Ea.)g : aterial 5 1 fcr?lsl‘ programme and maintain rigorous discipline over our
Bnd COTISLIUCHION e s with further capital and cost spend, partly offsetting inflationary and
potential increases in services; leading demand led pressures
1o an inability to meet cstomer demand. ; p ’
Overail, causing declining cash flows. »Our established control framework allows for close
significant supply chain disruption. menitoring of discretionary spend, capital. and M&A
impact on property valuations, increasing spend.
quantum and cost of borrowing, and a yWe currently have a strong balance sheet with
strain on balance sheet strength. substaniial hiquidity and a large freehotd property base,
giving us the option to enter into sale and leaseback
agreernents if required.
»Our People strategy is reviewed regularly to address
labour issues and ensure disruption to operations is
minimised.
Cyber and data security yWe have a specialist team and robust Information 03 Low Increased due

Cyber and data security remains a key
risk as technology and third-party cloud-
based services continue 1o be subject to
the threat of cyber-attacks. A data breach
or attack resulting in operational
disruption could reduce the effectiveness
of our systems. This in turn could result
in loss of income, loss of financial,
customer or emplovee data, fines and/or
reputational darnage.

Security Management in place with a wide range of
proactive and reactive security controls including up-to-
date anti-virus software across the estate,
network/system monitoring and regular penetration
testing to identify vulnerabilities.

¥A continuous security improvement programime is in
piace with regular internai and independent external
review of control effectiveness and Information Security
maturity.

sSeveral transformation programmes in place reviewing
and updating key systems to ensure these are providing
the best possible support for cur operations.

»Our mature risk process and proactive threat modelling
and monitoring allow us to identify and address threats
at the earliest opporiunity.

»We have solid compliance foundations across all
countries for data protection and effective collaboration
between Information Security and Data Protection teams
lo minirmise data risks and ensure compliance with
GDPR.

to the
heightened
external threats
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Strategic report (continued)

Movement
Strategic Risk vs prior
Risk Key mitigations riorities! | appetite ear
ﬁtl;l::i?:l :;gli :r h »:;tcsﬂ et the changes in yWe perform extensive top-line scenarto modelling, fed 01,02,03 N/A No change
working practices, utifising online by regular competitor ?.nd mar ket analysis, allowing us
meeting technotogy and the resulting to assess the impact of various sln_lctural shifts on the
reduction in business and internations bu;metgs and c?Snablmg us to make informed decisions
ot i iy going forwards.
g::;:;::a? ?;me;dt (;:Li)(;ngﬂf;?; cat yTo help offset pqlential structurat shifts, we _have a
from disruptors could result in a robust oommcrc!a! ?nd customer plan fargeting new
reduction in customer demand and _custom;rs and d_lSﬁlbUthﬂ partners and oo_ntmually
Premier Inn brand strength. The improving our digital marketing to bath leisure and
combined impact of these factors business to business custorners. .
presents a risk to market share, retums. »We arc continually optimusing the customer proposition
cash flow, and property asset \:'aluations around_ our estate, upgrading rooms and_cilurmng ]
particul ari y of sites located in | suboptimal sites, Cur custorrer an_d trading committees
metropolitan arcss, track customer feedback, satisfaction and brank index
allowing a focused approach to improvement.
yWe are also taking a measured approach to further
expansion, beyond our existing pipeline, until the
environment is more certain, with our focus shifiing to
lower-risk market share trading initiatives.
%Zﬁgkat:a{ f\:c(:'nv;tt;nal expansion in yWe are able 1o use the deep level of skills and . 02 High No change
Germany is impacted by the uncertain experience used to build the UK busingss, co_uplgd with
German economic climate or failure o our strong development team in country. which is able
actneve a flexible operating modei, to perform detailed and ongoing assessments of'the
impacting our ability to build the (xgman market and economic fundamentals at both a
Premier Inn brand, deliver market micro and macro level. .
growth assumptions and level of retum yFocus is on developing our strong arganic and M&A
in a timetrame that satisfics stakeholder pipelines and reducing capital costs through betier
expectations whilst recognising the buying power argi hames:‘smg efficiencies and synergies
significant amount of capital now with the UK _busmess whilst complying with focal
invested. There is some counterbalance country requirements. .
identified within the risk created by YA tofithly SXSCUtive MGElng revicws the German
increased opportunity to acquire sites business in detail, mciudmg financial pcrfonnance_
due to competitor weakness customer feedback. marketing, operations, people,
’ capital and property plans.
Business change and yTo help ensure the successful delivery of change 01.02.03 Ligh Increased due

interdependencies

The risk that we are unable to
successfully deliver major
transformational programmes
particilarly under time bound pressures
and realise benefits due to the high
volume of change. This particularky
refers to the replacement of the legacy
CRM system in the next two years, our
IT network across the estate, other
commercial and people technology
driven transformation programmes; and
Germany expansion whilst cmbedding
new teams and ways of working.

projects, we have enhanced our internal project delivery
expertise and capability and put in piace a standard
assurance management framework.

yRegular reporting to the Executive Committee and
Board is provided as part of the framework, ensuring an
appropriate level of governance is maintained and
dependencics are aligned.

s We have made significant progress towards delivering
our key strategic programmes successfully, including
both the replacement of our legacy CRM system and
replacement of aur IT network. In addition, we have
managed agile and efficient implementation of all the
operational changes tequired during the pandemic.

10 criticality,
complexities
and high
votume of
changes for
this year
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Strategic report {continucd)

Movement
Strategic Risk vs prior
Risk Key mitigations priorities' appetite | year
Leadership, S uccession and yThe success of our businesses would not be possibie 01 Medium Increased due
talent retention . without the passion and commitment of our teams. Team to tightening
The macro fabour market's structural engagement is fundamental. We monitor this closely iabour market
changes could potentially impact the through our annual engagement survey and invest in and potential
hespitality sector more adversely as ongoing development. wellbeing and engagement and difficulties in
currently it is not considered an attractive | proprammies such as [eading the Whitbread Way. attracting
employer. This is compounded by yTeam retention is a key component of our WiNeard and talent into
Immigration regukations for specific roles | * Annual Incentive Scheme. with long-term incentive hospitality in
such i; chefs and housekeeping, along schemes n place lor seor team members and an current climate
with the transferability of functicnal ongeing review of high-risk areas such as 1T and digital
expertise, especially in the Technology, remuncration.
Finance and Digital areas, which could yThe Nomination Committee reviews long-term
lead 10 a smalle_r ta_]en{ pool _and low succession plans for the Executive Commitice and their
levels of diversity i the senior direct reports, in both the UK and Germany. recognising
leadership team resulting in significant the importance of both emergency and longes-term
cost inflation. succession plans for the successful continuity of the
yhusiness.
yPay reviews across operations ensure that our emplovee
offering remains current, with the latest pay review
resulting in wage increases for our hourly patd
employees.
yWe are working to recruit new resource directly, scaling
up employer brand proof points, leveraging social media
where appropriate, and ensuring we access all
Govemnment schemes o bridge displaced or
disadvantaged opportunities within our operations.
yWe champion inclusivity across the organisation and are
looking to improve diversity. We have eight
commitments designed to drive greater diversity through
our recruitment and talent management. and to promote
an even more inclusive environment through continuing
education and spensorship of relevant networks and
forums.

. Increased due
Third-pa rt.y al:rangem ents and »We continually review our suppliers and business 02,03 Medium to external
supply chain rigour i continuity arrangements with focus on continuity pans economic and
Whitbread has several key supplier in place for critical supplicrs. geopolitical
relationshups that help ensure the yWe expect our suppliers’ practices (o be in line with our factors
efficient delvery of our multi-site and values and standards. Suppliers are thoroughly vetted including
Support Centre operations, including betore we enter into any arrangements to ensure they are Brexit and
cloud systems, food and beverage, reputable. COVID-19

distribution and laundry services.
Withdrawal of services for one or more
of these suppliers or provision of services
below acceptable standards, or
reputational damage as a result of
unethical supplier practices could cause
significant business interruption. The risk
of supplier failure is increased in specific
markets due to the consolidated nature
reducing options and contingency in
place.

yMonitoring is performed through our supplier
management arrangements, including regular reviews
against predetermined key performance indicators,
ensuring our supplier base remains optimal.
yOur intermational sourcing strategy focuses on local
suppliers to minimise potential delays and administrative
burden resultant from trade regulations, whiist our
warchouse in Germany gives us the oplion 1o route
products used for construction and operation of hotels
directly into the German market rather than via the UK.
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Strategic report (continued)

Risk

Key mitigations

Strategic

priorities'

Risk
appetite

Movement
vs prior
year

Health and safety

The risk of death or serious injury as a
result of Companty negligence or a
significant failure resulting from food,
fire, terrorism or another significant
safety failure. This could be due

to a faiture in satety standards, supply
chain provenance, responsible sourcing
or poor hygiene standards, or a direct
targeted terrorismn attack. ail of which
could lead to adverse publicity, brand
damage and sudden or prolonged
downturn in demand in key

markets and locations.

yThe safety of our guests and employees is of paramourst
inportance. NSE. an independent specialist, undertakes
unannowrced health and safety audits on sites, covering
food, fire, and general health and safety requirements.

YWe have robust fire safety policies, procedures and
training for our team members. We work closely with
independent fire safety consultants, regarding fire safety
in our hotels.

yWe have stringent food safety and sourcing policies with
robust traceability and testing requirements in place in
respect of meat and other products. We invest
considerable resources in employee training along with
allergen information which is also made easily
accessible both online and af sites.

yHealth and safety is a measure on the WINcard and acts
as a hurdle for incentive payments. Regular health and
safety updates are provided to the Risk Working Group,
the Executive Committee and the Board.

ylndependent audits over key suppliers in our chain are
performed to ensure supplier practices conform with all
relevant health and safety requirements.

»We invest in ongoing site level training to help identify
hostile reconnaissance activities or potential terrorism.
and to ensure we have an appropriate response shoutd
such events take place. The executive team also holds
crisis management exercises to ensurg we are preparcd
for such cvents.

01.02.03

Low

No change

Environmental, Social and

Governance

Uncertainty as to how these collective
risks, including climate change. will
evolve and the expectations of our wide
stakeholder group (o deliver on our
commitments and embed within the
business model wholly, could impact our
reputation and petformance.

yOur TCFD response helps us to identity and assess key
risks, opportunitics and impacts of ¢limate change to the
business.

yOur Force for Good programime covers |arge aspects of
our ESG agenda, with targets around emissions, tood
waste, and single-use plastics, ensuring our
accountability for positive change.

+We continue to manage and monitor the use of proceeds
against the projects outlined in our Green Bond
Framework. The proceeds have been allocated against
our green energy, sustainable procurement, and green
building projects.

»We champion inclusivity and improving diversity across
the organisation and have set eight diversity and
inclusion targets to ensure our teams feel supported and
engaged as part of this process.

sRegular ethical supplier audits combined with our
responsible sourcing policies and initiatives ensure
ethical end to end buying.

01,02.03

N/A

New risk
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Strategic report (continued)
Section 172 statement

In accordance with section 172 of the UK Companies Act 2006, in its decision making the Board of Whitbread plc considers
the interests of the Group's employees and other stakcholders.

Maintaining and developing positive relations with alf stakcholders who may be impacted by the decisions the Board makes is
a critical factor in ensuring long-term sustainable success for the business. Stakeholder engagement is central to the
formulation and delivery of the Group’s stralegy.

The directors understand the importance of taking into account the views of all relevant stakeholders and consider the impact

of the Group’s activities on the communities in which Whithread operates, the environment and the Group’s reputation. [n its

decision making. the directors also consider what is most likely to promote the success of the Group for its stakeholders in the
long term.

The directors understand the importance of their section 172 duty to act in good faith to promote the success of the Company and
the wider Group. When making decisions, the interests of any key relevant stakeholders will always be considered by Whitbread
PLC’s Executive Committee. including employees. suppliers, customers. the community and the environment.

Some examples of how the Board considers these groups during meetings and discussions include the following:

s As part of the monthly Key Performance Indicators (KPI) pack. the Board considers data relating to customer feedback
and team retention.

¢  The Chief Financial Officer’s report gives details on recent interactions with lenders/bondholders and Pension Trustees
discussions. and qualitative feedback on specific concerns.

e The Chief People Officer’s report gives details of all relevant employee-related matters. including feedback from the “QOur
Voice' forums.

e The General Counsel's report contains an update of key developments on the Force for Good agenda. including work in
the community, charitable fundraising, the environment. piastics and food waste. It also includes best practice guidance
on section 172 compliance.

e The Chief Executive’s report gives details of any relevant interaction with Government or regulators, and key issues with
suppliers and landlords.

The Board also takes into consideration the long-term consequences for the whole Group when making these decisions,
making sure the Company conducts its business in a fair way, protecting its reputation and external relationships.

Further information and examples of how Whitbread engages with key stakeholders can be found below.

Employees

» The Board delegates overail reward and remuneration structures to the Remuneration Committee. The Committee considers
the wider workforce pay alongside executive remuneration. Annual pay rises for executives are reviewed in the context of the
treatment of the wider workforce.

3 The Board receives monthly data in the monthty KPI pack regarding team retention, and the monthly data is considered
carefully,

» The Chief Executive in their report specifically mentions team retention and reward strategies, and makes proposals for
approval.

» Over the year. the Board has approved specific retention packages for key team members. e.g, kitchen teams and housekeeping
teams, and has approved increases in hourly pay over and above the National Living Wage for hourly paid team members.

5 "Our Voice', a body made up of elected representatives across the business, represent the views of employee constituencies to
senior management. The Board receives reports of these meetings.

» The Board has set eight specific Diversity and Inctusion targets to ensure that the business is properly representative of the
communities in which we operate, Good progress has been made in relation to these targels. Read more on page 40.

3 Diversity and Inclusion is considered as part of all Board appointments. This is guided by the Board Diversity Policy, which
was introduced in 2021. In addition. Whitbread was recognised with a Gold Award for Excellence in the Stonewall Workplace
Equality Index 2022 and has won the Top Employers Institute Award for 12 consecutive years.

s> The Board considers succession plans for key team members across the business,
y The Board receives reports on health and safety management bi-annually: statistics are included in the KPI pack, and any
incidents are reported straight away to the Board.
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Strategic report (continued)
Section 172 statement (continued)

Customers

» The Board receives data on customer satisfaction scores each month

» The Board receives a monthly report on commercial. pricing and operational performance cach month

» Quarterly. including as part of the strategy day presentations. deep dives are provided into pricing and commercial strategies in
the UK and Germany

» The Board approves the refurbishment, and repairs and maintenance programmes, and has insisted on a programme of
investment through a ¢ycle in which the business has been challenged, to make sure that the pertfolio is in the best condition
possible for customers

y The Board considers room innovations periedically, ¢.g. Premier Plus rooms, twin rooms

+ The Board considers marketing campaigns and digital strategics

y Innovations in menu choices have been presented to the Board and the Board ensures that heaithy and nutritious choices are
provided for all customers

» The Remuneration Committee includes customer measures in the remuneration structures for key team members

Suppliers

» Given the supply chain issues and increased costs as we have emerged from COVID-19. the Board has received regular
updates on issues such as shortages of supply, the impact on the business and on other stakeholders. and cest inflation. and
strategies to tackle each

» The Board has received deep dives into certain supplicrs, for example technology partners

» The Board approves a Modern Slavery Act Statement each year

» The Board approves material contracts with suppliers each year if they are of significant size and importance. This year, the
Board has reviewed and approved contracts with Oracle. Fujitsu. laundry providers and energy suppliers

» The Board has received presentations on sustainability, which includes the responsible sourcing of critical commodities. Scope
3 carbon cmissions, the reduction of single-use plastics. and the reduction of food waste

y This year. the Board has approved the delivery of over 500,000 meals to FareShare. a charity which delivers food which would
otherwise be wasted, to foodbanks

Communities and the environment

; The Board has received presentations regarding our sustainability programme. Force for Good, and has challenged the targets
which were proposed

y The Board receives monthly updates on key developments in the Force for Goed programme

» The Board has received information on the amount of fundraising. with our chosen charity partner, Great Ormond Street
Hospital Children's Charity

Lenders

» Once a year the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer meet the key lenders within the revolving credit facility to discuss
the annual results and business performance.

» The Group holds a fixed income call with our bondholders after the annual results presentation.

» Cur Group Financial Controfler is in regular contact with our banks’ relationship teams. discussing operational and strategic
financing requirements. and our Treasury team engages to manage the Group's opcrational requirements.

» We continue to monitor and discuss with the banks their strategy and ability to lend to the Group in the future and any changes
that may impact this.

Pensions Trustees

» The Chief Financial Officer attends a Trustee meeting annually to present, and answer questions on, the Company s annual
results and its ability to meet its obligations to the pension scheme.

» The Chief Financial Cfficer regularty interacts with the Chair of the Trustee.

» A Company representative attends the Trustee’s Benefit Sub-Committee and the Funding & Investment Sub-Committee
meetings. Attendance at the latter enables an understanding of any investment changes that are planncd and can provide a
Company view where appropriate.

» The Board receives presentations in relation to pension issues, including regarding the funding position. triennial valuation and
investment performance.

» During the year. the 3| March 2020 funding valuation was completed and, as part of the valuation discussion, it was agreed to
make changes (o the security package that supports the pension scheme. This involved the removal of an EBITD A-related
covenant and an increase to the property security that the Trustee holds. 1
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Strategic report (continued)
Financial and non-financial key performance indicators
This Group is exempt from the requirements of section 464(ch) of the Companies Act 2006 to report a non-financial information
statement. This information is presented on page 55 of the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC (the immediate and

ultimate parent company) for the year ended 3 March 2022. The table below shows the consolidated financial key performance
indicators of Whitbread Group PLC.

2021722 2020721

Revenue growth* %  189.0% {71.5)%
Revenue fm 1.7034 589.4
Profit /{loss) before tax £m 18.3 (L0357
Adjusted loss before tax* £m (33.7) {663.4)
Total rooms - UK and Ireland No. 82,200 78,700
Premier Inn UK occupancy % 68% 299,

Occupancy represents the number of hotel bedrooms cccupied by guests expressed as a percentage of the number of bedrooms
available in the period.

Adjusted profit before tax* represents profit before tax before adjusting items. The closest IFRS measure is profit before tax. See
the consolidated income statement for a reconciliation.

Alternative performance measures*

We use a range of measures to monitor the financial performance of the Group. These measures include both statutory measuresin
accordance with IFRS and alternative performance measures (APMs) which are consistent with the way that the business
performance is measured internally. We report adjusted measures because we belicve they provide both management and
investors with useful additional information about the financial performance of the Group’s businesses.

Adjusted measures of profitability represent the equivalent IFRS measures adjusted for specific items that we consider relevant for
comparison of the financial performance of the Group’s businesses either from one period to another or with other similar

businesses.

APMs are not defined by TFRS and therefore may not be directly comparable with similarly titled measures reported by other
companies. APMs should be considered in addition to, and are not intended to be a substitute for, or superior to, IFRS measures.

For further information relevant to the use of APMs by the Group refer to the Adjusting items and use of alternative performance
measures Accounting Policy in these financial statements.

The strategic report was approved by the directors on 23 August 2022 and signed on its behalt.

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer

12



Whitbread Group PLC

Directors’ report
The directors present their Annual Report and audited financial statements for the year ended 3 March 2022

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Group is the operation of hotels and restaurants. located in the UK and internationally,

.

Dividends
The directors did not declare or pay a dividend in the year (2020/21: £nil). No further dividends were proposed (2020/21: £ail).

Directors

The directors who served during the vear were:
- M Anderson
- A ] Brittain
- L H Smalley (resigned 23 July 2021)
- R M Howarth (appointed 23 July 2021)
- N T Cadbury (resigned 22 March 2022)
- H K Patel {appointed 22 March 2022)

Employee involvement
All employee services are provided to the Company by Whitbread Group PLC. For further information on employee involvement
please refer to the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC for the year ended 3 March 2022,

Political donations
No political donations were made during the year (2020/21: £nil).

Future likely developments

The Group remains committed to pursuing its ambitious growth milestones. The plan is to grow Premier Inn UK rooms from
82,200 at the year-end with around 8,300 rooms in a committed UK pipeline. The Group's ambition is o reach 110.000 rooms in
the UK. Further market share gains are expected as a result of the enhanced structural opportunities from the independent sector.
The independent sector has been in long-term decline as customers migrate from independent to budget branded hotels, which is
expected to accelerate as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. We are well placed to capitalise on the expected contraction in
competitor supply and to take market share.

In Germany, Premier Inn has an estate of 5,875 rooms. with 2 committed pipeline of 8.454 rooms and line of sight of 60.000
rooms. Qur aim is to be the number one budget hotel operator in Germany. by leveraging the strengths and capabilities of the UK
business. The key focus in Germany is continuing {o grow Premier Inn’s presence across major towns and cities. We look to
replicate the success achieved in the UK market through building our brand presence and delivering a winning customer
proposition.

For further information on future likely developments please see the business review included in the Annual Report and Accounts
of Whitbread PLC (the immediate and ultimate parent company} for the year ended 3 March 2022,

Employment policies
Whitbread has a range of employment policies covering such issues as diversity. employvec well-being. engagement. participation
and equal opportunities.

The Company takes its responsibilities to disabled persons seriously and seeks not to discriminate under any circumstances
(including in relation to training, career development and promotion) against cutrent or prospective emplovees because of any
disability. Full and fair consideration is given to applications for employment made by disabled persons. having regard to their
aptitudes and abilities. Employees who become disabled during their career at Whitbread will be retained in employment
wherever possible and given support with rehabilitation and training,

Financial risk management
Information on the Company’s use of financial instruments, financial risk management objectives and policies and exposure is
given in Note 23 and Note 24,

13
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Directors’ report (continued)

Going concern

The Group's and company’s business activities. financial position, borrowing facilities and performance for the year are set out
in the strategic report on pages 3 to 12, The net debt, borrowing facilities and the maturity of those facilities are set out in Note
19 to the consolidated financial statcments.

The directors have outlined the assessment approach for going concemn in the accounting policy disclosure in Note 2 of the
consolidated financial statements, Following that review the directors have concluded that the going concern basis remains
appropriate.

Directors' indemnity
A qualifying third-party indemnity provision (as deliined in Section 236 (1) ot the Companies Act 2006) is in force for the benefit
of the directors.

Disclosure of information to auditor
Each of the persons who is a direclor at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
« so far as the director is aware. there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware; and
+ the director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself/herself aware of

any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditer is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given. and should be interpreted, in accordance with the provisions of Section 418 of the Companies Act
2006,

Events after the balance sheet date
Information on events after the balance sheet date is provided in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)
This Group is exempt from the requirements of Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) Statutory Instrument:

2018/1155 through virtue of it being a subsidiary consolidated into Whitbread PLC (immediate parent entity) which discloses
the information required by SECR,

Reappointment of auditors
The auditor Deloitte LLP are deemed reappointed under section 487(2} of the Companies Act 2006,

The consolidated financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC for the year ended 3 March 2022 were approved and
authorised by the Board of directors on 23 August 2022,

On behalf of the board

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The directors are respensibic for preparing the Annual Report and Accounts in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for cach tinancial year. Under that law the directors
are required to prepare the group financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
{United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law),

The directors have also chosen to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice {United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework. Under company law the directors must not approve the financial stalements unless they are satisfied that they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the direclors are required to:
+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
« make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent:
+ statc whether applicable Financial Repotting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has been followed, subject to
any material deparwres disclosed and explained in the [inancial statements: and
+ prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue in its business.

In preparing the Group financial statements. International Accounting Standard 1 requires that directors:

« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently:

* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent:

« provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in [FRS are insufficicat to enable users to
understand the impact of particular transactions. other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and financial
performance; and

» prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue
in its business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sutficient to show and explain the Group and
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and Company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006, They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

» the financial statements. prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reperting framework, give a frue and fair view of
the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole:

« the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal
risks and uncentainties that they face; and

» the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s position and performance, business mode! and stratcgy.

The responsibility statement was approved by the board of directors and is signed on its behalf by:

By order of the Board,

Hemant Patel
Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF WHITBREAD
GROUP PLC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion
In our opinion:

e the financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC [the ‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’)
give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Parent Company’s affairs as at 3 March
2022 and of the Group’s loss for the 53 weeks then ended;

e The Group financial statements have been praperly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards;

s the Parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced
Disclosure Framework”; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Caompanies Act
2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

e the Consolidated income statement;

e the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

e the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity;

e the Consolidated and Parent Company balance sheets;

* the Consolidated cash flow statement;

e the related notes to the consolidated financial statements 1 to 34, including the accounting policies;
and

¢ the related notes to the Parent Company financial statements 1 to 21.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements
is applicable law, and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framewori” (United
Kingdom Generzlly Accepted Accounting Practice}.

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing [UK) {iSAs (UK}) and
applicable law. Qur responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that

are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s {the
‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard as applied to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our ether ethical
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responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. The non-audit services provided to the Group and
Parent comopany for the vear are disclosed in note S to the financial statements. We confirm that we have not
provided any non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard to the group or the parent company.

We believe that the audit evidence we have abtained is sufficlent and appropriate tc provide a basis for our

opinion,

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key audit matters

The key audit matters that we identified in the current year were:

e Impairment and impairment reversals of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets; and
s Recognition of UK and Germany government grants

Within this report, key audit matters are identified as follows:

@ Newly identified
@ Increased level of risk
@ Similar level of risk

@ Decreased level of risk

Materiality

The materiality that we used for the Group financial statements was £16.0 million
(2021: £16.0 million) which was determined based on 0.57% of net assets. The
materiality that we used for the Company only financial statements was £15.2m
which was determined based on 0.63% of net assets.

Scoping

We focused our Group audit scope primarily on all significant trading entities at
Premier Inn in the UK and the Group head office with specified audit procedures
performed for the Germany business.

These locations represent the principal business units and account for 6% of the
Group’s revenues and 92% of the Group’s net assets.

Significant changes in
our approach

The following changes have been made to our approach for the following key audit
matters:

s Impairment and impairment reversals of property, plant and equiprnent and
right-of-use assets — There cantinues ta be significant judgement and
complexity in the cash flow forecasting required for the impairment
reviews required under IAS 36 impairment of Assets. Given the recovery of
demand in the industry during the period, we have extended the scope of
our work to include the appropriateness of any potential reversal of
impairments on previously impaired sites.

e Recognition of UK and Germany government grants — (n the prior period,
we identified a key audit matter relating to the presentation and accuracy
of amounts received from government support in the UK, through the
Caranavirus Job Retention Scheme. in the currert period we have extended
the scope of work to include government grants received in Germany as
well as the UK.

Cur 2021722 audit report no longer includes the following as key audit matters:

17
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* (Going concern — Due to the continued market recovery during the period,
we do not consider the assessment of the use of the going concern basis of
accounting to be as complex for the current period compared to the prior
period.

Impairment of goodwill relating to the Germany cash generating unit — The full
gocdwill amount relating to the Germany cash generating unit was impaired in the
prior period and therefore is not considered relevant for the current pericd.

4. Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Qur evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Group’s and Parent Company’s ability to continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting included consideration of the following matters:

. obtained confirmation of the financing facilities including nature of facilities, repayment terms and
covenants;

. assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions used in management’s three-year business plans
including the base case scenario, severe but plausible scenario, and reverse stress test scenario;

. challenged the continued appropriateness of assumptions in the three-year business ptans given the
recent high inflationary environment;

. tested the clerical accuracy and assessed the medels used to prepare the business plans; this wark
included obtaining an understanding of the relevant cantrals cver management’'s model;

. considered the amount of headrecom in the business plans with regards to liquidity and covenants;

. assessed the sensitivity of the headroom in management’s business plans; and

. assessed the appropriateness of the Group’s disclosure concerning the going concern basis.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditiens that, individually ar collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group's and Parent Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of 2t least twelve months from when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the respansibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the
relevant sections of this report.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud} that we identified. These matters included those which
had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whele, and in
forming our opinion therean, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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©

Key audit matter
description

As described in Note 14 (Impairment], Note 13 (Property, plant and equipment)
and Note 21 (Lease arrangements) of the financial statements, the Group held
£4,227.1 miltion {2021: £4,213.1.0 million) of Praoperty, plant and equipment and
£3,267.6 miliion (2021: £2,738.4 million) of Right-of-use assets at 3 March 2022.

Under IAS 36 Impairment of Assets, the Group is required to complete an
impairment review of its site portfolio where there are indicators of impairment. {n
the prior year, an impairment of £97.9 miilion was recognised as a result of the
expected impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on short-term and longer term cash
fiows, which are key assumptions in the impairment assessment.

In the current year, there continues to be significant judgement and complexity in
the cash flow forecasting given the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The
recovery of cash flow forecasts across some sites during the year means the Group
is also required to consider if any reversal of impairment losses previously
recognised is required. In the current year, the Group has recognised an
impairment of £10.5 million as well as impairment reversals of £52.5 million.

Estimation is required in determining the recoverable amount of the Group’s
portfolio of sites. There is a risk that the carrying value of sites {inciuding the
Property, Plant and Equipment and Right-of-use assets) may be higher than the
recoverable amount, which would indicate an impairment is required. There is also
a risk that the recoverable value of previously impaired sites is higher than the
carrying value, which would indicate an impairment reversal is required. Where an
impairment review is performed, the recoverable amount is determined based on
the higher of ‘value-in-use’ or fair value less costs of disposal’ (which is determined
through the use of either a discounted cash flow method using a market basad
discount rate ar an industry valuation methodology}.

There are several judgements in assessing the appropriate valuation, which are set
out below:

e Determining the cash-generating units (CGUs) that show indicators of
impairment or impairment reversal. A CGU is determined to be each
individual trading outlet;

s Calculation of the appropriate discount and long-term growth rates;

e  Estimates of future trading earnings and cash flow projections, including
the recovery profile post COVID-19;

e Assessing the future growth profile of sites which have not yet reached
maturity;

s Appropriateness of the valuation methodology, as well as inputs to these;
and

e Estimating a reascnable possible change in assumptions for the purpose of
sensitivity analysis,

The Group’s accounting policy on impairment and key sources of estimation
uncertainty in relation to impairment testing are set outin Note 2.
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How the scope of our

in responding to the identified key audit matter, we completed the following audit

audit responded to the  procedures;

key audit matter

Obtained an understanding of the key controls relating to the impairment
review process and determination of cash flow forecasts;

Challenged the valuation methodologies adopted by management to
identify impairment indicators, including the consistency of these with the
requirements of 1AS 36 and |FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement;

Tested the mechanical accuracy of the impairment models, with input from
our analytics and modelling specialists;

Assessed the completeness of CGUs displaying impairment indicators or
impairment reversal indicators by chzllenging a sample of CGUs for which
no indicators had been identifiad;

Assessed the appropriateness of the discount rates applied in conjunction
with our internal valuation specialists and compared the rates applied with
our internal henchmarking data;

Assessed the appropriateness of forecast revenue and margin growth rates
through comparison to board approved plans with reference to historical
forecasting accuracy, external market data (such as industry forecasts); we
worked with our industry specialists to help inform our challenge,
particularly focusing on the expected recovery for FY23 as CCVID-19
restrictions are eased, and longer term expectations;

Performed testing on a samale of sites where impairment had been
recognised, sites where impairment had been indicators identified, but no
impairment recognised and sites which indicated an impairment reversal
was required; we challenged the individual circumstances of these sites and
whether the rationale for management’s con¢lusion was appropriate. In
order to perform this assessment, we reviewed the trading history of the
site, understood its current performance with reference to market data
and chalienged the appropriateness of Group-wide forecasts being applied;
Assessed the sensitivity analysis performed by management and challenged
how this correlated with the downside scenarios modelled by the Board
{consistent with the going concern assessment); and

Assessed the completeness and accuracy of disclosures within the financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, in particular Note 14.

Key observations

Based on the audit procedures performed, we are satisfied that the impairment
and impairment reversals recognised in the year are appreopriate, We consider the
disclosures, including the sensitivities in Note 14, to be appropriate.

@

Key audit matter
description

As described in Note 9 (Government grants and assistance), during the year, the
Group received government suppart designed to mitigate the impact of COVID-19.

In the UK, the Government has provided funding towards the salary costs of
employees who have been furloughed through the Corenavirus Job Retention
Scheme (“CIRS”). in Germany, the Government has provided reimbursement of
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eligible fixed costs incurred by entities impacted by COVID-19 through the Corona
Bridging Aid for Smalt and Medium-Sized Enterprises.

This government funding meets the definition of a government grant under IAS 20
Government Grants and a total of £113.8 miilion (2021: £153.4 miilion} has been
recorded within Other Income.

IAS 20 requires that government grants, including non-monetary grants at fair
value, shall not be recognised until there is reascnable assurance that: !

{a) the entity will comply with the conditions attaching to them; and
{b) the grants will be received.

The application of the rules of both the UK and Germany government funding
schemes is complex. Additionally there is a risk that income is not recorded in the
correct period {when the [AS 20 recognition criteria is met). Management has
engaged external advisors to review a sample of the UK submitted claims t¢ assess
the accuracy of the calculations and the application of the scheme rules.

Under [AS 20, there is a choice to account for the grant as Gther income or net of
costs. Management has concluded that the clearest presentation is as Other
Income.

Furthermore, as described in the Accounting Policies [Note 2), the classification and
presentation of income and costs as Adjusting items in the Income Statement {to
derive ‘Adjusted profit before tax” and other adjusted measures) is a judgement
and not a requirement of IFRS. Judgement is exercised by management in
determining the classification of items as adjusting. Management has determined
that the government grants do not meet the definition of an adjusting item on the
basis that the funding is compensation for costs that form part of the normai
operations of the business. Similarly, the costs for which the government grants
compensate have not been classified as adjusting and therefore the related income
has not been classified as an adjusting item.

We consider the recognition of UK and Germany government grants to be a key
audit matter.

How the scope of gur
audit responded to the
key audit matter

In responding to the identified key audit matter, we completed the following audit
procedures:

e QObtained an understanding of the refevant controls in place and the
process that management followed in calculating, accounting for and
presenting the government grants;

s Inunderstanding the process, reviewed the external advisor’s reports and
evaluated any observations from the reports and management’s responses
to them;

e With input from our specialists, selected a sample of models used to
determine the grant claims and challenged the approach to calculating
claims and the application of the scheme rules;
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With input from our specialists, recalculated a sample of claims to assess
whether eligibility conditions have been met and the calculations are
accurate;

Traced a sample of claims to underlying payroll records and traced all cash
received to support;

Reviewed correspondence between management and the relevant
government authorities;

Assessed whether the disclosures are in line with IAS 20 Government
Grants requirements;

Challenged management on the judgement exercised in classifying the
government grant income as a non-adjusting item; and

Evaluated the status of claims spanning the year-end including assessing
the likelihocd of challenge for claims not yet formally approved, in ordar to
determine whether these have been accounted for correctly as at 3 March
2022,

Key observations

Where management has applied judgement in the interpretation of the scheme
rules, we are satisfied that the judgments are reasonable. We consider the
accounting for baiances at the balance sheet date to be reasonable. We are
satisfied that the recognition of UK and Germany government grants is appropriate,

6. Our application of materiality

6.1. Materiality
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable
that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use
materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financizl statements as a whole as

follows:

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Materiality £16.0 million (2021: £16.0 million) £15.2 million (2021: £6.4 million)
Basis for We have determined materiality to be £16.0 o _ _
determining million, which represents 0.57% (2021: Materiality was determined on the basis of
materiality 0.62%) of net assets. the Parent Company’s net assets. This was

then capped at 95% of group materiality.

This approach was consistent with the prior

year.

The increase in the cap was due to
decreased complexity and uncertainty
associated with the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic compared to the prior year.
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Rationaie for the in determining our benchmark for As well as trading, the parent company
benchmark materiality we considered the impact of primarily acts as holding company and
applied COVID-19 en the financial performance and  financing entity for the wider Whitbread PLC

position of the Group in the current year, as group. The entity holds external debt and
well as the focus of the users of the financial contains an investment in ali of the Group’s
statements. trading components and as a result, in line
with prior year, we have determined
materiality on the basis of net assets for the
current year.

After due consideration, we determined
that net assets was the most appropriate
benchmark to use, consistent with the prior
year,

Metassets L2,831m

Sroun matenaiity

6.2. Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a level lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate,
uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceed the materiality for the financial statements as a whole.

Group financial statements Parent company financial statements
Perform{-.!nce 70% (2021 65%) of Group materiality 70% (2021: 5%} of Parent Company
materiality materiality
Basis and in determining performance materiality for both the Group and the Parent Company, we

rationale for
determining
performance
materiality

considered the following factors:

s Our risk assessment, including our assessment of the Group’s overali control
environment;

o (Qur cumulative knowledge of the Group, including the nature, quantum and
volume of corrected and uncorrected misstaternents in prior periods; and

s The decreased complexity and uncertainty associated with the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on the financial statements compared to the prior year.
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6.3. Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Board of Directors that we would report to the Board all audit differences in excess of £0.8
million (2021: £0.8 million), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted repoerting
on qualitative grounds. We also report to the Board of Directors on disclosure matters that we identified when
assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. An overview of the scope of our audit

7.1. identification and scoping of components

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and its environment. including
Group-wide controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group level.

Components were selected to provide an appropriate basis for undertaking audit work to address the risks of
material misstatement. Based on our assessment, we have focused our audit on the UK business, which was
subject to full audit procedures, and performed specified audit procedures in the Germany business. This work
was performed by the Group Audit team, with the assistance of component auditors in Germany.

At the Group level, we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to confirm
our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated financial
information of the remaining components not subject to audit or specified audit precedures. We have also
performed analytical review procedures on other wholly owned and joint venture businesses.

Net assets

Revenue

¢ Full audit scope

= Review at group level

7.2. Our consideration of the control environment

The Whitbread IT landscape contains a number of IT systems, applications and tools used to support business
processes and for reporting. In line with our scoping of components (refer ta section 7.1) our work in relation
to IT controls focuses on the UK component. We perform an independent risk assessment of the systems,
applications and tools to determine those which are of greatest relevance to the Group’s financial reporting,
including those that contain system configured automated controls that host financially relevant data and
associated reports.

We performed testing of General {T Controls (“GITCs”) of these systems, typically covering controls over user
access management, change management and interfaces with other systems relating to in scope IT systems
(such as Oracle Fusion) as well as controls over key reports generated from the {T systems and their
supporting infrastructure (database and operating system).
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In order to evaluate IT controls, we performed walkthrough procedures of relevant controls in key business
cycles, including revenue, property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and expenditure (processed
through Oracle Fusion) to understand whether the purpose of the control was effectively designed to address
the IT related risk. We then performed testing of the control across the audit period, to determine whether
the control had been consistently applied as designed.

Our procedures enabled us to place reliance on IT controls, as planned, in the audit approach across a number
of business cycles, where audit quality and effectiveness are enhanced by doing so. Where control deficiencies
were identified during our testing, we were able to identify and test mitigating controls. Based an the testing
performed, we adopted a controls reliance approach over the processes supporting revenue, expenditure
{processed through Cracle Fusion), additions to property plant and equipment and intangible assets,

As described on page [81] of the Audit Committee report, during the year management presented a review to
the Committee of the controls over the processes for determining the vafuation of deferred tax assets and
liabilities. This inciuded a review of controls implemented during the year as well as plans to embed further
enhancements in the wider tax processes during the coming year. We performed walkthrough procedures to
determine whether the controls implemented in the year were effactively designed.

7.3 Our Consideration of climate-related risks

As described on pages 48 and 49 of the Whitbread PLC acceunts, the Group has assessed the risks and
opportunities associated with various future climate-related scenarios. The Group’s full TCFD report outlines
the process they have taken to identify the principal climate-related issues which have affected and will
potentially affect the business, We have considered the Group’s assessment of the impact of these risks and
the opportunities on the financial statements and their conclusion that there is no material impact on the
carrying value of the Group’s assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date as described in note 2 and note
14, We also read the full TCFD report to consider whether it is materiality consistent with the financial
statements and our knowledge obtained in the audit.

7.3. Working with other auditors

The Group audit team is respansible for the scope and direction of the audit process and provides direct
oversight, review and coordination of our component audit teams. During the current year we engaged
compaonent auditors from the Deloitte member firm in Germany to perform specific procedures on the
German entities. This approach allowed us to engage local auditors who have appropriate knowledge of local
regulations to perform this audit work. We issued detailed instructions to the component auditor and directed
and supervised their work.

We interacted regularly with the component Deloitte team during each stage of the audit and reviewed key

working papers. We maintained continuous and open dialogue with our component teams in addition to
holding formal meetings so that we were fully aware of their progress and results of their procedures.

8. Other information
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, being the strategic report on
pages 3 to 10, directors report on pages 13 to 14, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon. The directors are responsible for the other infoermaticn contained within the annual report.

QOur opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise expiicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conciusion theregn.
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Our responsibility is to read the other informaticn and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine
whether this gives rise to 2 material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

9. Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directers’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the
parent company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our cbjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs (UK} will always detect a material misstatament when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken an the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's
weabsite at: www fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

11. Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud

Irreguiarities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
pracedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which cur procedures are capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud is detailed below.

11.1. |dentifying and assessing potential risks related to irregularities

In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of irregularities, including fraud and non-
compliance with laws and regulations, we considered the following:

s the nature of the industry and sector, control environment and business performance including the

design of the Group’s remuneration policies applicable to the group, key drivers for directors’
remuneration, bonus levels and performance targets;
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¢ results of cur enquiries of management, internal audit, General Counsel, Whithread PLC Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors about their own identification and assessment of the risks of
irregularities;
* any matters we identified having obtained and reviewed the Group’s documentation of their policies
and procedures relating to:
o identifying, evaluating and complying with laws and regulations and whether they were aware of
any instances of non-compliance;
o detecting and responding to the risks of fraud and whether they have knowledge of any actual,
suspected or alleged fraud;
o theinternal controls established to mitigate risks of fraud or non-compliance with laws and
regulations;
e the matters discussed among the audit engagement team and relevant internal specialists, including
tax, valuations, pensions, IT and financial instrument specialists regarding how and where fraud might
occur in the financial statements and any potential indicators of fraud.

As a resuit of these procedures, we considered the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the
organisation for fraud and identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas: impairment and
impairment reversals of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. In common with all audits
under ISAs {(UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk of management
override.

We also obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framewaorks that the Group operates in,
focusing on provisions of those faws and regulations that had a direct effect on the determination of material
amaounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The key laws and regulations we considered in this
context included the UK Companies Act,, pension legislation and UK and overseas tax legislation, including that
associated with government support schemes available as a result of COVID-19.

In addition, we considered provisions of other laws and regulaticns that do not have a direct effect on the
financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the Group’s ahility to operate or to
avoid a material penalty.

11.2. Audit response to risks identified
As a result of performing the above, we identified Impairment and impairment reversals of property, plant and
equipment and right-of use assets as a key audit matter refated to the potential risk of fraud. The key audit
matters section of our report explains the matters in more detail and also describes the specific procedures
we performed in response to those key audit matters.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respend to risks identified included the following:

» reviewing the financial statement disclosures and festing to supporting documentation to assess
compliance with provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the
financial statements;

* enquiring of management and in-house legal counsel concerning actual and potential fitigation and
claims;

e performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may
indicate risks of material misstatement due to fraud;

* reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance, reviewing internal audit reparts and
correspondence with HMRC; and

e inaddressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, testing the appropriateness
of journal entries and other adjustments; assessing whether the judgements made in making
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accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluating the business rationale of any
significant transaclions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

We also communicated relevant identified laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement
team members including internal specialists, and remained alert to any indications of fraud or non-compliance
with laws and regulations throughout the audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

12. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinicn, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e theinformation given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

e the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements. In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company
and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material
misstatements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and the Parent Company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report
ar the directors’ report.

13. Matters on which we are required to report by exception

13.1. Adequacy of explanations received and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are reguired to report to you if, in our opinion:

* we have not received all the information and expianations we require for our audit; or

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

» the Parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting recards and
returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.
13.2. Directors’ remuneration
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain disclosures of directors’

remuneration have not been made.

We have nothing to report in respect of this matter.
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14, Other matters which we are required to address

14.1. Auditor tenure
Following the recommendation by the board of directors of Whitbread Group PLC, we were appointed by the
members on 21 June 2015 to audit the financial statements for the year ended 3 March 2016 and subsequent
financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement including previous renewals and
reappointments of the firm is seven years, covering the years ending 3 March 2016 to 3 March 2022,

14.2. Consistency of the audit report with the additional repert to the Board of Directors

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Board of Directors we are required to provide
in accordance with [SAs (UK).

15. Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a bedy, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.
To the fuilest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit wark, for this report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

s

i
Byt e

pooR eE -
CA T Al waain

Kate J Houldsworth FCA (Senior statutory auditor) |
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

London, UK

23 August 2022
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Consolidated income statement
Year ended 3 March 2022

53 weeks to 3 March 2022 52 weceks to 235 February 2021
Before adjusting  Adjusting items Before adjusting Adjusting items
items (Note 6)  Statutory items (Note 6) Statutory
Notes £m £m £m £m fm £m

Continuing operations
Revenue 3 1,703 4 - 1,703.4 5889 0.5 5854
Other income 4 1224 8.7 131.1 161.8 6.3 1681
Operating costs 35 (1,669.6) 633 {1,604.3) (1.230.3) (351D (1,582.0)
Lmpairment of loans to joint venturcs 15 (1.8) - (1.8) - (5.8) (5.8)
Operating profit{loss) before joint ventures 154.4 74.0 N84 {479.6) (350N (830.3)
Share of profit/(loss) from joint ventures 15 0.4 - 0.4 6.0) (L7 (7.7
Opcrating profit(loss) 154.8 74.0 2288 (485.6) (352.4) {838.0)
Finarce costs F (215.0) - (215.09 {183.2) 21.2) (204 4)
Finance income 8 4.5 - 45 54 13 6.7
(Loss)/profit before tax (55.7) 740 18.3 (663.4) (372.3) (10357
Tax credit/(expense) 10 17.8 (24.5) 6.7) 98.0 6.8 1048
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to parent (37.9) 49.5 L6 (365.4) {363.5) {9309)
shareholders
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Year ended 3 March 2022

S3wecksto3 52 weeks to 25
March 2022 lebruary 2021
Notes £m £m
Profit/(loss) for the year 11.6 (930.9)
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement:

Re-nicasurenrent gain(lossi on defined benefit pension schieme 31 3188 (163)
Current tax on defined benefit pension scheme 10 - 04
Deferred tax on defined benefit pension scheme 10 {88.0) 2.4)
230.8 (18.3;

Ttems that may be reclassified subsequently to the income statement:
Net gain on cash flow hedges 24 2.4 23
Deferred tax on cash flow hedges i0 {0.5) (.6)
Net gain/(loss) on hedge of a net investment 24 9.0 (8.5)
Deferred 1ax on net {gain)/loss on hedge of a net investment 10 (0.8) 0.8
Cost of hedging 24 25 -
12.6 (6.0)
Exchange differences on translation of forcign operations {16.0) 193
Deferred tax on exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 23 (15)
(13.3) 17.8
Other comprehensive intcomer/(Yoss) for the year, net of tax 230.1 (6.5)
Totai comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 241.7 (937.4)
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Year ended 3 March 2022

Currency
Share Share Retained translation Hedging

capital premium earnings reserve reserve Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

At 27 February 2020 133.7 2077 31457 18.6 {3.6) 3.502.1
L.oss for the vear - - (930.9) - - (930.9)
Other comprehensive income - - (18.3) 1001 1.7 (6.5)
Total comprehensive income - - 1949.2) 10.1 1.7 (937.4)
Accrued share-based payments (Note 30} - - 14.0 - 14.0
Tax on share-based payments - - (1.5) - - (1.9)
At 25 February 2021 133.7 2077 2208.6 287 (1.9} 2,576.8
Profit for the year - - 1L.6 - - 11.6
Other comprehensive income - - 230.8 {4.4) 3.7 230.1
Total comprehensive income - - 2424 44) 37 241.7
Accrued share-based payvments (Note 30} - - 129 - - 129
Tax on share-based payments - - (0.2) - - 0.2)
At 3 March 2022 133.7 207.7 2,463.7 243 1.8 2,831.2
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Consolidated balance sheet

At 3 March 2022

3 March 2022 25 February 2021
Notes £m fm
Non-current assets
intangible assets 12 159.3 1591
Right-of-use assets — property, plant and equipment 21 3.267.6 27384
Right-of-use assets — investment property 21 - 65.0
Property, plant and equipment 13 42271 421311
Investment property 13 - 216
nvestraent in joint ventures 15 41.1 373
Derivative financial instruments 24 158 6.6
Defined benefit pension surpius 31 522.6 188.0
82335 74291
Current assets
Inventories 16 19.4 121
Derivative financial instruments 24 - 82
Current tax asset 10 7.6 22
Trade and other receivables 17 1164 74.2
Cash and cash equivalents 18 1,1324 1.256.0
12758 13527
Assets classified as held for sale 13 64.8 19.0
‘Fotal assets 9.574.1 8,%00.8
Current liabilities
Borrowings 19 - 3120
L.ease liabilities 21 129.3 1121
Provisions 22 19.6 305
Derivative financial instruments 24 - 2.4
Trade and other payables 25 1,865.9 1,5753
20148 20323
Nor-current liabilities
Borrowings 19 991.9 990.5
[Lease liabilities 21 357258 31195
Provisions 22 11.7 g0
Deferred tax liabilities 10 150.8 47.0
Trade and other payables 25 1.2 257
4,728.1 4.191.7
‘Fotal liabilities 6,742.9 62240
Net assets 28312 2,576.8
Equity
Share capital 26 133.7 133.7
Share premium 27 207.7 2077
Retained earnings 27 24637 22086
Currency translation reserve 27 243 287
Other reserves 27 1.8 (1.9)
Total equity 2831.2 25768

Hemant Patef
Chiet Financial Officer

23 August 2022
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Consolidated cash flow statement
Year ended 3 March 2022

53 weeks to 32 weeks to 25
3 March 2022 February 2021
Notes £m £m
Cash generated/(used in) from operations 28 695.2 (2259)
Payments against provisions {18.9) 244
Pension payments (14.8) (14.8)
Intercst paid — lease liabilitics (133.2) (123.2)
Interest paid — other (20.2) (22.0)
Interest received 22 1.2
Corporation taxes received/paid ©.1) 19.1
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities 510.2 (390.0)
Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities
Purchase of property. plant and equipment and investment properties 3 (200.4) (217.4)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 56.4 26
[nvestment in intangible assets 3 21.1) (10.8)
Maovement in funding of parent company 0.4 9%82.8
Acquisition of a subsidiary. net of cash acquired - 14
Cash flows on aborted acquisition - 13
Payment of deferred and contingent consideration 25 (36.3) (3.8)
Capital contributions to joint ventures 15 (1.4) (1.3)
I.oans advanced to joint ventures 15 (1.8) -
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities (204.2) 754.8
Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
Drawdowns of long-term borrowings 19 50.0 596.8
Repayments of long-term borrowings 19 {3539 (125.1)
Costs of long-term borrowings - (5.5)
Lease incentives recelved/{paid) 20 (7.3)
PPayment of principal of lease liabilities (127.1) (71.7)
Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities {429.0} 3872
Net (decrease)increase in cash and cash equivalents 19 {123.0) 7520
Opening cash and cash equivalents 19 1,256.0 502.6
Foreign exchange differences 19 {0.6) 1.4
Closing cash and cash equivalents 18 1,1324 1,256.0




Whitbread Group PL.C

Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

Year ended 3 March 2022

1. General Information and authorisation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC for the year ended 3 March 2022 were authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 23 August 2022, Whitbread Group PLC is a public company limited by shares incorporated in the United
Kingdom under the Companies Act and is registered in England and Wales. The Company's senior unsecured bonds are listed on
the London Stock Exchange. The address of the registered office is shown on page 2.

Whitbread Group PL.C, its subsidiaries and ioint ventures. operate hotels and restaurants, located in the UK and internationally.

2. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting and preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC and al! its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated tinancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. except for certain financial instruments that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period and the defined benefit pension scheme. as explained in the
accounting policies below,

The consolidated financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand
except when otherwise indicated. The financial year represents the 53 weeks 10 3 March 2022 (prior financial year: 52 weeks to
25 February 2021).

Going concern

The Group’s and Company s (the *Group’) business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development,
performance and position are set out in the strategic report on pages 3 to 13. The dircctors have considered the impact of these
areas on the going concern assessment, alongside the principal risks and the current uncertain economic environment. At 3 March
2022, the Group had a cash balance of £1,132.4m with available borrowing facilities of £1.850.0m for use in the going concern
assessment, of which £1,000.0m had been drawn down.

The Group's forecasts indicate that it will continue 10 have significant financial resources, continue 1o settle its debts as they

fall due and operate well within its covenants as outlined in Note 19 for at least a period of 12 months from the date of these
financial statements. Various downside scenarios over and above those already included in the base case have been considered in
respect of these forecasts. Under these downside scenarios, the Group can meet its liquidity requirements through available funds
and is able to meet the original covenants in place on its revolving credit facifity. This position allowed the Group to terminate the
covenant test waiver period and be able to make a dividend payment. On 25 May 2022 the Group signed a new Revolving Credit
Facility Agreement, which contains one financial covenant ratio. The renewed facility has reduced the Group’s available
borrowing facilities 1o £1,775.0m. though headroom on the forecast remains in place. The Group has no further financial
covenarts in place.

In the event that it was necessary to access additional funding. the directors have a reasonable expectation that this could
be achieved. The directors have also determined that, over the period of the going concern assessment, there is not expected to be
a significant impact as a result of climate change.

After due consideration of the matters set out above, the directors are satisfied that there is a reasonable expectation that the
Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. being at least 12 months from the
date of signing these financial statements. For this reason. they continue to adopt the going concern basis in the preparation of
these financial statements.

Changes in accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those followed in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 23 February 2021, except for the adoption of the new
standards and policies applicable for the year ended 3 March 2022. The significant accounting policies adopted are set out below.

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for the annual reporting period commencing 26
February 2021.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions Beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment to IFRS 16)

In the prior ycar, the Group carly adopted Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment 1o IFRS 16) that provided practical
relief to lessees in accounling for rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of COVID-19, by introducing a practical
expedient to [FRS 16. This practical expedient was available to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments
affected payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021,

In March 2021. the Board issued Covid-19-Related Rent Congessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment 1o IFRS 16) that
extends the practical expedient to apply to reduction in lease payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022,

The practical expedient permits a lessee to elect not to assess whether a COVID-19-related rent concession is a lease
modification. A lessee that makes this election shall account for any change in lease payments resulting from the COVID-
19-related rent concession the same way it would account for the change applying IFRS 16 if the change were not a

lcase modification.

The practical expedicnt applics only to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of COVID-19 and only if all of the
following conditions are met:

a. the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, orless than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

b. any reduction in lease payvments affects only payments originally du¢ on or before 30 June 2022 (a rent concession meets this

condition if it results in reduced lease payments on or before 30 June 2022 and increased lease payments that extend beyond 30

June 2022): and
¢. there is no substantive change o other terms and conditions of the lease.

In the current financial year, the Group has applied the amendment to IFRS 16 (as issued by the Board in May 2021) in
advance of its effective date.

Impact of adoption

As aresult of early adopting these requirements, rent deferrals which would otherwisc have been treated as lease modilications
have been accounted for as if the change was not a lease modification. The adoption of the amendments had no impact on the
consolidated income statement.

Other 1FRS Standards and Interpretations
In addition. the Group has also adopted [nterest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 which has been assessed as having no
financial impact or disclosure at this time.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)

2. Accounting policies (continued)

Standards issued by the 1ASB not effective for the current year and not early adopted by the Group
Whilst the following standards and amendments are relevant to the Group. they have been assessed as having minimal or no
financial impact or additionai disclosure requirements at this time:

» IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023}

«  Amendments to TAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (effective for periods beginning on or after 1
January 2623)

*+  Amendments to IAS 1 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies (effective for periods beginning on or after | January 2023)

«  Amendments to [AS [6 Property. Plant and Equipment — proceeds before intended use (effective for periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022)

+  Amendments to 1AS 37 - Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Coutract (effective for periods beginning on or after |
January 2022}

«  Amendments to IFRS 3 — Reference to the Conceptual Framework (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022)

= Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 - Sale or contribution of Assets Between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture

*  Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimate {effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)

* Amendments to IAS 12 — Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising from a Single Transaction (effective for
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)

* Annual Improvements to [I'RS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle.

The Group does not intend to early adopt any of these new standards or amendments.

Basis of consolidation

The conseolidated financial statements incorporate the accounts of Whitbread Group PLC and all its subsidiaries. together with the
Group’s share of the net assets and results of joint ventures incorporated using the equity method of accounting, These are
adjusted, where appropriate. to conform to Group accounting policies. The financial statements of significant trading subsidiaries
are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Company:
» has power over the investee:
» is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee: and
* has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Company reassesscs whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there arc changes to one or

more of the three elements of control listed above.

Acquisitions by the Group are accounted for under the acquisition method and any goodwill arising is capitalised as an intangible
asset, The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the vear are included in the consolidated financial statements
from. or up to, the date that control passes respectively. All intra-group transactions, balances. income, and expenscs are
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also efiminated. unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred.
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Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value. which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the
Group. liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and any equity interest issued by the Group in
exchange for conirol of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the consolidated income statement as incurred.

When the consideration transterred by the Group in a business combination includes contingent consideration. the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the *measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration at subsequent reporting dates that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments are recognised within finance costs in the consolidated income statement. unless the contingent consideration is
classified as equity.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts
are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised as of that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition is capitalised and represents the excess of the fair value of consideration over the value of the
Group's interest in the identifiable asscts and liabilities of a subsidiary. at the date of acquisition. Geodwill is not amortised but
reviewed for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
be impaired. On dispesal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the detcrmination of the profit or loss
on disposal.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried initially at cost. An intangible asset acquired as part of a business
combination is recognised at fair valuc, scparately from goodwill if the asset is scparable. or arises from contractual or other legal
rights, and its fair value can be measured reliably.

Amortisation of 1T software and technology is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated life which varies between
three and ten years.

The carrying values are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in ¢circumstances indicate that they may not be recoverable.

Software-as-a-Service (SaaS} arrangements

SaaS arrangements are service contracts providing the Company with the right to access the cloud provider’s application software over
the contract period. Costs incurred to configure or customisc, and the ongoing fees to obtain aceess to the cloud provider’s application
software. are recognised as operating expenses when the services are received.

Some of these costs incurred are for the development of software code that enhances or modifies. or creates additional capability 1o,
existing on-premise systems and meets the definition of and recognition criteria for an intangible asset. These costs are recognised as
intangible software assets and amortised over the useful life of the software on a straight-line basis. The useful lives of these assets are
reviewed at least at the end of each financial year. and any change accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.
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FProperty, plant and equipment

Property. plant and equipment acquired separately from a business are stated at cost or deemed cost at transition to IFRS. less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value, Gross interest costs incurred on the financing of qualifying assets are
capitalised until the time that the assets are available for use. Property, plant and equipment acquired as part of a business
combination are recognised at tair value. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the
assct as follows:

* frechold land is not depreciated:
+ frechold and long leaschold buildings are depreciated 1o their estimated residual values over periods up to 50 years: and
+ plant and equipment is depreciated over three to 25 years.

The residual values and estimated useful lives are reviewed annually,

Profits or losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment reflect the diffcrence between net sclling price and carrying
amount at the date of disposal and are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Investment property

Investment property assets. including properties which are owned by the Group and properties which are leased by the Group. are
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment in value. The depreciation policies for investment
property are consistent with those described for property, plant and equipment.

Leases
Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets for hote! and restaurant properties which are used in the Premier Inn business and other
equipment at the commencement date of the lease (i.c. the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are
measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. and adjusted for any re-measurement of fease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initia) direct costs incuorred. and leasc
payvments madc at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of
its estimated usetul life and lease term.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments and variable fease payments that depend on an index or a
rate less any lease incentives receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate (e.g. turnover rent) are
recognised as an expense in the period over which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. The Group incurs
service charges on property leases which are non-lease components of the contract under IFRS 16 and therefore these charges are
recorded separately within operating costs.

In calculating the present value ot lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the fease is not readily determinable. Incremental borrowing rates are determined quarterty and
depend on the country. currency and start date of the lease. The incremental borrowing rale is determined based on a series of
inputs including: the risk-free rate based on Government bond rates: a country specific risk adjustment; and a credit risk
adjustment based on the Group’s credit rating.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for lease
payments made. In addition. the carrving amount of lease liabilities is re-measured if there is a modification or a change in the
fease term. Cash outflows relating to lease interest arc recorded within net cash flows from operating activities and cash outflows
relating to principal repayments are included within net cash flows from financing activities in the consolidated cash flow
statement.

Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback transaction occurs when the Group sells an asset and immediately reacquires the use of the same asset by
entering into a lease with the buyer. A sale occurs when control of the underlying asset passes to the buyer. A lease liability is
recognised. the associated property. plant and equipment asset is derecognised. and a right-of-use asset is recognised at the
proportion of the carrying value relating to the right retained. Any gain or loss arising relates to the rights transferred to the
buver.
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Rental income

The Group recognises rental income from leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term within other income in the
consolidated income statement.

Impairment of non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

The carrying values of property. plant and cquipment and right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment whenever cvents or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying values may not be recoverable. For the purposes of the impairment review,
the Group considers each trading outlet to be a separate cash generating unit (CGU). Consideration is also given, where
appropriate, to the market value of the asset either from independent sources or. in conjunction with an accepted industry
valuation methodology. Any impairment in the values of property. plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is charged to the
consolidated income statement.

The Group assesses assets or groups of asscts for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. Individual assets are grouped. for impairment assessment purposes, at the
lowest level at which there are identifiable cash flows that are largely independent of the cash tlows of other groups of assets (cash
generating units or CGUSs), If such indication of impairment exists or when annual impairment testing for an asset group is
required. the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated tuture cash flows are discounted to their present value. using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the assct. For an asset that does not generate largely
independent cash inflows. the recoverable amount is determined with reference to the CGU to which the asset belongs. Impairment
losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement within operating costs.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated o the
units and then to reduce the carryving amounts of other assets in the CGU. on a pro-rata basis.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses
may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists. the CGU’s recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if therc has been a change in the estimated future cash flows used to determine the
assel’s recoverahle amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. I that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined.
net of depreciation. had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior vears.

Such a reversal is recognised in the consolidated income statement. After such a reversal. the depreciation charge is adjusted in
future periods to allocate the asset’s carrying amount, less any residual value, on a straight-line basis over its remaining useful life.

For the purposes of impairment testing, all centrally held assets are allocated in line with 1AS 36 to CGUs based on management’s
view of the consumption of the asset. Any resulting impairment is recorded against the centrally held asset.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to groups of CGUs at the level management monitors goodwill,
which is at an operating segment tevel. The Group performs an annual review of its goodwill to ensure that its carrying amount is
not greater than its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined as the greater of fair value, less costs of disposal
and value in use. An impairment is then made to reduce the carrying amount to the recoverable amount.

Irvestments in joint veniures

The Group assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
not be recoverable. If any such indication of impairment exists. the carrying amount of the investment is compared with its
recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the investment is written down to its
recoverable amount.

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets and dispoesal groups are classified as held for sale only if available for immediate sale in their present condition
and a sale is highly probable and expected to be completed within one year from the date of classification. Such assets are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value, less the cost of disposal. and are not depreciated or amortised.

In accordance with TFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. the net results of discontinued
operations are presented separately in the consolidated income statement.
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Inventories I
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisabie value. Cost is calculated on the basis of {irst in, first out and net
realisable value is the estimated selling price less any costs to sell,

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event. it is probable

that an outtlow of resources will be required to scttie the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the !
obligation.

Provisions are discounted to present value, using a pre-tax discount rate that reffects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The amortisation of the discount is recognised as a finance cost.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provisions. An onerous contract is considered
to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received under it.

Restructuring costs

A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan and has raised a valid expectation. in

those affected, that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or annouacing its main features to those !
aftected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring

which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of '
the entity.

Adjusting items and use of alternative performance measures

We use a range of measures to monitor the financial performance of the Group. These measures include both statutory measures
in accordance with IFRS and alternative performance measures (APMs) which are consistent with the way the business
performance is measured internally by the Board and Exccutive Committee. A glossary of APMs and reconciliations to statutory
measures is included in the Annual Report and Accounts of Whitbread PLC for the year ended 3 March 2022

The term adjusted profit is not defined under IFRS and may not be directly comparable with adjusted profit measures used by
other companies. It is not intended to be a substitute for, or superior to, statutory measures of profil, Adjusted measurcs of
profitability are non-IFRS because they exclude amounts that arc included in, or include amounts that are cxcluded from. the
mest directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with IFRS.

The Group makes certain adjustments to the statutory profit measures in order to derive many of its APMs. The Group’s policy is to
exclude items that are considered to be significant in nature and quantum, not in the normal course of business or are consistent with
items that were treated as adjusting in prior periods or that span mulliple financial periods. Treatment as an adjusting item provides users
of the accounts with additional usetul information to assess the year-on-vear trading performance of the Group.

On this basis. the following are examples of items that may be classified as adjusting items:

+ net charges associated with the strategic programme in relation to the review of the hotel estate. excluding those relating to
financing;

« significant restructuring costs and other associated costs arising from strategy changes that are not considered by the Group to be
part of the normal operating costs of the business:

= significant pension charges arising as a result of the changes to UK defined benefir scheme practices;

+ netimpairment and related charges for sites which are/were underperforming that are considered to be significant in nature
and/or value to the trading performance of the business;

* costs in relation to non-trading legacy sites which are deemed to be significant and not reflective of the Group’s ongoing trading
results:

« protit or loss on the sale of a business or investment. and the associated cost impact on the continuing business from the sale of
the business or investment:

* acquisition costs incurred as part of a business combination or other strategic asset acquisitions:

* amortisation of intangible assets recognised as part of a business combination or other transaction outside of the ordinary course
of business; and

«  tax settlements in respect of prior years. including the relfated interest and the impact of changes in the statutory tax rate. the
inclusion of which wouid distort year-on-yvear comparability, as well as the tax impact of the adjusting items identified above.

The directors believe that the adjusted profit share measure provide additional useful information to shareholders on the
performance of the business. These measures are consistent with how business performance is measuredinternally by the
Board and Executive Commitiee, 41
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Foreign currency translation

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in forcign currencies arc transiated into functional currency at the rates of exchange
quoted at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary jtems that are measured in terms of hislorical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.

Day-to-day transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in the functional currency at an average rate for the month in which
those transactions take place, which is used as a reasonable approximation to the actual transaction rate. Translation differences on
monetary items are taken to the consolidated income statement.

A number of subsidiaries within the Group have a non-sterting functional currency. The financial performance and end position of
these entities are translated into sterling in the conselidated tinancial statements, Balance sheet items are translated at the rate
applicable at the balance sheet date. Transactiiis 1eporled in the consolidated income statement are translated using an average
rate for the month in which they occur.

The differences that arise from translating the results of foreign entities at average rates of exchange. and their assets and
Habilities at closing rates, are dealt with in a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign entity. the deferred
cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. All other currency gains and losses are dealt with in the income statement.

Revenue recegnition
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for

transferring goods or services to a customer. Consideration is net of discounts, allowances for customer loyalty and other
promotional activities and amounts collected on behalf of other parties, such as value added tax. Revenue includes dutics which
the Group pays as principal.

The Group has analysed its business activities and applied the five step model prescribed by /FRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers 10 each material line of business, as outlined below:

Sale of accommoduation
The contract to provide accommodation is established when the customer books accommedatien. The performance obligation is to

provide the right to use accommodation for a given number of nights, and the transaction price is the room rate for each night
determined at the time of booking. The performance obligation is met when the customer is given the right to use the
accommodation, and so0 revenue is recognised for each night as it takes place, at the room rate for that night.

Sale of food and beverage

The contract is established when the customer orders the food or beverage item and the performance obligation is the provision of
food and beverage by the outlet. The performance obligation is satisfied when the food and beverage is delivered to the customer,
and revenue is recognised at this point at the price tor the items purchased. Payment is made on the same day and consequently
there are no contract asscts or liabilities.

Payment terms

Customers may pay in advance for accommeodation, food and beverage. In this case the Group has received consideration for
services not yet provided. This is treated as a contract liability until the performance obligation is met. The Group has taken
advantage of the practical expedient in [FRS 15 to not adjust the consideration for the effects of a financing component as the
period between payment and the performance obligation is less than one year.

Payment terms for corporale customers are generally 30 days with amounts recorded in trade and other receivables once the
performance obligations have been met.

Consideration receivable from HM Revernue & Customs
Consideration received from HM Revenue & Customs under the Eat Out to Help Out Scheme is recognised within revenue from

sales of food and beverage.

Coniract costs
The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94 of IFRS 15 and consequently contract costs incurred related to contracts

with an amortisation period of less than one¢ year have been expensed as incurred.
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Revenue recognition (continued)

Variable consideration

The Group makes an estimate. based on historical information, of amounts that will be refunded to customers. The refund liability
represcnts variable ¢onsideration under IFRS 135 with revenue recognised reduced by this amount and a corresponding liability
recognised in other payables in the consolidated halance sheet.

Certain of the Group’s restaurants offer customer loyalty programmes whereby the customer can carn vouchers for historic
purchases which are redeemable as discounts on future purchases. The foyalty points issued by the Group are a separate
performance obligation providing a material right to a future discount. The sales price of goods is allocated to the loyalty points
and the goods sold based on their relative standalone selling prices, with the loyalty points standalone price based on the value of
the points to the customer, adjusted for expected redemption rates. The amount allocated to loyalty points is deferred as a contract
fiability within trade and other payables. Revenue is recognised as the points are redeemed by the customer.

Finance income
Interest income is recognised as the interest accrues. using the effective interest method.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs arc recognised as an expense in the period in which they arc incurred. except for gross interest costs incurred on
the financing of major projects, which arc capitalised untii the time that the projects are available for use.

Retirement benefits

In respect of the defined benefit pension scheme, the surplus recognised in the consolidated balance sheet represents the fair valuc
of scheme assets, reduced by the present value of the defined benefit obligation. Where the calculation results in a surplus to the
Group. the recognised asset is limited to the present value of any futurc availabie refunds from the plan.

The cost of providing bencfits is determined using the projected unit eredit actyarial valuation method. Re-measurements are
recognised in full in the period in which they occur in the statement of comprehensive income and are not reclassified 1o the
consolidated income statement in subsequent periods.

For defined benefit plans. the employer’s portion of the past and current service cost is charged to operating profit. with net
interest costs reported within finance costs. In addition, all administration costs, other than those relating to the management of
plan asscts or taxes payable by the plan itself, are charged as incurred to operating costs in the consolidaled income statement. Net
interest is calculated by applying the opening discount rate to the opening net defined benefit obligation, taking into account the
expected contributions and benefits paid.

On 20 November 2020, the High Court ruled that pension schemes will need to revisit and cqualise guaranteed minimum pensions
for historic individual transfers. The ruling impacted the Group’s actuarial surpius as it will Iead to an increase in pension
obligations. The Group recognised the increase in its defined benefit Hability as a charge to the consolidated income statement.
Sce Note 6 for further details.

Curtailments and settlements relating to the Group’s defined benefit pian are recognised in the period in which the curtailment or
settlement occurs,

Payments to defined contribution pension schemes are charged as an expense as they fal due,

Government grants

A Government grant is recognised in the consolidated balance sheet within other receivables when there is reasonable assurance
that it will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attached to it. Grants arc recognised within other
income in the consolidated income statement at a point in time to maitch the timing of the recognition of the related expenses they
are intended to compensate. Where cash is received in advance of the associated conditions being met. the grant is recorded
within trade and other payables in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Share-based payment transactions

Fquity-sertled transactions

Certain employees and directors of the Group receive equity-settled remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares in the immediate and Ultimate
Parent Company (Whitbread PL.C).

The cost of these cquity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value, determined using a stochastic model. at the
date at which they are granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised. together with a corresponding increase in
equity representing the transaction with the Uitimate Parent Company. over the period in which the performance conditions or
non-vesting conditions are fulfilled, ending on the relevant vesting date. Except for awards subject to market-related conditions
for vesting, the cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions, at each reporting date until the vesting date. reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired. and is adjusted to reflect the directors™ best available estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The income statement charge or credit for a period represents the movement in
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. If options are subject to market-related conditions,
awards are not cumulatively adjusted for the likelihood of these targets being met. Instead, these conditions are included in the fair
value of the awards.

Where an equity-setiled award is cancelled. it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. Where an equity-settled award is forfeited, the related expense recognised to
date is reversed.

Where an equity-settled award is replaced by newly granted instruments, these are accounted for as a modification of the existing
award. When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified. the minimum cxpense recognised is the grant date fair value of
the unmodified award. provided the original vesting terms of the award are met. An additional expense. measured as at the date of
modification. is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction. or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee.

Tax
The income tax charge represents both the income tax payable, based on profit for the vear, and deferred income tax.

Deferred income tax is recognised in full. using the liability method. in respect of temporary differences between the tax base of
the Group’s assets and liabilitics and their carrying amounts that have originated but have not been reversed by the balance sheet
date. No deferred tax is recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill, or the initial
recognition of an asset or liability, in a transaction that is not a business combination and. at the time of the transaction. affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is recognised in respect of taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at cach balance
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all, or part
of. the deferred income tax assct to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are cxpected to apply in the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income tax is charged or credited to other comprehensive income if it relates to items that are charged or credited to other
comprehensive income. Similarly, income tax is charged or credited directly to equity if it relates to items that are charged or
credited directly to equity. Otherwise. income tax is recognised in the consolidated income statement.
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Investments in joint ventures
Investments in joint arrapgements are classificd as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the coatractual rights and
obligations of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures. !

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity methed. the investment in
a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to joint ventures is inciuded in the
carrying amount of the investment.

The consolidated income statement reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the joint ventures. Any change in
other comprehensive income of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the interest in the joint venture. When necessary. adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those
af the Group.

Financial assets

Trade receivables and contract assets

Trade receivables and contract assets are initially measured at fair value. Subsequently they are measured at amortised cost as the
objective of the business model is to hold the assets to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the asset give
rise to cash flows on specified dates which are solely payments of principal and interest.

In line with the IFRS 9 Financial Instruments ‘simplified approach’. the Group segments its trade receivables and contract assets
based on shared characteristics, and recognises a loss allowance for the lifetime expected credit loss for each segment. The
expected credit loss is based on the Group's historical credit loss experience. adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors.
general economic conditions and an assessment of the current and forecast conditions at the reporting date.

Credit impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit impaired when one of more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred, such as significant financial difficuity of the debtor or default by the debtor. The Group writes
off a financial asset where there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Credit losses are recorded within operating costs in the
consolidated income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash cquivalents comprise cash at bank, cash in hand and deposits (including Money Market Funds) which are short
term, highly liquid and which are not at significant risk of changes in value.

Recognition and derecognition

The recognition of financial assets occurs when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The
Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire. or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

Derivatives and hedging
The Group enters into derivative transactions (o manage its exposure 10 interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and subsequently re-measured to their fair
vatue at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or [oss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument. in which event the timing of the recognition in profit er loss depends on the
nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is
recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Group has both the legal right
and intention to offset.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining mawrity of the instrument is more than
12 months and is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current asscts or
current liabilities.
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Derivatives and hedging (continued)
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest rate risks as fair
value hedges and cash low hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.

Al the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged
itern, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group documents
whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting the hedged risk, by confirming that:

+ there is an economic relationship between hedged items and the hedging instrument:

+ the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship: and

+ the planned ratio of hedge: hedge item is the same as the actual ratio of hedge: hedge item. The fair value change on
qualifying fair value hedges is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value change on qualifying fair value hedges is recognised in profit or loss.

The cffective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the cash flow hedging reserve. Any gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
of the hedge is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. in the same line
as the recognised hedged item.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting when the hedge relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria. or when the hedging
instrument expires. is seld. terminated or exercised.

Hedges of a net investment

[tedges of a net investment in a {foreign operation, inciuding a hedge of a monetary item that s accounted for as part of the net
investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the
effective portion of the hedge are recognised in other comprehensive income while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective
portion arc recogniscd in the statement of profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation. the cumulative valuc of any such
gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the statement of profit or loss.

The Group uses a cross currency swap as a hedge of its exposure to foreign exchange risk on its investments in foreign
subsidiaries. Refer to Note 23 and Nole 24 for more details,

Financial liabilities
Debt and equity instruments are classified as financial liahilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements.

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method unless they are required o be measured
at fair value through profit or loss or the Group has opted to measure them at fair value threugh the profit or loss. The effective
interest rate method calculates the amortised cost of a financial {iability and allocates interest expense to the relevant period.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of any directly associated issue costs,
Borrowings are subsequently recorded at amortised cost, with any difference between the amount initially recorded and the
redemption value recognised in the conselidated income statement using the effective interest method.

Contingent consideration

Contingent consideration, resulting from business combinations and asset acquisitions, is valued at fair value at the
acquisitiondate as part of the business combination. When the contingent consideration meets the definition of a linancial
liability, it is subsequently re-measured to fair value at each reporting date. The determination of the fair value is based on
discounted cash flows.

Where the period between acquisition and payment is not significant, cash outflows for contingent consideration are included
within cash flows from investing activities. Where the period of deferral is significant, excess payments over the fair value
recognised at acquisition are recognised within cash flows from financing activities. None of the Group’s contingent consideration
is deemed to relate to post-acquisition remuneration.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Recogaition and derecognition
The recognition of liabilities occurs when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The derecognition of financial liabilities occurs when the obligation under the liability is discharged, canceiled or expires. When
the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt instrument into another one with the substantially different terms. such
exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition ot a new financial liability.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported as assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported as revenucs and expenses during the year, Although
these amounts are based on management’s best estimates, events or actions may mean that actual results uleimately differ from those
estimates. and these differences may be material. These judgements and estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed
regularly.

The Group has considered the impact of climate-related risks on its financial performance and position, and although the impact
represents an uncertainty, it is not considered to be material.

Critical accounting judgements

The following are the crilical accounting judgements, apart from those involving estimations (dealt with separately below) that
management have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Adjusting items

During the year certain itlems are identificd and separately disclosed as adjusting items. Judgement is applied as 1o whether the
item meets the necessary criteria as per the accounting policy disclosed earlier in this note. This assessment covers the nature of
the item. cause of occurrence and the scale of impact of that item on reported performance. Reversals of previous adjusting itcms
are assessed based on the same criteria. Note 6 provides information on al} of the items disclosed as adjusting in the current year
and comparative tinancial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key areas of estimation uncertainty that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Defined benefit pensiorn

Defined beneflit pension plans are accounted for in accordance with actuarial advice using the projected unit credit method. The
Group makes significant estimates in relation to the discount rates. mortality rates and inflation rates used to calculate the present
value of the detined benetit obligation. Note 31 describes the assumptions used together with an analysis of the sensitivity to
changes in key assumptions.

Impairment testing - Goodwill. property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
The performance of the Group’s impairment review requires management to make a number of estimates. These are set out below:

Identification of indicators of impairment and reversal

Where there are indicators of impairment or reversal. management performs an impairment assessment. The speed at which
the Group’s sites will recover from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is uncertain and. as a result. all of' the Group’s sites
have been tested for impairment.

Inputs used to estimate value in use
The estimate of value in use is most sensitive to the following inputs:

+  Five-year business plan — Forecast cash flows for the initial five-year period are based on actual cash Tows for FY 20 being
the period before the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and applying management’s assumptions of the impact of the
pandemic and expected recovery period.

+  Discount rate — Judgement is required in estimating the Weighted Average Cost of Capitat (WACC) of a typical market
participant and in assessing the specific country and currency risks associated with the Group. The rate used is adjusted for
the Group’s gearing. including equity. borrowings and lease liabilities.

+ Immature sites — Judgement is required to estimate the time taken for sites to reach maturity and the sites” trading level
once they are mature.

Methodology used to estimate fair value

Fair value is determined using a range of methods, including present value techniques using assumptions consistent with the value
in use calculations and market multiple techniques using externally available data.

Key estimates and sensitivities for impairment of assets are disclosed in Note 4. 47
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3. Segment information

The Group provides scrvices in relation to accommodation, food and beverage both in the UK and internationally.
Management monitors the operating results of its operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
allocating resources and assessing performance. Segment performance is measured based on adjusted operating profit before
joint ventures. Included within central and other in the following tables are the costs of running the public company. other
central overhead costs and share of profit/(losses) [fom joint ventures.

The following tables present revenue and profit information regarding business operating segments for the years ended 3
March 2022 and 25 February 2021.

53 weeks to 3 March 2022 52 weeks to 25 February 2021

UK & Central UK & Central
Revenue Ireland  Germany  and other Total Ireland  Germany and other Totai
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Accommodation 1.157.8 29.1 - 1,186.9 3885 10.2 - 398.7
Food, beverage and other items’ 510.4 6.1 - 516.5 1889 13 - 190.2
Revenue before adjusting items 1,668.2 35.2 - 1,703.4 5774 11.5 - 5889
Adjusting revenue (Note 6) - 0.5
Revenue 1,703.4 589.4

! Revenue from food, beverage and other rtems for the UK & Ireland segment includes £mil (2020,21: £12.0m) of consideration receivable from HM Revenue &Custorns under the Fat Out to
Help Out scheme.

53 weeks to 3 March 2022 52 weeks to 25 February 2021

UK& Central UK & Central
Ireland  Germany and other Total Ireland Cermany and other Total
Profit/(Loss) £m £m £m £m £m £m tm £m
Adjusted operating profit(loss) before joint 199.6 (15.4) (29.8) 154.4 (415.7) (38.8) {25.1) (479.6)

ventures

Share of profit/(loss) from joint ventures - - 0.4 0.4 - - (6.0 6.0)
Adjusted operating profit{loss) 199.6 (15.4) (29.4) 154.8 (4157 (38.8) GLD (485.6)
Net finance costs (124.7) (8.5) (77.3) (210.5) (117.1) 6.1) (34.6) (177.8)
Adjusted profit{loss) before tax 74.9 {23.9) (106.7) (35.7) (532.8) (44.9) {85.7) (663.4)
Adjusting items before tax {Note 6) 74.0 (372.3)
Profit/(loss) before tax 183 (1.035.7)

Adjusted operating profit/{loss) for the UK & Ireland segment includes the impact of Business Rates Reliet provided by the UK Government of £56.3m (2020/21° £117 8m). income from
Hospttality and Leisure Grant provided by the UK Government of £8 2m {2020/2). £3.5m) and income from the job retention schemes in the UK, Ireland and Jersey of £62 Om {2020:21.
£139.0m). Adjusted operating loss for the German segment includes £1.0m (202¢y21 £1.5m) from the Kurzarbeit scheme and other Government grants of £43 3m (2020/21: £10 3m).
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3. Segment information (continuned)

53 weeks to 3 March 2022 52 weeks to 25 February 2021
Other segment information /K and Central Tota) UK and Central Toal
Ireland Germany  and other  operations Ireland Germany andother  operations
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Capital expenditure:
Property, plant and equipment — cash basis 148.1 513 - 200.4 121.0 96.4 - 2174
Property, plant and equipment and investment
property — accruals basis (Note 13) 165.8 54.2 - 2200 1059 932 - 199.1
Intangible assets (Note 12) 21.1 - - 21.1 10.8 - - 10.8
Cash outflows from lease interest and payment
of principal of fease liabilities 2345 258 - 2603 173.0 219 - 1949
Depreciation— property. plant and equipment 148.3 9.6 - 157.9 145.2 51 - 1503
Depreciation — right-of-use assets 125.2 29 - 148.1 1099 16.4 - 126.3
Amottisation 206 0.3 - 209 233 03 - 236
Segment asscts and liabilities are not disclosed because they are not reported to. or reviewed by, the Chief Operating Decision Maker.
202122 2020021
Revenues from external customers are split geographically as follows: £m £m
United Kingdom 1,661.8 3755
Germany 352 ils
Other o4 24
1,703.4 3804
2022 2021
Non-current assets' are spli geographically as follows: £m £m
United Kingdom 6.571.3 63436
Germany 1,009.1 809.3
Other 114.7 81.6
7,695.1 72343
"'Non-cusrent assets exclude dertvauve financial instruments and the surplus on the Group's defined benefit pension sclieme
4. Other income
An analysis of the Group’s other income is as follows:
202122 2020725
£m £m
Rental income 7.9 7.8
Government grants (Note 9) 1138 153.4
Other 0.7 0.6
Other income before adjusting items 1224 161.8
Insurance proceeds {Note &) - 1.8
VAT settlement (Note 6) 8.7 4.5
Other income 131.¢ 168.1

49



Whitbread Group PLC

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (centinued)

5. Operating costs
An analysis of the Group’s operating costs is as follows:

2021722 2020/21

£m £m

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense’ 146.6 722
Employee benefit expense? (Note 7) 677.4 5805
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 12) 20.9 236
Depreciation — property, plant and equipment and investment property {Note 13) 157.9 1503
Depreciation - right-of-use-assets 148.1 126.3
Utilities 87.8 512
Rates 71.2 10.9
Other site property costs 277.3 [58.7
Variable lease payment expense/(credit) (Note 21) 0.3 (0.6)
Net foreign exchange differences 2.1 04
Other operating charges® 80.0 569
Adjusting operating costs® (Noic 6} (65.3) 351.7
1.604.3 1.582.0

! Cost of inventories recogmised as an expense includes £6,1m (2020/21; £14.6m) of wvenzory wite-downs recorded during the year.

2 Adjusting operating costs includes a credut for net impairments and write offs of £36 2m (2020121 charge of £350.4m), a credit of £28.8m (202021 credit of £9.0m) relating (o other

operating charges and a credit of £0.3m (2020:21: charge of £10 3m) relating to cmplovee benefit expenses (sce Note 6).

Fees paid to the Group’s auditor during the year consisted of:

202122 2020:21

£m £m

Audit of the Group’s financial statements 1.0 6.9
Auadit of the Group’s subsidiaries 0.6 0.6
Total audit fees 1.6 1.5
Audit-related assurance 0.1 0.1
Other non-audit fees! B 11
Total non-audit fees 0.1 12
Included in other operating charges 1.7 27

! During 2020:21 the Group auditor performed permissibte non-audit services in relation to the June 2020 tights issue and the issue of Green Bonds,

The fees above include all amounts paid to the Group’s auditor for the audit of Whitbread PLC and its subsidiaries as the amounts

are borne by Whitbread Group PLC.
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6. Adjusting items

As set out in the policy in Note 2. we use a range of measures to monitor the financial performance of the Group. These measures
include both statutory mcasures in accordance with IFRS and APMs which are consistent with the way that the business
performance is measured internally. We report adjusted measures because we believe they provide both management and
investors with useful additional information about the financial performance of the Group's businesses. Adjusted measures of
profitability represent the equivalent IFRS measures adjusted for specific items that we consider hinder the comparison of the
financial performance of the Group's businesses either from one period to another or with other similar businesses.

2021722 2020121
£m £m
Adjusting items are as follows
Revenue:
TSA income! - 0.5
Other income:
Insurance proceeds? - 1.8
VAT settlement’ 8.7 4.5
Adjusting other income 8.7 6.3
Operating costs:
TSA costs' - (0.5)
Costa disposal - separation costs and other costs* - 6.4
Impairment ~ goodwill® - (238.8)
Net impairment reversals/(write offs) — property. plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and other
intangible assets® 36.2 (1092
Impairment — investment in joint ventures’ - 8.2y
Guaranteed minimum pension® - (1.1
Aborted acquisition costs’ - 4
UK restructuring'® 0.3 (12.1)
Gains on disposals, property and other provisions"! 288 184
Adjusting operating costs 65.3 (357.5)
Share of loss of joint ventures.
Impairment®? - (L7)
Fmangce (costs)/income:
Early prepaymen charge (Note 191 R @13
VAT settlement’ - 1.3
Adjusting finance costs - (19.9)
Adjusting items before tax 740 (372.3)
Tax adjustments included in reported profit afler tax. but excluded in arriving at adjusted profit after
tax:
Tax on adjusting items (1L4) 19.3
Impact of change in tax rates (13.1) (12.5)
Adjusting tax (charge)/credit (24.5) 6.8
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Adjusting items (continued)

Following the sale of Costa to The Coca-Cola Company on 3 January 2019, the Group eniered into a Transitiona] Services Agreement (TSA) o provide
certain services te facilitate the successtul separation of Cosla from the rest of the Whitbread Group. The agreements ended in FY21 and the Croup earned
£nil (2020/21: £0.5m) during the year.

Duiring 2020/21. the Group recognised insurance claim proceeds of £1.8m in other income covering property and loss of trade in relation 10 a firc at assite in
FY19720.

In August 2021, HMRC confirmed it would not appeal the ruling of the First Tier Tribunal in the case of Rank Group ple that VAT was incorrectly applied 1o
revenues earned from certain gaming machines from 2006 to 2013. The Group has submitted claims for the repayment of overpaid VAT amounting to £8.7m
which are substantiafly similar. During the prior year, the Group submitted clains to HMRC in relation to similar matters and recognised £4. 5m within other
income and £1.3m within finance income.

During 2020/21. the Group recognised a credit of £6.4m for costs the Group no longer expects to incur relating 1o the separation of Costa and the impact of the
disposal on the continuing business.

During 2020/21, the Group recorded a goodwill impainment charge of £238.8m in relation to #s operations in Germany. The goodwill was recognised on the
acquisition of Foremost Hospitality Hiex Gmbi which the Group entered into in the year ended 1 March 2018 and was impaired as a resull of the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic on growth rates.

The Group identified impairment indicators and indicators of impairment reversals relating to assets held by the Group. An impairment review of those assets
was undertaken, resulting in a net impairment reversal of £42.0m. This is made up of an impairment loss on trading sites of £10.5m {(£10.1m relating to
property, plant and equipment. and £0.4m relating 1o right-ofuuse assets) offset by impairment reversals of £52.5m (£30 4m relating to property, plant and
equipment and £22. 1m relating o right-of-use assets). In addition, an impairment charge of £5 8m was recorded in refation to assets classitied as held for sale.
Further information is provided in Note 15. During 2020/21, a total charge of £109.2m was recorded, made up of £97 9m of impairment losses on trading sites
(£61.2m relating to property, plant and equipment and £36.7m relating to right-of-use assets), £3.9m relating to assets classified as held for sale. £1.7m
relating to the cancellation of significant IT projects and £5.7m following a review of early stage expansion projects where the Group decided not to proceed
with the project.

During 2020721, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group identified impairment indicators relating to its investment in its UK joint venture, Healthy
Retail Limuted. Following an impairment review, a charge of £8.2m was recorded within adjusting itemns. Further information is available in Note 16.

A High Court ruling in November 2026 confinmed that pension schemes should extend the equalisation of guaranteed minimum pension benetits for men and
womgen to those who transferred benefits to other plans after 1990. The cost of reflecting this decision in the obligations of the Whitbread Group defined
benefit scheme in FY21 was estimated at £1.1m, which has been recognised as a past service cost in the income statement. The treatment of this is consistent
with the GMP equalisation adjustment in FY18/19. Any future revisions to the estimate will be recognised in other comprehensive income.

At 27 February 2020, the Group had purchased a call option for an acquisition as part of the Group's strategy for international growth. During 2020/21, as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Giroup decided not to proceed with the acquisition. An amount of £1.3m was recovered following settlement
negotiations resufting in a charge of £12.4m, including fees. being recorded in the income statement during 2020/21,

During 2020721, the Group restructured its Support Centre and site operations and recognised redundancy and project costs of £12.1m. Following the
completion of the restructuring, the remaining provision of £0.3m was seleased o the income statement.

During the year, the Group disposed of a single property as part of a sale and leaseback transaction for gross proceeds of £40.0m. The Group will continue to
rent the property for a period of five years A profit on disposal of £27. 5m was recognised on disposal of the property. 1n addition, during the vear, the Group
made a profit on other property disposals of £3.7m and recognised other provisions of £4.4m relating to historic indirect tax matters. From FY 18 to FY20 the
Group established a provision for the performance of remedial work on cladding material at a small number ef the Group’s sites. Puring 2020/21, the Group
released provisions of £3.3m for costs which were no longer expected to be incurred and received reimbursements of costs of remediat work on cladding
material fron property developers totalling £13 4m. In addition, during 2020/21, the Group made a loss on disposal of £1. Im and released other provisions of
£2.8m.

During 2020/21, the Group recorded a cost of £1 7m representing its share of a site level impairment in the accounts of its Middle Fast joint venture, Premier
Inn Hotels ELC.

On 25 February 2021. the Group ¢xercised an early repayment option associated with the Series A loan notes and Series B loan notes issued in 2017 and
ariginally due for repavment on 16 August 2027. As a result, an carly repayment charge of £21.2m was recognised during 2020/21.
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7. Employee benefits expense

202122 2020121

£m £m

Wages and salaries 6195 5302
Social security costs 46.7 388
Pension costs i1.2 11.5
6774 580.5

The amounts above exclude adjusting items, Wages and salaries excludes a credit of £0.3m (2020/21: charge of £12.1m) relating
to the restructuring of the Group’s operations and a credit of £nil (2020/21: credit of £2.9m) rclating 0 costs associated with the
separation of Costa. Pension costs excludes £nil {2020/21; charge of £1.1m) relating to a past scrvice cost on the Group's defined
benefil pension scheme (se¢ Note 6).

Included in wages and salaries is a share-based payments expense of £12.9m (2020/21: £12.7m). which arises from transactions
accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments.

2021/22 202021
Empioyee costs split between hourly paid and salaried employees £m £m
Employec costs — hourly paid 440.3 391.7
Empioyee costs — salaried 237.1 1898
677.4 5815
2021/22 2020721
Average number of employees directly employed Number Number
UK & Ireland 33,546 32190
Germany 782 313
34,328 32,503

Employees of joint ventures are excluded from the numbers above.

Directors” remuneration is disclosed below;

2021/22 202021
£m £fm
[rectors” remuneration 4.2 3.0
Agpregate contributions to the defined contribution pension scheme - -
Aggregate gains on the exercise of share options 1.7 73

The highest paid director received total remuneration of £2.2m (2020/21: £1.0m) including company centributions to a money
purchase pension scheme of £0.2m (2020/21: £0.2m). Aggregate gains on the exercise of share options relating to the highest paid
director were £0.4m (2020/21: £3.8m).
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8. Finance (costs)/income

2021/22 202021
£m £m
Finance costs
Interest on bank foans and overdrafts (7-4) (5.3)
[nterest on other loans 30.0y (24.1)
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 21} (133.2 {1232y
Unwinding of discount on contingent consideration {Note 23) a4 2.0
Interest payable to parent company 414y (294)
[nterest capitalised (Note 13} 0.9 0.9
Impact of ineffective portion of cash flow and fair value hedges (Note 24} (2.5) -
(215.0) (183.2)
Finance income
Bank interest receivable 0.7 12
Other interest receivabie 0.2 038
Impact of ineffective portion of cash flow and fair value hedges - 0.4
TAS 19 pension finance income (Nete 31) 3.6 30
4.5 5.4
Adjusted net finance costs (210.5) (177.8)
Early prepayment charge (Note 19) - {21.2)
VAT settlenent (Note 6) - 1.3
Adjusting net finance costs - {19.9)
Total net finance costs (210.5) (197.7)
Analysed as:
Total finance costs 215.0) (21.2)
Total finance incomke 45 13
Total net finance costs (210.5) (197.7)
Net finance costs includes £211.1m (2020/21: £202.3m) finance costs and £0.9m (2020/21: £2.0m) finance income in respect
of financial assets and liabilities that are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
9. Government grants and assistance
During the vear, the Group has received government support designed to mitigate the impact of COVID-19.
(Grants received during the year consisted of:
2021/22 202021
£m fm
UK Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme 61.7 1383
Freland Employment Wage Subsidy Scheme 0.2 05
Jersey Co-Funded Payroll Scheme 0.1 0.2
UK Hospitality and [.eisure Grant 8.2 35
German Fixed Cost Grant 43.3 10.3
German Kurzarbeit Scheme — compensation for social security payments 0.3 0.6
Included in other income 113.8 153.4
The Group benetited from the following schemes which led to savings in operating costs:
2021722 2020721
£m £m
German Kurzarbeit Scheme — employees support 0.7 0.9
UK Business Rate Relief 56.3 117.8
Reduction in operating costs 57.0 118.7
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9. Government grants and assistance (continued)

In the UK, the Government has provided funding towards the salary costs of employees who have been “furloughed” through
the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme. The scheme rules have evolved during the period and remain complex to interpret
and apply to the claims. This funding meets the definition of a Government grant under IAS 20 Government Grants and a total
of £61.7m (2020/21: £138.3m) has been recorded within other income, The Group has recognised income from job retention
schemes in Ireland and Jersey totalling £0.2m and £0.1m respectively within other income (2020/21: £0.5m and £0.2m).

The related salary costs which are compensated by the scheme are included within operating costs in the consolidated

income statement.

The UK Government also provided grants to support businesses in the retail. hospitality and teisure sector who had been
impacted by closures and other restrictions. The Group has recognised £8.2m (2020/21: £3.5m) in other income relating to
these grants and no further grants are expected to be received.

[n Germany. the Government has previded financial support to cover certain fixed costs incurred by companies in sectors
which have been significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic and related restrictions. The Group has recognised a total
of £43.3m (2020/21: £10.3m) in refation to the schemes within other income.

The German Government also provides enhanced benefits directly to individual employees with employers partially
compensated for continued social security payments under Kurzarbeit. Suppert provided directly to employees reduced the
Group’s operating costs by £0.7m (2020/21: £0.9m) and a total of £0.3m (2020/21: £0.6m) was rccognised in other income
relating to compensation for social security payments.

The UK Government and devolved administrations introduced business rates holidays for retail. hospitality and leisure
businesses. Relief in England ended in July 2021 and the holiday in Northern Ireland. Wales and Scotland continued until April
2022, The relicf has allowed the Group to reduce operating costs by £56.3m in the year (2020:21: £117.8m).

The Group was confirmed as an eligible issuer under the UK Government’s Covid Corporate Financing Facility (CCFF) with an
initial limit of £600.0m. The limit was reduced to £300.0m following the reduction in the Group’s credit rating to BBB-. The
Group did not draw down on the facility during the year or prior to its expiry on 22 March 2021,

The UK Government announced on 8 July 2020, that a reduced rate of VAT would apply to certain supplies in the hospitality
and hotel accommodation sector and this was extended by the Budget in 2021, As a result. for the period from 15 July 2020

to 30 September 2021. the Group’s sales of accommodation, food and beverage (excluding alcohol) was charged at 5% VAT,

A new reduced rate of 12.5% was introduced from 1 October 2021 and ended on 31 March 2022, The standard VAT rate of 20%
returned on | April 2022,

The Group took part in the COVID-19 VAT deferral scheme, allowing it to defer VAT payments totalling £14.9m into the
current year which would ordinarily have fallen due during FY21. These have been repaid during the period.

The Group registered with the Government™s Eat Out to Help Out Scheme during August 2020, which provided Government

funding for 50% of food and non-alcoholic beverage purchases, capped at £10 per head. The Group claimed £12.0m as part of
the scheme which has been recognised as revenue in the year to 25 February 2021.
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10. Taxation

2021722 2020721
Consolidated income statement £m £m
Current tax:
Current tax (credit)/expense (7.6) (18%)
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (0.1 £3.8
(77 (50
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 17.5 {105.2)
Effect of rate change 13.1 12.5
Adiustments in respect of previons perinds (£6.2) (7.0
144 (99.8)
Tax reported in the consolidated income statement 6.7 {104.8)
202122 2020/21
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income £m £m
Current tax:
efined benefit pension scheme - (G4
Deferred tax:
Cash flow hedges 0.5 0.6
Tax on net gain on hedge of a net investment 08 {0.8)
Tax on exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 2.7) 15
Defined benefit pension scheme 88.0 2.4
Tax reported in other comprehensive income 86.6 33
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10. Taxation (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax (credity/charge applicable to adjusted (loss)/profit before tax and profit before tax at the statutory taxrate.
to the actual wax charge at the Group™s effective tax rate, for the vears ended 3 March 2022 and 25 February 2021 respectively is as

follows:

2021722 202021
Tax or 2021/22 Tax on 2020421
adjusted loss Tax on loss adjusted loss Tax on loss
£m £m £m £m
(Loss)/profit before tax as reported in the consolidated income (55.7) 18.3 (663.4) (1.035.7)
siatement
Tax at current UK tax rate of 19.00% (2020/21: 19.00%) (10.6) 35 (126.00 (196.8)
Effect of different tax rates (3.8 3.8 69N 16.9)
Unrecognised losses in overseas companies 11.8 1.8 14.7 17.0
Effect of joint ventures - - 03 03
Effect of super deduction in respect of tax relief for fixed assets {2.7) 2.7 - -
Expenditure not allowable 55 29 10.0 59.1
Adjustments to current tax expense in respect of previous years (0.1) {0.1) 119 138
Adjustments to deferred tax expense in respect of previous vears (16.2) {16.2) 2.3 (7.1
Impact of deferred tax being at a difterent rate trom current tax rate - 13.4 - 125
Other movements (L7 {1.8) 0.3 33
Tax (credit)/expense reported in the consolidated income (17.8) 6.7 (98.0) (104 8)
statement
Deferred tax
The major categories of deferred tax assets/(Habilities) recognised by the Group and movements during the current and prior
financial vears arcas follows:
Rolled over
Accelerated gains and
Capital property
Allowances valuations Pensions Leases Losses Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 27 February 2020 54.3) (64.4) (56.3) 433 ~ ®1 (137.8)
(Charge)/credit to conselidated income statement 113 6.6 (3.8) 1.3 80.2 42 99.8
Charge to statement of comprehensive income — - 2.4) - (0.7} {0.6) [RI)]
Charge to statement of changes in equity - - - - - (1.9) (1%
Transfer - - ~ 4.7 ~ 47 -
Arising on acquisitions - - - (3.5) ~ - (3.5)
Foreign exchange and other movements 0.1 - - 02 (0.1 (€.1) 0.1
AL 25 February 2021 329 (57.8) (62.5) 36.6 794 02 47.0y
(Charge)/credit to consotidated mcome statement (29.6) (34.7) (154) 12.0 579 4.6) (14.4)
Charge 10 statement of comprehensive mcome - - (88.00 - 2.0 (0.6} (86.6)
Charge to statement of changes in equity - - - - - 0.3) (6.3)
Foreign exchange and other movements - - - - 2.5 2.5
At 3 March 2022 (72.5) (92.5) (165.9) 486 139.3 (7.8) 150.8

Total deferred tax liabilities relating to disposals during the year were £nil (2021: £nil).

The Group has unrecognised German tax losses of £128.2m (2021: £84.8m) which can be carried forward indefinitely and offsct
againstfuture taxable profits in the same tax group. The Group carrics out an assessment of the recoverability of these losses for
each reporting period and. 1o the extent that they exceed deferred tax liabilities within the same tax group. does not think it is
appropriate at this stage to recognise any deferred tax asset. Recognition of these assets in their entirety would result in an increase

in the reported deferred tax asset by £40.9m (2021: £26.2m).

At 3 March 2022, no deferred tax liability is recognised (2021: £nil) on gross temporary ditferences of £13 9m (2021: £3.0m)

relating to the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timings of the reversal of these

temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Tax relicf on total interest capitalised amounts to £0.2m (2020/21: £0.2m).
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10. Taxation (continued)

Factors affecting the tax charge for future years

The UK Budget 2021 announcements on 3 March 2021 included measures to support economic recovery as a result of the
ongeing COVID-19 pandemic. These included an increase to the UK’s main corporation tax rate from 19% to 25%. effective
from 1 April 2023, The change has resulted in the remeasurement of those UK deferred tax assets and liabilities which are
forecast to be utilised or to crystallisc after this effective date. using the higher tax rate. A charge of £13.1m has been recorded
in the consotidated income statement and a charge of £27.5m in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income based on
the Group’s current estimate of how the balances will unwind. However. the Group has some ability to control the timing of this
unwinding and could vary the value of the deferred tax liability by up to £11.0m.

t1. Dividends paid

2021/22 202122 202021 2020121
Pence per share £m Pence per share £m
Dividends paid during the year - - - -

12. Intangible assets

IT software and

Goodwill technology Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 27 February 2020 111.3 1G8.8 220.1
Additions - 10.8 10.8
Reeognised on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 34) 2242 - 2242
Assets written off - 9.7 9.7
Foreign currency adjustment 146 0l 14.7
At 25 February 2621 350.1 110.0 460.1
Additions - 201 21.1
Assels written off - (10.8) (10.8)
Foreign currency adjustment - 0.1y (0.1)
At 3 March 2022 350.1 120.2 4703
Amortisation and impairment
At 27 February 2020 (0.8) (46.5) 47.3)
Amortisation during the year - (23.6) {23.6)
Iimpairment during the year {238.8) - (238.8)
Amortisation on assets written off - 8.7 8.7
At 25 February 2021 (239.6) (61.4) (301.0)
Amortisation during the vear - (20.9) (20.9)
Amortisation on assets written off - 10.8 10.8
Foreign currency adjusiment - 0.1 0.1
At 3 March 2022 (239.6) (71.4) (3110
Net book value at 3 March 2022 110.5 48.8 1593
Net book value at 25 February 2021 110.3 486 159.1
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12. Intangible assets (continued)

Other than goodwill, there are no intangible assets with indefinite lives. IT software and technology assets have been asscessed as
having finite lives and are amortised under the straight-line method over periods ranging from three to ten years from the date the
asset became fully operational.

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments in relation to intangible assets at the year-end amounted to £7.3m (2021: £0.5m).

13. Property, plant and equipment and investment property

Total
property,
Land and Plant and plant and Investment
buildings equipment equipment property Total
a £m £m £m £m
Caost
At 27 February 2020 3.538.1 15360 5,074.1 204 5,004.3
Additions 116.0 824 1984 0.7 199.1
Acqguisitions of a subsidiary - 6.0 6.0 - 6.0
Interest capitalised 09 - 09 - 0.9
Movements to held for sale in the year (11.2) 2.5 (137 - (13.7}
Disposals (0.2) - (2 - (0.2)
Assets wrilten ofl’ (8.1) (104.1) (112.2) - (1122}
Foreign currency adjustment 5.1 (0.2 49 0.7 36
At 25 February 2021 3,640.6 1,517.6 5,158.2 21.8 5,180.0
Additions 9220 128.0 220.0 - 2200
Interest capitalised 0.9 - 09 - 09
Movements to held for sale in the year (62.2) 4.5) (66.7) - {66.7)
Disposals (8.8) - 8.3 - (8.8)
Assets written off 4.1 (57.9) {62.6) - (62.0)
Transfers 254 - 21.4 (21.4) -
Foreign currency adjustment (17.8) 2.5 (20.3) (0.4) (20.7)
At 3 March 2022 3,662.0 1,580.7 5242.7 - 52427
Depreciation and impairment
At 27 February 2020 (211.2) (630.9) (842.1) (0.1) (842.2)
Depreciation charge for the year (16.1) (134.1) (150.2) {0.1) {150.3)
Impairment charge in the year (Note 14} (63.8) 0.6) (64.4) - (64.4)
Movements to held for sale in the year 38 14 5.2 - 52
Depreciation on assets written off - 106.2 106.2 - 106.2
Foreign currency adjustment - 02 0.2 - 0.2
AL 25 February 2021 (287.3) (657.8) 945.1) 0.2) (945.3)
Depreciation charge tor the year (229 (1350 (157.9) - (1579
Impairment reversal/(charge) in the year (Note 14) 16.9 (2.4) 145 - 14.5
Movements to held for sale in the year 7.3 24 9.7 - 9.7
Disposals 0.6 - 0.6 - 0.6
Depreciation on assets written off 4.1 57.9 62.0 - 62.0
Transfers 0.2) - {0.2) 0.2 -
Foreign currency adjustment 0.1 0.7 0.8 - 0.8
At 3 March 2022 (281.4) (734.2) (1,615.6} - (1,015.6;
Net book value at 3 March 2022 3.380.6 8465 4,227.1 - 42271
Net book value at 25 February 2021 33533 8598 42131 216 42347

Included above are assets under construction of £260.5m (2021: £289.9m).

There is a charge in favour of the pension scheme over properties with a market value of £531.3m (2021: £300.0m). See Note 31
for further information.

Amounts relating to right-of-use assets under IFRS 16 arc detailed in Note 21,
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13. Property, plant and equipment and investment property (continued)

Investment property

During 2019/20_ the Group acquired a freehold site which was leased to a third party and was recorded within investment
property. The Group recognised rental income of £0.2m (2020/21: £0.4m) within other income and £0.1m (2020/21: £0.1m) of
direct operating expenses in relation to this property.

During the year, the property was transferred to property, plant and equipment as the lease ended and the Group took over the
opcrations of the hotel.

Capital expenditure commitments

2022 2021
£m im
Capital expenditure commitments for property. plant and equipment for which no provision has been made id6.4 8.3

Capitalised interest
Interest capitalised during the year amounted to £0.9m, using an average rate of 2,7% (2020/21: £0.9m. using an average rate of
2.9%].

Assets held for sale

During the year. four property assets with a combined net book value of £57.0m (2020/21: seven at £9.1m) were transferred to
assets held for sale, No property was transferred back to property, plant and equipment (2020/21: one with a net book value of
£0.6m). Seven property assets sold during the year had a net book value of £11.2m (2020/21: three at £3.9m). An impairment loss
of £nil (2020/21: £0.7m) was recognised relating to assets classified as held for sale. By the year end there were eleven sites with a
combined net book value of £64.8m (2021: 14 at £19.0m) classified as assets held for sale. There are no gains or losses recognised
in other comprehensive income with respect to these assets. Sites are transferred to assets held for sale when there is an
expectation that they will be sold within 12 months, If the site is not expected to be sold within 12 months it is subsequently
transferred back to property, plant and equipment.

Included within assets held for sale are assets which were written down to fair value less costs to sell of £15.4m (2021: £11.4m).
The fair value of property assets was determined based on current prices in an active market for similar properties. Where such
nformation is not available management considers information from a variety of sources including current prices for properties of
a different nature or recent prices of similar properties, adjusted to reflect those differences. This is a level 3 measurement as per
the fair value hicrarchy set out in Note 23, The key iaputs under this approach are the property size and location.

4, Impairment

During the year. net impairment reversals of £34.4m (2020/21: impairment losses of £348.8m) and asset write offs of £nil
(2020/21: £7.4m) were recognised within operating costs. These net impairment reversals are primarily driven by an increase in
anticipated cash flows. and a decrease in the discount rate reflecting reduced market risk and volatility. The losses/{reversals) were
recognised on the following classes of assets:

202122 202021
£m £m

Impairment losses
Property, plant and equipment — impairment losses 10.1 61.2
Praperty, plant and cquipment — impairment reversals (30.4) -
Property, plant and equipment — transfer to assets held for sale 58 32
Intangible assets — goodwill - 2388
Right-of-use assets — impairment losses 0.4 36.7
Right-of-use assets - impairment reversals 22.1) -
Investmenis in joint ventures 1.8 82
Assets held for sale - 0.7

Asset write offs

Property, plant and equipment - carly stage expansion projects - 57
IT assets - 1.7
(3.4 356.2

All of the impairment assessments take account of expected market conditions which include future risks including climate change
and climale change related legislation.
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14. Tmpairment {continued)
Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets — impairment review

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent easing of restrictions. the Group identified indicators of both impairment
and impairment reversals and as a result performed an impairment assessment of all trading sites. This resulted in net impairment
reversais of £20.3m (2020/21: impairment loss of £61.2m) being recorded in refation to property. plant and equipment in the UK
and pet impairment reversals of £21.7m (2020/21: impairment loss £36.7m) being recorded in relation to right-of-use asseis in the
UK.

The Group considers each trading site to be a CGU. Where indicators of impairment are identified. an impairment assessment is
undertaken. In assessing whether an assct has been impaired, the carrying amount of the site s compared to its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal.

The Group calculates a vatue in use (VIU) for cach site. Where the VIU is lower than the carrying value of the CGU, the Group uses
a range of methods for estimating the fair value less costs of disposal (FVLCD). These include applying a market multiple to the
CGU EBITDAR and, for leasehold sites. present value techniques using a discounted cash flow method. Both FVLCD methods rely
on inpuls not normally observable by market participants and are therefore level 3 measurements in the fair value hicrarchy.

The key assumptions used by management in estimating value in use were:

Discount rates

The discount rate is based on the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC]) of a typical market participant, taking into account
specific country and currency risks associated with the Group. The average pre-tax discount rate used is 8.7% in the UK, and
7.3% in Germany (2021: 9.5% UK and 8.9% Germany). The discount rate has decreased reflecting market velatility in the spot
risk-free rate and equity risk premium inputs used in the Group™s WACC calculation.

Approved budget period

Forecast cash flows for the initial five-year period are based on actual cash flows for FY 20 being the period betore the impact of
the COVID-19 pandemic and applying management’s assumptions of the impact of the pandemic and expected recovery period.

The key assumptions used by management in sctting the Board approved financial budgets for the initial five-year period were as
follows:

+ Normalised trading: Actual results from FY 20 have been used as a basis for the budget as they represent normalisedtrading
before the impact of COVID-19.

L}

Forecast growth rates: Porecast growth rates are based on the Group business plan which includes assumptionsaround
the timing and profile of the UK and German economies” recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Operating profits are forecast bascd on historical experience of operating margins. adjusted for the impact of
inflation and cost-saving initiatives.

* Local factors impacting the site in the current year or expected to impact the site in future years. Key assumptions include
the maturity profile of individual sites, the future potential of immature sites and the impact of increasing or reducing
market supply in the local area.

Long-term growih rates

A long-term growth rate of 2.0% (202 1: 2.0%) was used for cash flows subsequent to the five-year approved budget/plan period.
This long-term growth rate is a conservative rate and is considercd to be lower than the long-term historical growth rates of the
underlying territories in which the CGUs operate and the long-term growth rate prospects of the sectors in which the CGUs
operate.

The key assumptions used by management in estimating the FVIL.CD were;:

EBITDAR multiple
An EBITDAR multiple is estimated based on a normalised trading basis and market data obtained from external sources. This
resulted in a multiple in the range of 9 to 11 times.

Discounted cash flows

The key assumptions used by management in estimating the FV{.CI} on a discounted cashflow method were simifar to those used
in the value in use assessment. moditied to reflect estimated cost of disposal and lease payments. The inclusion of lease payments
is reflected in the discount rate. increasing WACC for the specific asset class from 8.7% to 9.7%.
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Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

The level of impairment is predominantly dependent upon judgements used in arriving at future growth rates and the discount
rates applied 1o cash flow projections. The impact on the impairment charge of appiying a reasonably possible change in
assumptions to the growth rates used in the five-vear business plans, long-term growth rates, pre-tax discount rates and EBITDAR

multiple would be an incremental impairment charge/(reversal) in the year to 3 March 2022 of:
Property, plant and
equipment and right-of
use assets

£fm

Increase to impainment charge/ireversal) if discount rate increased by 2.0% 249
Increase to impairment charge/(reversal) if long-term growth reges reduced by 1% 189
Inerease to impairment charge/(reversal) if EBFTDAR multiple reduced by 10% 31
The above sensitivity analvses are based on a change in an assumption whilst holding all other assumptions constant.
In practice. this is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be corrclated.
The impairment sensitivities above show the downside risk from a reasonable possible change in the modelled assumptions
and are in line with disclosure requirements.
Goodwiil
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to groups of CGUs at an operating segment level, being the level at
which management monitors goodwill. An analysis of goodwill by operating segment is:

UK Germany Total

£m fm fm
At 27 February 2020 110.5 - 110.5
Recognised on acquisition of a subsidiary - 2242 2242
Foreign exchange - 14.6 4.6
Impairment - (238.8) (238.8)
At 25 February 2021 and 3 March 2022 1105 - 110.5

In the prior year an impairment of £238.8m was recorded in relation to goodwill arising on the acquisition of Foremost Hospitality
Hiex GmbH. reflecting the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on current and future growth rates.

The recoverable amount is the kigher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use using the same assumptions as those used in
the site level impairment reviews. The recoverable amount has been determined from value in use calculations. The future cash flows
are based on assumptions from the approved budget and cover a tive-year period. These forecasts include management’s most recent
view of medium-term trading prospects. Cash flows beyond this period are extrapolated using a 2.0% (2021: 2.0%) growth rate. The
pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 8.7% for the UK and 7.3% for Germany (2021:9.5% UK and 8.9%
Germany).

As a result of the German goodwill being impaired in the prior year and the level of headroom within the UK scgment. there is no
reasonably possible change that couid result in a further material impairment of goodwill.

Investments in joint ventures

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on trading and future forecasts for trading at the Group’s joint ventures.,
An impairment review was carried out during the year ended 25 February 2021 and an impairment charge of £8.2m recorded in
the financial statements relating to the Group’s investment in Healthy Retail Limited. Additional loan funding of £1.8m has been
provided to Healthy Retail Limited in the year to 3 March 2022 and subsequently impaired.

Property, plant and equipment — assets held for sale

During the period. four hotels were transferred to assets held for sale. resulting in an impairment charge of £5.8m (2020/21: seven
hotels resulting in an impairment charge of £3.2m}. In addition, during 2020/21, an impairment charge of £0.7m was recorded in
relation to assets which had previously been classitied as held for sale as a result of a reduction in expected sales procceds.
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Premier Inn Hotels LLC
The Group holds a 49% interest in Premier Inn Horels LLC, a joint venture which operates Premier Inn branded hotels in the
United Arab Emirates. The investment forms part of the Group's international growth strategy.

Premier Inn Hotels LLC holds a 49% investment in Premier Inn Qatar Limited. During the year, the Group subscribed for share
capital of £1.4m {2020/21: £1.3m).

Healthy Retail Limited

The Group holds a 49% interest in Healthy Retail Limited. a joint venture which operates a chain of 20 stores in London trading
as “Pure’, that specialiscs in fresh, natural healthy meals. The impact of COVID-19 has had a significant impact on the company’'s
trading and on 7 October 2020 Healthy Retail Limited entered into a Creditor's Voluntary Agreement (CVA). Healthy Retail
Limited has also obtained a Coronavirus Business interruption Loan Scheme facility which is in priority to the Group’s security
over loans advanced to the joint venture. The Group has impaired its investments and loans made to liealthy Retail Limited in
full, resulting in a charge of £1.8m (2020/21: £8.2m).

The Group has an option to purchase the remaining 51% interest which expires on 31 December 2022, The Group continues
to account for the investment as a joint venture on the basis that the majority sharcholders have an equal representation on the
investee's board of directors who have control over the relevant activities of the business, and the potential voting rights under
the option to purchase arc not considered to be substantive.

Premier Inn Kier Limited
The Group holds a 50% investment in this dormant UK entity.

Movement in investment in joint ventures

2021/22 202021

£m fm

Opening investment in joint ventures 373 54.8
Share of profit/(loss) for the year 04 an
Foreign exchange movements 20 (3.3
Loans advanced 1.8 -
Impairment' (1.8) (8.2)
Interest on loans - 0.4
Capital contribution 1.4 i3
Closing investment in joint ventores 41.1 373

ncludes an impairment of loans advanced to joint ventures of £1.8m (2020/21: £3.8m) determined under [FRS 9.
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Summary of joint ventures’ balance sheets

2022 2021
Premier Inn  Healthy Retail Premier Inn Ilealthy Retail
Hotels LLC Limited Total Hotels LL.C Limited Total
fm £m £m £in £m fm
Current assels 9.1 2.0 1.1 6.7 08 7.5
Non-current assets 1412 20.2 161.4 1381 263 1644
Current liabilities (10.4) (15.9) {26.3) (1.4 {14.D {25.5)
Non-current liabilities (56.0) (16.1} {72.1) (37.2) (19.3) (79.5})
Net assets 839 {9.8) 74.1 FLv {6.3) 69.9
(rroup’s share of inlerest in joint ventures' nel assets 41.1 (4.9} 36.2 373 .0 342
Premium paid on acquisition - 4.5 4.5 - 4.3 45
Loans to joint ventures - 7.5 7.5 - 58 58
Accumulated impairment - (7.1} (7.1) - (7.2} .2
Group’s carrying amount of the investment 411 - 41.1 373 - 373
Within gross balance sheets:
Cash and cash equivaiems 0.9 L6 8.5 52 - 52
Current financial liabilities 4.6} (13.1) (17.7) 3.6) (109} (14.5)
Non-current financial liabilities (56.0) {16.1} (1.1 (56.8) (19.3) (76.1)
Summary of joint ventures’ income statement
2622 2021
Premier Inn Healthy Retail Premuer Inn - Healthy Retaii
Hotels LLC Limited Total Hotels LLC Limited Totai
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Revenue 18.2 118 300 1.2 4.5 15.7
Other income - 0.3 03 - 24 24
Depreciation and amortisation (4.6) .2) (8.8) 5.9 4.5 (10.4)
[mpairment - - - (3.5) - (3.5
Other operating costs (10.9) (10.5) (21.4) (112} 6.1 (17.3)
Finance costs 2.0 (1.3 3.3) (2.6) (1.2) {3.8)
Profit/{loss) before tax 0.7 3.9 (3.2) (12.0) (4.9 (16.9)
Income tax - - - - - -
Profit’{ioss) after tax 0.7 (3.9 (3:2) (12.0} (4.9} (16.9)
Other comprehensive income - - - - . -
Total comprehensive income 0.7 39 (3.2) (12.0% {4.9) (16.9)
Group share:
Profit/(loss) after tax! 0.4 - 0.4 (5.9 (1.8 1h

Other comprehensive income - - R - - R

! The Group share of loss after tax of Healthy Retail Limited has been secogmised only to the extent that its share of losses equals its inferest in the joint
venture. following the impairment recorded during the prior year.

At 3 March 2022, the Group’s share of the capital commitments of its joint ventures amounted to £0.1m (2021: £0.1m).
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16, Inventories

2422 2021
£m £m
Finished goods held for resale 15.0 75
Consumables 44 4.6
194 2.1
The carrying value of inventories is stated net of a provision of £2.3m (2021{: £5.5m).
17. Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
£m £m
Trade receivables 45.5 221
Prepavinents and accrued income 242 17.6
Other receivables 46.7 345
1164 74.2

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms. Trade receivables includes £44 2m (2021:
£16.0m) relating to contracts with customers. Other receivables include £14.7m (2021: £14.0m) in relation to grants and other support
receivable from the UK and German governments (see Note 9).

The allowance for expected credit loss relating to trade and other receivables at 3 March 2022 was £2.0m (2021: £1.3m). During the
year, credit losses of £2.7m (2020/21: £0.7m) were recognised within operaling costs in the consolidated income statement.

18. Cash and cash equivalents

2022 2021

£m £m

Cash at bank and ih hand 43.5 19.2
Money market funds 757.3 1.011.8
Short term deposits 331.6 225.0
1,132.4 1.256.0

Short-term deposits are made for varving periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group. They earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

The Group does not have material cash balances which are subject to contractual or regulatory restrictions.
For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the amounts as disclosed above.

19. Borrowings

Amounts drawn down on the Group's borrowing facilities are as follows:

Current Non-current

2022 2021 2022 2021
£m fm £m £m
Revolving credit facility - - - -
Private placement loan notes - 3120 - -
Senior unsecured bonds - - 9919 990.5
- 3120 9919 9905

Covenants

The Group had received covenant test waivers for its revolving credit facility covering the period to 2 March 2023, Under the
terms of the waivers. the Group was required to maintain £400.0m cash and/or headroom under undrawn committed bank
facilities and total nct debt must not exceed £2.0bn.

Following the release of the Ultimate Parent Group's financial statements, the Group notified its lending banks of its intention to remove
the covenant waivers that existed on its revelving credit facility. and issued a compiiance certificate to reinstate the original covenants,

being:

Net Debt!//Adjusted EBITDA! <3 5x
Adjusted EBITDA/Interest' >3.0x
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19. Borrowings (continued)
Covenants (continued)
On 25 May 2022. the Group signed a new Revolving Credit Facility Agreement. which contains one financial covenant ratio, being:

Net Debt!/Adjusted EBITDA' <3.5x

"' The covenant measures are calculated pre-1FRS 16

Revolving credit facility (£850m}

On 29 January 2021, the Group agreed to amend and extend its revolving credit facility (RCF). The agreement gave tetal committed
credit of £850.0m available until 7 September 2022, On 25 May 2022 the Group signed a new 5 vear £775m multicurrency Revelving
Credit Facility Agreement to replace the existing facility. The facility is o Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agreement and has variable
interest rates with GBP being linked to SONIA and EUR being linked to EURIBOR,

At 3 March 2022, the Group had available £850.0m (2021: £930.0m) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of
revolving credit facilities on which all conditions precedent had been met.

Private placement loan notes

On 26 March 2021, the Group repaid loan notes with a principal value of £200.0m originally due for repayment in August 2027,
An early repayment charge of £21,2m was recorded in the financial statements tor the year ended 25 February 2021, As a result
of the hedging arrangements in place. the total cash outflow recorded by the Group was £220.4m.

On 6 September 2021, the Group repaid loan notes on maturity with a principal value of £25.0m. On 14 December 2021, the
Group repaid loan notes with a principal value of US$93.5m originally due for repayment in January 2022. As a result of the
hedging arrangements in place. the total cash outflow recorded by the Group was £83.5m.

Senior unsecured bonds
The Group has issued senior unsecured bonds with coupons and maturities as shown in the following table:

Title Year issued Principal value Maturity Coupon

2025 senior unsecured bonds 2015 £450.0m 16 October 2025 3.375%
2027 senior unsecured green use of proceeds bond 2021 £300.0m 31 May 2027 2375%
2031 senior unsecured green use of proceeds bond 202t £250.0m 31 May 2031 3.000%

The 2027 green use of proceeds bonds were issued on 10 February 2021, Interest is payable annually on 31 May. The bonds were
initially priced at 99.516% of face value and are unsecured.

The 2031 green use of proceeds bonds were issued on 10 February 2021, Iaterest is payable annually on 31 May. The bonds were
initially priced at 99.327% of face value and are unsecured.

On issue of these bonds, the Group received net proceeds of £546.8m and incurred arrangement fees of £2.8m. The bonds contain
an early prepayment option which meets the definition of an embedded derivative. This was assessed to have a value of £nil as at
the vear end.

Arrangement fees of £3.4m (2021: £3.9m) directly incurred in relation to the bond facilities are included in the carrying value and
arc being amortised over the term of the facilities.

UK Government CCFF

The Group’s eligibility to issue commercial paper under the UK Government Covid Corporate Financing Facility expired on 22
March 2021, The Group's issuer limit was £300.0m, reduced from an initial limit of £600.0m following the reduction in Whitbread’s
credit rating to BBB-. The Group did not draw down on the facility during the year or prior to its expiry on 22 March 2021.
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20. Movements in cash and net debt

Fair value Amortisation of

25 February Cost of Net new lease Foreign adjustments  premiums and 3 March
2021 borrewings  Cash flow liabilities exthange to joans discounts 2022
Year ended 3 March 2022 £n £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 1,256.0 - (123.00 - {0.6) - - L1324
Liabilities from financing
aclivities;
Borrowings (1,302.5) - 303.9 - 8.1 - (1.4} [ 8]
Lease liabilities (3,231.6) - 127.1 {619.4) 2.1 - - (3,701.8)
Derivatives held to hedge 58 - - - - (5.8) - -
financing activities
Total liabilities from financing (4.528.3) - 431.0 (619.4) 3.2 (5.8) {14} {4.693.7}
activities
Less: Lease liabihities 3.2316 - {127.1) 6194 (22.1) - - 37018
Less: Derivatives held to hedge (5.8) - - - - 5.8 - -
financing activitics
Net (debt)/cash (46.5) - 180.9 - 7.5 - (1.4) 140.8
Fair value  Amortisation of
27 February Cost of Net new lease Foreign  adjustments  premiums and 25 February
2020 borrowings Cash flow fiabilities exchange to Inans discounts 2021

Year ended 25 February 2021 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 502.6 - 752.0 - i4 - - [.256.0
Liabilities from financing
activities:
Borrowitigs {825.5) 55 (471.7) - 58 7.5 {24.1) (1.302.5)
Lease habilities (2,620.6) - 79.0 {686.9) {3.) - - (3,2316)
Derivatives held to hedge 17.7 . - - - (11.93 - 58
financing activities
Total liabilities from financing (3.4284) 33 (392.7) (686.9) 27 4.4 (241 (1.528.3)
activities
Less: [.case liabilities 2.620.6 - {79.0) 6869 31 - - 32316
Less: Derivatives held to hedee (17.7) - - - - 119 - (3.8
financing activities
Net (debtj/cash (322.9) 55 2803 - 72 75 24 1; {46.3)
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21. Lease arrangements

The Group leases various buildings which are used within the Premier Inn business, The leases are non-cancellable operatingleases
with varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. and include vartable payments that are not fixed in amount but based
upon a percentage of sales. The Group also leases various plant and equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements.

An analysis of the Group’s right-of-use assct and lease liability is as follows:

Right-of-use asset

T'otal right- Investment

Property Other of-use assets property Total

£m £m £m £m £m

At 27 February 2020 22713 22 22737 - 22737
Additions 4277 i0 4287 15.4 444.1
Recognised on acquisitions of a subsidiary 1933 - 1933 519 245.2
Impairment (36.7) - (36.7) - (36.7)
Foreign currency adjustment 29 - 29 0.7 15
Depreciation (1220 {[.3) {12333 3.0) (126.3)
Terminations - (2) (0.2) - 0.2}
At 25 Febrary 2021 2,736.7 1.7 2,738.4 65.0 2,803.4
Additions 6129 08 613.7 - 613.7
Impairment 21.7 - 21,7 - 2L7
Foreign currency adjustment (22.9) - (22.9) - 22.9)
Depreciation (144.0) {1.1) {145.1) 3.0 (148.1)
Termirations (0.2) - 0.2) - (0.2}
Transfers 62.0 - 62.0 62.) -
At 3 March 2022 3.266.2 14 3,267.6 - 3.267.6

Lease liability
Total lease Investment

Property Other liabilities property ‘Total

£m £m £ £m £m

At 27 February 2020 26188 i.8 2.620.6 - 2.620.6
Additions 4199 i.0 4209 16.0 4369
Recognised on acquisitions of a subsidiary 1933 - 1933 51.9 2452
Interest 122.0 0.1 1221 11 1232
Foreign currency adjustment 25 - 25 0.6 31
Payments (189.9) (1.3) (191.2) 3.6) (194.8)
Terminations 24 (0.2) (2.6) - {2.6)
At 25 February 2021 3,164.2 1.4 3.165.6 66.0 32316
Additions 618.8 08 619.6 - 619.6
Interest 1320 0.1 132.1 1.1 1332
Foreign currency adjustment (22.1) - L - (22.1)
Payments (255.9) (0.8) (256.7) (3.6) (260.3)
Terminations 0.2} - {0.2) - (0.2}
Transfers 63.5 - 63.5 (63.5) -
At 3 March 2022 3,700.3 15 3,701.8 - 3,701.8

During the year, the Group had non-cash additiens to right-of-use asscts and lease liabilities of £583.3m (2020/21: £399.7m)
relating o new leascs and £34.3m (2020/21: £36.8m) relating to amendments to existing leases. The Group received cash lease
incentives of £2.0m {2020/21: £2.7m) and paid cash lease incentives of £nil (2020/21: £7.6m) on entering new and amended
leases.

A maturity analysis of gross lease liability payments is included within Note 23.
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21. Lease arrangements (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 16: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

During the final quarier of the prior financial year. the Group underpaid lease payments with a total value of £22.7m, As a result, the
underpaid amount was included within lease Habilities in the consolidated balance sheel. Substantially alt of these amounts were paid
in FY22. The Group carly adopted the requirements of Amendments to IFRS 16: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions during the prior
vedr. As a result of early adopting these requirements. rent deferrals which would otherwise have been treated as lease modifications
were accounted for as if the change was not a lease modification. The adoption of the amendments had no impact on the consolidated
income statement.

Ameounts recognised in the Group ineome statement

202122 2020/21

£m £m

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 148.1 1263
Interest expense on lease liabilities 133.2 1232
Expense relating to low-value assets and short-terim leases - -
Variable lease payment expense/(credit) 0.3 {0.6)
Impairment {reversalsylosses of right-of-use assets (Note 14) 217 36.7
L ease income (7.9) (1.8)
2520 2778

Amounts recognised in the Group cash flow statement
The Group’s tolal cash outflow in relation to leases was £260.6m (2020/21: £201.8m).

Future possible cash outflows not included in the lease liability
The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. Set out below are the undiscounted future rental
payments relating to periods following the exercise date of extension and termination options that are not included in the lease liability.

2021722 2020121

£m £m

Extension options expected not to be exercised 906.6 797.6
Termination options expected to be exercised - -
906.6 797.6

The Group uses judgement in determining whether termination and extension option periods will be included within the lease term. The
Group assumes that. unless a decision has been made to exit a lease. termination options will not be exercised as a result of historic
practices within the Group. At the outset of a lease, the Group assumes that it will not exercise extension options. Due to the length of
the Group's leases, there is generally insufficient evidence that excreising an extension option is certain.

Future increases or decreases in rentals linked to an index or rate are not included in the lease liability until the change in cash flows
lakes effect. Approximately 71% of the Group’s lease liabilities are subject 10 inflation-linked rentals and a further 14% are subject to
rent reviews. Rental changes linked to inflation or rent reviews typically occur on an annual or five-yearly basis.

As at 3 March 2022. the Group was committed to leases with future cash outflows totaliing £2,106.7m (2021: £2.650m) which had not
vet commenced and as such are not accounted for as a liability. A liability and corresponding right-of-use assct will be recognised for
these leases at the fease commencement date,

The Group as a lessor

The Group acts as a lessor in relation to a number of non-trading legacy sites and in subletting space within trading sites. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was £7.9m (2020/21: £7 8m). Future minimum rentals receivable under non-
cancellable operating leases at the year-end are as follows:

202122 202021

fm £m

Within one year 2.9 7.9
Afier one year but not more than five years 52 10.0
More than five years 6.4 10.7
145 28.6

69



Whitbread Group PLC

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

22. Provisions

Onerous Property Insurance  Government
Restructuring contracts costs Claims Payments Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 27 February 2020 20 111 319 - - 34 48.4
Created 58 409 - 22 36 - 16.5
Transferred - - - 6.8 - - 6.8
Utilised (3.8 {4.3) (129 (1.8) - 0.5 (25.1)
Released {0.9) (1.6} (3.3) - - (L.3) (7.1)
AL 25 February 2021 1.1 10.1 15.7 7.2 3.6 1.8 39.5
Created 0.4 0.9 - 3.0 11.8 - 16.1
Utilised (0.8) (3.3} ®.1) 2.0 (38) - 21.0)
Released (0.3) (0.7} - - (2.3) - 3.3)
At 3 March 2022 0.4 5.0 6.6 8.2 9.3 1.8 31.3
Analysed as:
Current 04 25 5.2 0.4 93 18 19.6
Non-current - 23 1.4 78 - - 11.7
At 3 March 2022 0.4 5.0 6.6 8.2 93 1.8 313
Analysed as:
Current 1.1 83 15.7 - 3.6 1.8 305
Non-current - 1.8 - 7.2 - - 9.0
At 25 February 2021 [N 10.1 15.7 72 36 1.8 39.5
Restructuring

A provision of £1.1m was brought forward in relation to the restructure of the Groups support centre and site operations
announced as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. During the year the Group utilised £0.8m of the provision and £0.3m was
released to the income statement.

Onerous contracts

Onerous contract provisions relate primarily to property, software licences and supplicr contracts where the contracts have
become onerous. Provision is made for property-related costs for the period that a sublet or assignment of the lease is

not possible.

Onerous contract provisions arc discounted using a discount rate of 2.0% (2021: 2.0%) based on an approximation for the time
valuc of moncy.

Property

The amount and timing of the cash outflows are subject to variation. The Group utilises the skills and expertise of both internal
and external property experts to determine the provision held. Provisions are expected to be utilised over a period of up to

12 years and £0.3m has been utilised in the year.

Software

Certain software licence agreemenis were deemed to be onerous whe, following the disposal of Costa, it was no longer
beneficial to the Group 1o use the software. At the year-end. a provision ot £0.8m (2021: £3.0m) was held for future
unavoidable costs on such agreements. to be utilised over a period of up to three years. The software intangible assets
associated with these contracts have been fully impaired in previous financial years.

A provision of £1.1m was ¢reated in FY20 as a result of the cancellation of a contract relating to the supply of IT equipment.
During the year, the Group utilised £0.4m of the provision.

Supplier contracts

Certain supplier contraci arrangements were deemed to be onerous where, as a result of the reduced trading brought on by

the COVID-19 pandemic restrictions minimum order commitments were not going to be met. A provision of £3.3m was brought
forward in relation to these contracts. During the year the Group utiliscd £2.4m of the provision and released £0.7m of the
provision to the income statentent.
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22. Provisions (continued)

Property costs

From FY 18 to FY20. the Group established a provision for the performance of remedial works on cladding material at a small
number of the Group’s sites. As a result, a provision of £15.7m was brought forward in relation to these costs. During the year
£9.1m of the provision has been utilised and £nil of costs have been released. The remaining provision is expected io be utilised
within one year,

In addition, the Group has reccived £nii (2020/21; £13.4m of) reimbursements of those costs from property developers. The Group
continues to pursue further reimbursements which are not recognised as the recovery is rot certain.

The Group utilises the skills and expertisc of both internal and external property ¢xperts t¢ determine the provision held.

Insurance

A provision of £7.2m was brought forward in relation to the estimate of the cost of future ¢claims against the Group [rom
employees and the public. The claims covered typically rclate to accidents and injuries sustained in Whitbread’s sites. During
the year further provisions of £3.0m were created and £2.0m of the provision was utilised.

Government payments

The Group has made various claims for government support which are subject to the review by relevant agencies.

The provision recognised represents the Group's best estimate of amounts potentially repayable under previously submitted
claims, and for potential historical indirect tax repayments. A provision of £3.6m was broughi forward in relation to these
claims. During the year further provisions of £11.8m were created and £3.8m of the provision was utilised. Duc to the complex
nature and fast pace of changes in the rules around certain government payments, the Group has endeavoured to apply and
adhere to the rules in place. In certain areas where a rule interpretation was required. the Group has claimed in accordance with
its assumptions. Subsequent 3rd party review has highlighted an alternative assumption could be formed and on the basis of a
probable outflow a provision based on that approach has been made.

Other

In July 2016. the Group announced its intention to exit hotel operations in South East Asia. This resulted in the recognition

of a provision of £3.7m for risks arising from indemnity agreements. At 3 March 2022, £1.8m of the provision was still held for
risks arising from indemnity agreements. The remaining costs are expected to be utilised within one year.

23, Financia! risk management and objectives

The Group’s principa! financial instruments. other than derivatives. comprise bank loans. private placement loans, senior
unsecured bonds, cash. short-ierm deposits, trade receivables and trade payables. The Board agrees policies for managing the
financial risks summarised below:

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations.
Interest rate swaps are used where necessary to maintain a mix of fixed and floating rate borrowings to manage this risk, in line
with the Group treasury policy. The interest rate swaps for sterling were expired in February 2022, At the year-end. £991.9m
{100%) of Group debt was fixed for an average of 5.5 years at an average interest rate of 3.0% (2021: £1.302.5m {100%) for 5.3
years at 3.0%),

In accordance with IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, the Group has undertaken sensitivity analysis on its financial
instruments which are affected by changes in interest rates. This analysis has been prepared on the basis of a constant amount of
net debt, a constant ratio of fixed to floating interest rates, and on the basis of the hedging instruments in place at 3 March 2022
and 25 February 2021 respectively. Consequently. the analysis relates to the situation at those dates and is not representative of
the years then ended. The following assumptions were made:

+ balance sheet sensitivity 1o interest rates applies only to derivative financial instruments. as the carrying value ofdebt and
deposits does not change as interest rates move: and

- pains or losses are recognised in equity or the consolidated income statement in line with the Groups accounting policies.

Based on the Group’s net debt/cash position at the vear-end, a 1% pt change in interest rates would affect the Group’s profit
before tax by £11.3m (2021: £12.5m). and have nil impact on equity (2021: £0.8m).
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Liguidity risk

In its funding strategy. the Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between the conlinuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of overdrafts and bank loans. This strategy includes monitoring the maturity of financial Liabilities to avoid the risk of a
shortage of funds.

Excess cash used in managing liquidity is placed on interest-bearing deposit where maturity is fixed at no more than three months.
Short-term flexibility is achieved through the use of short-term borrowing on the money markets,

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 3 March 2022 and 25 February 2021
based on contractual undiscounted payments, including interest:

Less than 3 Jto 12 More than Carrying

On demand months months  11t0 5 vears 5 years Total value

3 March 2022 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings - 19.0 15.2 554.1 594.6 1,182.9 991.9
[ ease liabilities' - 67.3 2065 1,116.5 4,918.3 6,308.6 3,701.8
Trade and other payables 1.295.0 163.6 124 1.2 - 14722 1.471.9
1,295.0 2499 234.1 1,671.8 55129 8,963.7 6,156.6

Less than 3 Jte 12 More than Carrying

On demand months months I to 5vears 5 vears Totat value

25 February 2021 £m £m £m £m fm £fm fm
Enterest-bearing loans and borrowings - 2218 1024 5737 609.3 1.507.2 13025
Lease liabilities' - 54.6 175.1 9253 45134 5.668.6 32316
Derivative financial instruments - - 24 - - 24 24
Trade and other payables 1,265.1 65.0 377 268 - 1,394.6 1,3929
1,265.1 3.4 3176 1,526.0 51227 85728 59294

' Contractual undiscounted payments relating 10 lease liabilities due in more than 5 vears includes £1.324.5m (2021: £1,140.2m) due between 3 and 10 vears.
£1.925.3m (2021: £1.359.4m) due between 10 and twenty vears and £1,668.5m (2021: £1,513.8m) due in mwore than 20 years.

Credit risk

Due to the high level of cash held at the year-end, the most significant credit risk faced by the Group is that arising on cash and
cash equivalents. The Group’s exposure arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
value of these instruments. The Group seeks to minimise the risk of default in refation to cash and cash equivalents by spreading
investments across a number of counterparties and dealing in accordance with Group Treasury Policy which specifies acceptable
credit ratings and maximum investments for any counterparty.

In the event that any of the Group's banks get into financial difficulty. the Group is exposed to the risk of withdrawal of currently
undrawn committed facilities. This risk is mitigated by the Group having a range of counterparties 1o its facilities.

The Group is exposed to a smatl amount of credit risk attributable to its trade and other receivables. This is minimised by dealing
with counterparties with good credit ratings. The amounts included in the balance sheet are net of expected credit losses, which
have been estimated by management based on prior experience and any known factors at the balance sheet date.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other receivables, loans to jeint ventures, derivatives and
cash and cash equivalents is £1,240.4m (2021: £1.327.4m).

Foreign currency risk
Foreign exchange exposure is currently not significant to the Group.

The Group monitors the growth and risks associated with its overseas operations and will undertake hedging activities as and

when they are required. In October 2019 the Group entered into a net investment hedge to manage the impact of movements in
the GBP:EUR cxchange rate on the vatue of the Group’s investment in its business in Germany.
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Capital management

The Group's primary objective in regard to capital management is to ensure that it continues to operate as a going concern and has
sufficient funds at its disposal to grow the business for the benefit of shareholders. The Group seeks to maintain a ratio of debt to
equity that balances risks and returns and also complies with lending covenants. See finance review within the preliminary results
announcement of Whitbread PLC for the policies and objectives of the Board regarding capital management. analysis of the
Group’s credit facilities and financing plans for the coming years.

The Group aims to maintain sufficient funds for working capital and future investment in order to meet growth targets. The management
of equity through share buybacks and new issues is considered as part of the overall leverage framework balanced against the funding
requirements of future growth. In addition, the Group may carry out a number of sale and leasebacktransactions te provide further
funding for growth.

The Group has received covenant test watvers for its revolving credit faciity covering the period to 2 March 2023. In addition, it
has received covenant test waivers for its pension scheme and private placcment loan notes for the period to 3 March 2022
meaning that the private placement loan note covenants will not be tested prior to maturity. Under the terms of the waivers, the
Group is required to maintain £400.0m cash and/or headroom under undrawn committed bank facilities and total net debt must not
exceed £2.0bn. The covenants which have been walved relate to measurement of EBITDA against consolidated net finance
charges (interest cover) and total net debt (leverage ratio, on a not-adjusted-for pension and property lease basis),

The above matters are considered at regular intervals and form part of the business planning and budgeting processes. [n addition,
the Board reguolarly reviews the Group’s dividend policy and funding strategy.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
The Group has assumed that the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged risk or the cash flows of the hedged item or hedging

instrument are based is not altered by uncertainties resulting from the proposed interest rate benchmark reform.

The Group's RCF transitioned to the agreed Risk Free Rate (SONIA) from GBP LIBOR effective 1 January 2022.
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Amortised cost Fair value
Financial Hedging

Financial assets  liabilities instruments Other Carrying value

At 3 March 2022 £m £m £m £m £m
Trade and other receivables 922 - - - 92.2
Cash and cash equivalents 3751 - - 757.3 1,132.4
Interest — bearing loans and borrowings - (991.%) - - {991.9)
Lease liabilities - (3,701.8) - - (3,701.8)
Derivative financial instruments - - 15.8 - 15.8
Trade and other pavables - (151.8) - - {151.8}
Contingent consideration - - - (25.1) (25.1}

Amortised cost Fair value
Financial Hedging

Financial assets tiabilitzes mstruments Other  Carrying value

At 25 February 2021 fm fm £m £m fm
Trade and other receivables 56.6 - - - 36.6
Cash and cash equivalents 2442 - - 1.01E8 1.256.0
Interest - bearing loans and borrowings . (1,302 5) - - (1,302.5}
Lease liabilities - (3.231.6) - - (3.231.6}
Derivative financial instruments - - 124 - 12.4
Trade and other payables - (1.330.1) - - (1.330.1}
Contingent consideration - - - (62.8) (62.8)

Fair values

IFRS 13 Fair Value Mcasurement requires that the classification of financial instruments at fair value be determined by reference
to the source of inputs used to derive the tair value. The classification uses the following three-level hicrarchy:

. Level | — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or labilities;

. Level 2 — Other techniques for which all inputs. which have a signiticant effect on the recorded fair value, are
observable, either directly or indirectly: and

. Level 3 — Techniques which use inputs, which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value. that are not based

on observable market data.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significani to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost
The carrying value of trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents. and trade and other payables are considered tobe
reasonable approximations of their fair values largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of the Group’s borrowings is cstimated at £988.9m. The fair value of the Group’s borrowings is based on level 1
valuation techniques where there is an active market for the instrument and on level 2 valuation techniques otherwise,
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Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

2021722 202021
£m £m
Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments — level 2 15.8 14.8
Financial liabilities
Dernvative financial instruments — level 2 - 24
Contingent consideration — level 3 25.1 62.8

During the year ended 3 March 2022, there were no transfers between fair value measurement levels. Derivative financial
instruments include £15.8m assets (2021: £6.6m) and £nil Labilities (2021: £nil) due after one year. Contingent consideration
includes £1.2m (2021; £25.6m) due after one year.

The fair value of derivative instruments classitied as level 2 is calculated by discounting all future cash flows by the relevant
market discount rate at the balance sheet date,

The fair value of contingent consideration relating to acquisitions is classified as lcvel 3. Details of the valuation are included
in Note 25.

Derivative financial instruments

Cash flow hedges

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposcd to interest rate risk associated with drawdowns on the revolving credit facility during the year which
incur interest at a variable rate. The Group had interest rate swaps in place which matured in February 2022, In addition. the
Group did not draw down on the UK Government Covid Corporate Financing Facility during the year or prior to its expiry on
22 March 2021.

Foreign currency risk

The Group was exposed 1o foreign currency risk associated with the private placement bonds denominated in US$ and had
cross-currency swaps in place in relation to the interest and principal repayment. These bonds were repaid during the year (sce
Note 20) and therefore the cross currency swaps are no longer held.

Hedge of net investment in foreign operations

In October 2019, the group entered into cross-currency swaps. whereby it pays an average fixed rate of 2.12% on a notional
amount of €521.0m and receives a fixed rate of 3.375% on a notional amount of £430,0m. These swaps are being used as a net
investment hedge to manage the impact of movements in the GBP:EUR exchange rate on the vatue of the Group’s investment
in its business in Germany. The swaps mature in October 2025 in line with the bonds.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument as the net investment creates

a translation risk that will match the foreign exchange risk on the cross-currency swaps. The Group has established a hedge
ratio of 1:1 as the underlying risk of the hedging instrument is identical to the hedged risk component. The hedge ineffectiveness
will arise when the amount of the investment in the foreign subsidiary becomes lower than the nominal amount of the swaps.

The net investment hedges were assessed to be highly effective at 3 March 2022 and a net unrealised gain of £9.0m (2021: gain

of £8.5m} has been recorded in the wanslation reserve. The Group has recorded costs of hedging of £2.5m within finance costs
in the consolidated income statement as a result of the foreign currency basis spread within the hedging instrument.
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24, Financial instruments (Continued)

The impact ol the hedging instruments and hedged items on the staternent of financial position is as follows:

Change in fair
Line item in  value used for

Change in fair

statement of measuring value of
Notional Carrying financial incffectiveness hedged
At 3 March 2022 amount amount position tor the year Hedged item item
£m £m £m fm
Net investment in foreign operations
Derivative Net investment
financial in foreign
Cross-currency swaps 450.0 15.8 instruments 9.0 subsidiaries (9.0)
Change in fair
Line item in  value used for Change i fair
statement of measuring value of
Notional Carrying financial ineffectivencss hedged
At 25 February 2621 amount amount position for the year Hedged item ietn
£m £m £m fm
Cash flow hedges
Derivative Revolving
financial credit
Iaterest rate swaps 50.0 (2.4) instruments {04y facility 04
Derivative Us$
financial denominated
Cross-currency swaps 38.3 82 instrunents {54} foan notes 58
Net investment in foreign operations
Denivative Net investment
financial in foreign
Cross-currency swaps 450.0 6.5 instruments {8.5} subsidiaries 8.5

The impact of the hedging instruments in the consolidated income statement and other comprehensive income (OCI) is as follows:

Total hedging gain/(loss)  Amount reclassified
recognised n OCI  from OC1 to profit or

[Ling item in the
conselidated income

Acoumutated value
recognised in cash

fm loss statement  flow hedge reserve
£fm £m
202122
Interest rate swaps 0.2) 25 Finance costs -
Cross-currency swaps {8.0) 8.1 Finance cos{s -
2020/21
Interest rate swaps 0.4 24 Finance costs 2.4)
Cross-curtency swaps (0.5) 5.7 Finance costs 0.1
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24. Financial instruments (Continued)

Impact of hedging on equity

Set out below is the reconciliation of each component of equity and the analysis of other comprehensive income:

Cash fiow hedge Faorergn currency

eserve transiation

£m TESEIVE

tm

At 27 February 2020 (3.0) 186
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income:

- Interest rate swaps (0.4 -

- Cross-curtency swaps (5.4) -
Reclassified to profit or foss as hedged item effects profit or loss

- Interest rate swaps 24 "

- Cross-Currency swaps 5.7 -

Foreign exchange arising on consolidation - 19.3

Fair value movement on denvatives designated as net investment hedges . (8.3)

Deferred tax impact (0.6 (0.7}

At 23 February 2021 (.9 28.7
Change in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income:

- Intercst rate swaps 0.2y -

- Cross-currency swaps (8.0) -
Reclassified to profit or loss as hedged item effects profit or loss

- Interest rate swaps 2.5 -

- Cross-currency swaps 8.1 -

Foreign exchange arising on consolidation - {16.0)

Fair value movement on derivatives designated as net investiment hedges - 9.7

Deferred tax impact (0.5) 1.5

At 3 March 2022 - 243

Cash flow and fair value hedges arc expected 1o intpact on the consolidated income statement in line with the liquidity risk
table shown in Note 23. There have been no amounts reclassified to profit or loss as a result of the hedged cash {low no longer
being expected to occur. The foreign currency translation reserve includes an accumulated amount of £14.2m (2021: £4.5m)

relating to derivatives designated as net investment hedges.

25. Trade and other payables

2022 2021
£m £m
Trade payables 737 242
Other taxes and social security 258 26.5
Contract liabilities i46.2 413
Accruals 2230 14.3
Amounts due to parent undertaking 1.295.2 1.265.1
Other payables 78.1 47.0
Contingent consideration 25.1 62.8
1,867.1 16010

Analysed as:
Current 1.865.9 1,575.3
Non-current 1.2 257
1,867.1 1.601.0

Included with contract liabilities is £141.4m (2021: £37.5m) relating to pavments rcceived for accommodation where the stay will
take place after the year-end and £4.8m (2021: £3.8m) revenue deferred relating to the Group’s customer loyally programmes.
During the year, £41.3m presented as a contract liability in 2021 has been recognised in revenue (20212 £51.0m). The remaining

balance was refunded to customers following hotel closures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Trade payables typically have maturities up to 60 days depending on the nature of the purchase transaction and the agreed terms.
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25. Trade and other payables (Continued)

Contingent consideration

2021722 2020/21

£m £m

Opening contingent consideration 62.8 4.4
Recognised on acquisition of a subsidiary - 36.3
Recognised on acquisition of assets - 1.9
Unwinding of discount 14 21
Paid during the vear (36.3) 3.8
Foreign exchange movements 2.8} 19
25.1 62,8

Closing contingent consideration

The Group has contingent consideration in relation to 9 pipeline sites from acquisitions in the current and previous years which is

held at fair value. The amounts payable are fixed and become payable once development of the site is complete and the site has

been handed over to the Group which is expected to occur within three years. The fair value is calculated by discounting the future
payments from their expected handover date using a risk adjusted discount rate. A 1% decrease/increase in the discount rate would

increase/decrease the value of contingent consideration by £0.1m.

Foreign exchange movements on contingent consideration are recognised within exchange differences on translation of foreign

operations in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

26. Share capital

Allotted. called up and fully paid

2022 2021
£m £m
“A” Ordinary shares of 25 pence each (2021: 25 pence each) 11.0 1.0
Ordinary shares of 23 pence each (2021: 25 pence each) 122.7 122.7
133.7 1337
2022 2021
Million Milkion
Number of “A” ordinary shares in issue 4.0 44.0
Number or ordinary shares in issue 490.6 490.6
Total shares in issue 534.6 5346
The "A" shares have the same rights and rank equally with the ordinary shares. save that:
i a holder of "A" shares shall. on return of assets. whether on a winding-up or otherwisec. be entitled to participate
proportionately in the surplus assets of the Company remaining after the payment of its liabilities
il. a holder of "A" shares has no right as such to receive notice of or attend or vote at any general meeting of the
Company unless a resolution to vary or abrogate the rights attaching to such shares as proposed: and
iii. a holder of "A" shares is not entitled to any dividend or any other distribution (except as provided for in (i)
above),
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27. Reserves

Share capital
Share capital comprises the nominal value of the Company's ordinary shares of 23 pence cach.

Share premium
The share premium reserve is the premium paid on the Company’s 25 pence ordinary shares.

Retained earnings
In accordance with IFRS practice. retained earnings include revaluation reserves which arose on transition 1o IFRS.

Currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries. other forcign currency investments and cxchange differences on derivative instruments that
provide a hedge against net investments in foreign operations.

Hedging reserve
This reserve records movements for effective cash flow hedges measured at fair value.

28. Analysis of cash flows given in the cash flow statement

2021722 2020121
£m £m
(Loss)y/profit for the period 116 {930.9)
Adpustments for:
Tax {credit)/expense 6.7 (104.8)
Net finance costs (Note 8) 2105 197.7
Share of (profity/loss from joint ventures 0.4 7.7
Depreciation and amertisation 3269 3002
Share-based payments 129 12.7
Empairment (reversals)/write offs (Note 14) 3449 356.2
(Gains)losses on disposals, property and other provisions (28.8) (5.0)
Timing difference on insurance proceeds - 14.0
Other non-cash tems 7.7 26.1
Cash (used in)/generated from operations before working capital changes 5127 (126.1)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (7.3) L5
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other recervables 45.4) 278
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 2352 (129.1)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations 693.2 (225.9)

Other non-cash items include an inflow of £0.8m representing a bad debt charge, an inflow of £4.3m (2020/21: £9.2m) as a result of net
provision movements and an inflow of £2.6m (2020/21: £3.8m) representing non-cash pension scheme administration costs. During
2020/21. other non-cash items also include £12.4m representing the write off of a deposit paid in relation te an acquisition.
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29. Contingent liabilities
‘There are no contingent liabilities to be disclosed in the year ended 3 March 2022 (2021: none}.

Subsidiary audit exemptions

The following UK subsidiary undertakings are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act) relating to the
audit of individual accounts by virtue of section 479A of the Act.

¢ Premier Inn (UK) Ltd, 10206057

*  Premicr Inn Ochre Limited. 08143826

*  Whithread Hotel Company Limited. 00224163

«  Premier Inn Manchester Traftord Ltd, 03876877
«  Premier Inn Westminster Ltd, 011999669

« Elm Hotel Holdings Limited. 04425036

*  Whithread East Pennines Ltd, 00017030

+ St Andrews Homes Ltd, 00359470

+ T.I. Ashe & Nephew L.td, (30459284

»  Premier Travel Inn India Ltd, 06190455

« Premier Inn International Development Limited, 09190207
+  Whitbread West Pennines Ltd. 00026091

«  Whitbread Properties Lid, 00048574

*  Brickwoods Ltd. 006035113

*  Duttons Brewery Ltd, 00054931

«  Swift Hotwels Ltd, 00050371

+  Silk Street Hotels Ltd, 01033592

Whitbread Group PLC will guarantee all outstanding liabilities that these subsidiarics are subject to as at the financial year ended
3 March 2022 in accordance with section 479C of the Act, as amended by the Companics and Limited Liability Partnerships
{Accounts and Audit Exemptions and Change of Accounting Framework) Regulations 2012, In addition, Whitbread Group PLC
will guarantee any contingent and prospective liabilities that these subsidiaries are subject to.
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30. Share based payment plans

Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP)

The LTIP awarded shares to directors and senior executives of the Group. Vesting of all shares under the scheme depend on
coutinued employment and meeting earnings per share (EPS) and retum on capital employved (ROCE) performance targets
over a three-year period (the vesting period) in relation to Whitbread plc. The awards are settied in equity once exercised. No
further LTIP awards have been issued since FY20 as they have been replaced by the Restricted Share Plan options.

Deferred equity awards

Awards are made under the Whitbread Leadership Group Incentive Scheme. The awards are not subject to performance
conditions and will vest in full on the release date subject to continued employment at that date. If the director or senior
exccutive of the Group ceases to be an employee of Whitbread prior to the release date, normally three years after the award.
by reason of redundancy, retirement. death. injury, ill health, disability or some other reason considered to be appropriate by
the Remuneration Committee. the awards will be released in full. If employment ceases for any other reason, the proportion of
awards which vest depends upon the year in which the award was made and the date that employment ceased. If emplovment
ceases in the first year after an award is made, none of the awards vest. between the first and second anniversary. 25% vests
and between the second and third anniversary. 50% vests. The awards are settled in equity once exercised.

Performance Share Plan ‘
The Performance Share Plan (PSP) was a one-off award incentivising the executive directors on the separation of Cesta from i
the Whitbread Group and replaced the 2018 and 2019 LTIP awards for the executive directors. Vesting of the awards under the

scheme was triggered by completion of the separation of Costa from Whitbread and dependent on continued employment

and meeting return on capital employed (ROCE), Total Shareholder Return (TSR} and Strategic Objectives performance

targets. The vested award was subject to a two-year holding period and then settled in equity once exercised.

R&R Scheme :
The R&R Scheme enables Whitbread to make sharc awards periodically on a tlexible basis. There are typically no performance '
conditions but these can be imposed by Whitbread at time of grant. In 2018 a one-off award was madc to Whitbread’s senior

leaders (excluding executive directors) vesting in two tranches (March 2020 and March 2021). A similar award was made in

2020 vesting in March 2023 and March 2024. During the prior year. 187.781 awards previously madc to employees under the

Restricted Share Plan were replaced by 187,781 awards under the R&R scheme. The awards issued are subject to being in

employment at date of vesting with no performance conditions. [f employment at Whitbread ceases prior to the vesting date

by reason of resignation or terminated for cause. all unvested shares will lapse. [f employment ceases for any other reason,

any vesting will be at the discretion of the CED and if granted will be on a pro-rated basis to the leaving date. The awards arc

settled in equity once exercised.

Restricted Share Plan

At the general meeting held on 6 December 2019, it was agreed that the Restricted Share Plan would replace the Long-Term |
Incentive Plan. Vesting of all shares under the scheme will depend on continued employment and meeting earnings per share

(EPS) and return on capital employed (ROCE) underpin targets, in relation to Whitbread plc. over a period of at least three years.

After vesting there is an additional holding period such that the underpin measurement period and holding period is at least five

years. If employment at Whitbread ceascs prior to the vesting date by reason of resignation or terminated for cause, all unvested

shares will lapse. If employment ceases for any other reason, any vesting will be at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee

and if granted will be on a pro-rated basis to the leaving date. The awards are settled in equity once exercised.
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30. Share based payment plans (continued)

Movements in the number of share awards are as follows:

Outstanding
at the Granted Replaced Exercised Expired  Qutstanding  Exercisable
heginning of during the during the during the during the attheendof  af the end
J March 2022 the year year year year year the year  of the year
Long Term incentive Plan 149,688 - - (17.859) (1,330) 130,499 129,613
Deferred equity awards 242,160 4,345 - (79.978) (12,186) 154,341 5,998
R&R Scheme 652,851 12,146 - {139,583) (1.959) 523455 9,586
Restricted share plan 166,687 167,673 - - (19485) 254,875 -
1,151,386 184,164 - (237.426) (34,960) 1,063,170 145,197

Outstanding
atthe Granted Replaced Exercised Expired Outstanding ~ Exercisable
begirming of during the during the during the durtng the attheendof  atthe end of
25 February 2021 the year year! year year year the year the vear
Long Term Incentive Plan 342 422 36.848 - (84,094} (145.488) 149,688 61,472
Deferred equity awards 178,210 151.615 - {81.417) {(6,248) 242160 $.627
Performance share plan 162,627 31,228 - (193,855} - - -
R&R Scheme 234,035 352,824 187,781 (108.654) (I3.135) 632,851 22,135
Restricted share plan 69,191 239,533 (187.781) - (14.256) 106,687 -
986,485 812,048 . (468,020} (179,127) 1,151.386 93.234

*Awards granted during the year includes an adjustment of 138.563 shares as a result of the bonus factor of the rights issue which completed m June 2020

Employee Sharesave scheme

The employee Sharesave scheme is open to all employecs and provides for a purchase price equal to the market price on the

day preceding the date of invitation, with a 20% discouat. The shares can be purchased over the six-month period foflowing the
third or fifth anniversary of the commencement date. depending on the length chosen by the employee.

The weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of movements in the number of share awards are as follows:

2021722 202021
WAEPE WAEP £
. per ) per
Options share Options share
Ouistanding at the begirming of the vear 1,139.975 26.59 775,294 3225
Granted during the vear! 410,032 24.86 783,707 25.68
Exercised during the year (81,727) 26.15 (111.796) 25.37
Expired during the year (295,172) 26.65 (307.230} 27.53
Outstanding at the end of the year 1,173,108 26.01 1,139975 26.59
Exercisable at the year-end 89.941 30.66 101,400 2723

'Awards granted during the year includes an adjustment of 115,724 shares as a result of the bonus factor of the rights issue which completed in June 2020,

QOutstanding options to purchase ordinary shares of 76.80p between 2022 and 2027 are exercisable at prices between £25.33
and £31.62 per share (2021: between 2021 and 2026 at prices between £25.27 and £33.22). The weighied average share price
at the date of exercise for options exercised during the year was £31.63 (2021: £25.94).

The weighted average contractual life ol the share options outstanding as at 3 March 2022 is between two and three years,
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The following tabic lists the inputs to the mode) used for the years ended 3 March 2022 and 25 February 2021;

Expected
Exercise Priceat  Expected  dividend  Expected  Risk-free
price  grantdate term yield  volatility rate Vesting
Grant date £ £ Years % %o Y conditi

Deferred equity awards 27.04.2021 - 3297 3.00 0.75 N/A N/A Service®
Deferred equity awards 01.03.2020 - 23.63 3.00 0.25 N/A N/A Serviee!
R&R awards — 2 years 17.12.2020 - 31.60 2.00 - N/A N/A Service®
R&R awards - 3 vears 17.12.2020 - 3160 3.00 0.75 N/A N/A Service’
Restricted share plan 27.04.2021 - 3297 3.00 0.75 N/A N/A Non-market' 23+
Restricted share plan 01.03.2020 - 23.63 3.00 0.25 N/A N/A  Non- market'3*
SAYE -3 years 23.12.2021 24.86 29.63 3.25 2.00 43.0 0.69 Service
SAYE - 3 years 23.12.2020 25.33 31.38 3.25 0.75 45.0 0.02 Service’
SAYE - 5 years 23.12.2021 24.86 29.63 5.23 2.00 45,0 0.75 Service’
SAYE -3 vears 23.12.2020 2533 31.38 525 1.25 4350 (0.08) Service®

! Return on capital employed
* Earnings per share

* Employment service

¥ [ease adjusied net debt

The tair value of share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a stochastic model. taking into account the terms and

conditions upon which the options were granted.

Expected volatility reflects the assumption that historical volatility is indicative of future trends. which may not necessarily be the
actual outcome. The risk-free rate is the rate of interest obtainable from Government securitics over the expected life of the equity
incentive. The expected dividend vield is calculated on the basis of publicly available informaiion at the time of the grantdate

which, in most cases. is the historic dividend yield. No other features relating to the granting of options were incorporated into the

measurement of fair value.
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31. Retirement benefits

Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates a contracted-in defined contribution scheme under the Whitbread Group Pension Fund. Contributions
by both employees and Group companies are held in externally invested, trustee-administered funds.

The Group contributes a specified percentage of earnings for members of the above defined coniribution scheme. and
thereafter has no further obligations in relation to the scheme. The total cost charged to the censolidated income statement
in relation to the defined contribution scheme in the vear was £11.0m (2020/21: £10.8m). At the year-end. the Group owed
outstanding contributions of £nil (2021: £1.7m) in respect of the defined contribution scheme.

At the year-end. 23.449 emplovees (2021: 20.985) were active members of the scheme. which also had 52.303 deferred
members {(2021: 48,152).

Defined benefit scheme

The defined benefit (final salary) section of the principal Group pension scheme, the Whitbread Group Pension Fund. was
closed 1o new members on 31 December 2001 and to future accrual on 31 December 2009, The Whitbread Group Pension
Fund is set up under UK trust law, registered with Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs and regulated by the Pensions
Regulator. The Whitbread Group Pension Fund is governed by a corporate Trustce which operates the scheme in accordance
with the requirements of UK pensions legislation.

At the vear-end. the scheme had no active members (2021: nil). 18.606 deferred pensioners (2021: 19.243) and 16,089 pensions
in payment (2021: 16.143).

The surplus recognised in the consolidated balance sheet in respect of the defined bencfit pension scheme is the fair value

of the plan asscts lcss the present value of the defined benetit obligation at the end of the reporting period. The IAS 19

pension cost relating to the defined benefit section of the Whithread Group Pension Fund is assessed in accordance with
actuarial advice from, and calculations provided by, Lane Clark & Peacock, using the projected unit credit method. The present
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates

of high quality corporate bonds that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited

to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. As the scheme is closed to future accrual, there is no
future service cost.

The surplus has been recognised as, under the governing documentation of the Whitbread Group Pension Fund. the Group has
an unconditional right to receive a refund, assuming the gradual settlement of the scheme labilities over time until all members
and their dependants have either died or left the scheme, in accordance with the provisions of [FRIC 14 [AS 19 — The Limit on
a Defined Benefit Asset. Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is 17.0 years
(2021: 17.0 vears).

Funding

Expected contributions io be made in the next reporting period total £14.6m (2020/21: £13.7m). In 2021/22. contributions were
£13.0m with £2.6m from the employer, £10.3m from Moorgate Scottish L.imited Partmership (SLF) and £0.1m of benefits settled
by the Group in relation to an unfunded scheme (2020/21: £13.0m. with £2.7m from the employer. £10.2m from Moorgate

SLP and £0.1m of benefits settled by the Group in relation to an unfunded scheme). In addition. Whitbread paid £1.8m
(2020/21: £1.8m) of investment manager expenses.,

A scheme specific actuarial valuation for the purpose of determining the level of cash contributions 10 be paid into the

Whitbread Group Pension Fund was undertaken as at 31 March 2020 by Towers Watson Ltd using the projected unit credit
method. The valuation showed a surplus of assets relative o techaical provisions of £35.0m (31 March 2017: deficit of £430.0m}.
As a result, no deficit reduction contributions are due.

As part of the valuation discussion, Whitbread and the Pension Fund Trustee agreed changes to the security package that
supports the Pension Fund. The EBITDA related covenant was permanently removed and the security that the Trustee holds
over £500.0m of Whithread's frechold property (and which was due to reduce to £450.0m in March 2022) will increase to
£531.5m and will remain at this level until no further obligations are due under the Scottish Partnership arrangements which is
expected to be in 2025. Following that. the security held by the Trustee will be the lower of: £500.0m; and 120% of the buyv-out
deficit and will remain in place until there is no fonger a buy-out deficit.
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Investment in Moorgate SLP

The Pension Scheme will receive a share of the income. profits and a variable capital payment from its investment in Moorgate
SL.P. which was established by the Group in the year ended 4 March 2010 {the share in profits is accounted for by the Group
as contributions when paid). The partnership interests in Moorgate SLP are held by the Group, the general pariner and by the
Pension Scheme.

Moorgate SLP holds an investment in a further partnership, Farringdon Scottish Partnership (SP). which was also established
by the Group during 2009/10. Property assets with a market value of £221.0m were transterred from other Group companies
to Farringdon SP and leased back to Whitbread Group PLC and Premier Inn Hotels Limited. The Group retains control over
these properties, incinding the flexibility to substitute alternative properties. However, the Trustee has first charge over the
property portfolio and certain other assets with an aggregate value of £228.0m which is included in the charge of £500.0m
above. The Group retains contro! over both partnerships and, as such. they are fully consolidated in these consolidated
financial statements.

The Pension Scheme is a partner in Moorgate SLP and. as such. is entitled to an annual share of the profits of the parinership
over the next four years. At the end of this period, the partnership capital allocated to the Pension Scheme partner will,
depending on the funding position of the Pension Scheme at that time, be transferred in cash to the Pension Scheme up to

a value of £150.0m,

Under TAS 9. the investment held by the Pension Scheme in Moorgate SLP, a consolidated entity. does not represent a plan
asset for the purposes of the consolidaled financial statements. Accordingly. the pension surplus position in these consolidated
financial statements does not reflect the £96.8m (2021: £147.4m) investment in Moorgate SLP held by the Pension Scheme.

Risks
Through its defined benefit scheme, the Group is exposed (o a number of risks in relation to the TAS 19 surplus, the most
significant of which are detailed below:

Risk Description Principal impact and
obligation
reconciliations

Market volatility The value of the defined benefit obligation is linked to AA-rated corporate bonds Return on plan assets

whilst the Scheme invests in a number of different asset classes (including those
deneminated in foreign currencies). These assets include equities, gitts, non-
corporate credit and cash. This exposes the Group to risks including those
reiating to inferest rates, equity markets, foreign exchange and climate change. As
aresult, any change in market conditions which impacis the value of the
Scheme’s assets or the interest rate on AA-rated corporate bonds will lead to
volatility in the Group’s net pension liability on the balance sheet, pension
expense in the income ssatement and remeasurement of movements in other
comptchensive income.

There is the potential for a period of heightened market volatility due to the
econonuc impact of the Russia-Ukraine conflict.

Actuarial movements in
financial assumptions

Inflationary risk

Due to the link between the scheme obligation and inflation, an increase in the
expected future rate of inftation will lead to higher scheme liabilities, although this
is mitigated by the Scheme holding inflation-linked assets which aim to match the
increase in liabilities.

Actuarial movements in
financial assumptions

Accounting assumptions

The defined benefit obligation is calculated by projecting the future cash flows of
the scheme for many years into the future. Consequently, the assumptions used
can have a significant impact on the balance sheet position and income staterment
charge. In practice. future scheme experience may not be in line with the
assurmptions adopted. For example, an increase in the life expectancy of members
would increase scheme liabilities.

Dhiscount rate: interest ingome
on scheme assets and cost
on liabilities

Mortality: actuarial movements
in demographic assumptions

Actuarial movements in
financial assumptions
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The principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuarics in updating the most recent valuation carried out as al

31 March 2020 of the UK scheme to 3 March 2022 for [4S /9 Employee Benefits purposes were:

At 3 March 2022 At 25 February 2021
0, o,

"o Yo
Pre-April 2006 rate of increase in pensions in payment 340 310
Post-April 2006 rate of increase (n pensions in payment 2.30 220
Pensions increase in deferment 340 310
Discount rate 2,60 1.90
Inflation assumption 3.60 320

The mortality asswuptious are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality improvements.
The assumptions are that a member currently aged 65 will live on average for a further 20.0 years (2021: 20.5 years) if they are male and
for a further 22.6 vears (2021: 23,1 years) if they are female. For a member who retires in 2041 at age 63, the assumptions are that they
will live on average for a further 21.1 years (2021: 21.5 years) after retirement if they are male and for a further 23.8 years (2021: 24,3

vears) after retirement if they are female.

During the year, the Group has changed its methodology for determining the discount rate to include single-AA

corporate bonds.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement in respect of the defined benefit scheme are as follows:

2021/22 2020721
£m £m
Net interest on net defined benefit surplus (3.6) (3.0)
Administrative expenses 2.6 2.7
Past service cost (GMP equalisation reserve) - 1.1
Total expense / (income) recognised in the consolidated income statement (gross of deferred tax) (L.0) 0.8
Amounts recognised in operating costs for past service costs or curtailment are £nil (2021: £1.1m).
The amounts taken to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows:
202122 2020721
£m £m
Actuarial {gains)/losses (213.8) (130.2)
Retumn on plan assets lower/(greater) than discount rate (100.0) 146 5
Re-measuremnent effects recognised in othet comprehensive income (318.8) 16.3
The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:
2022 2021
£m £fm
Present value of defined benefit obligation (2.521.2) (2,804.3)
Fair value of scheme assets 30438 29923
Surplus recognised in the consolidated balance sheet 522.6 188.0
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
202122 2020721
£m £m
Opening defined benefit obligation 23043 29927
Interest cost 52.3 48.7
Past service cost to recognise additional liahility in respect of guaranteed minimum pensions - Il
Re-measurement due to:
- Changes in financial assumptions (266.0) 365
- Changes in demographic assumptions (33.9) (70.6)
- Experience adjustments 81.1 (901
Benefits paid (116.5) {107.9)
Benefits settled by the Group in relation to an unfunded pension scheme! (0.1) (0.1)
Closing defined benefit obligation 2.521.2 28043
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Changes in the fair vatue of the scheme assets are as follows:

2021722 2020021

£m £m

Opening fair value of scheme assets 29923 31830

Interest income on scheme assets 55.9 517

Return on plan assets (lower)/greater than discount rate? 160.0 (146.5}

Contributions from emplover? 26 27

Additional contributions from Moorgate SLP 19.3 10.2

Investment manager expenses paid by the employer! 1.8 18

Benefits paid {116.5) {1079

Administrative expenses (2.6) 27

Closing fair value of scheme assets 3,043.8 29923
The major categories of plan assets are as follows:

2022 2021
Quoted and Quoted and

pooled 'nguoted Total pooled Unquoted Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Fquities 764 - 76.4 73.5 - 75.5

Alternalive assgts 143.0 - 143.0 200.7 - 2007

Bonds 164.6 3.2 167.8 196 3 51 201.6

Private markets " 460.7 460.7 “ 403.1 4031

Liability doven investments® 2,160.8 - 2,160.8 20605 - 2.060.5

Cash and other* 35.1 - 351 509 - 50.9

2579.9 463.9 30438 2,584.1 4082 29923

' The total of these items eguals the cash paid by the Group as per the consolidated cash Rlow staterment. “Contributions from employer” include contributions to cover
administration expenses.

? Includes cost of managing fund assets.

* Liability driven investments includes UK fixed and index-linked gilts, repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements. interest rate and inflation
{RP)swaps. gilts futures and cash.

* Other primarily relates to assets held in respect of cash and net current assets.

The assumptions in refation to discount rate. moriality and inflation have a signilicant effect on the measurement of scheme tabilities.
The following table shows the sensitivity of the valuation to changes in these assumptions:

Decrease/{ingrease) in ligbility

2022 2021
£m £m

Discount rate
1.00% increase to discount rate 3590 421.0
1.00% decrease to discount rate (458.0) (546.0)
[nflation
0.25% increase to inflation rate {73.0) {92.0)
0.25% decrease to inflation rate 720 90.0
Life expectancy
Additional one-year increase to life expectancy (126.0) {130.0)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption whilst holding all other assumptioas constant. In practice, this
is unlikely to occur and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefig
obligation to significant actuarial assumptions, the same method (projected unit credit method) fias been applied as when calculating
the pension liability recognised within the consolidated balance sheet. The methods and types of assumptions did not change.
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32. Related party disclosure

The Group consists of a parent company. Whitbread Group PLC, incorporated in the UK. and a npumber of subsidiaries and joint
ventures held directly and indirectly by Whitbread Group PLC. which operate and are incorporated around the world. Note 19 to
the Company's separate financial statements lists details of the interests in subsidiaries and related undertakings.

The Group holds 6% as a general partnership interest in Moorgate Scottish Limited Partnership (SLP) with Whitbread Pension
Trustees holding the balance as a limited partner. Moorgate SLP holds a 67.8% investment in a further partnership, Farringdon
Scottish Partnership (SP}. which was established by the Group to hold property assets. The remaining 32.2% interest in
Farringdon SP is owned by the Group. The partnerships were set up in 2009/10 as part of a transaction with Whitbread Pension
Trustees and the Group retains control over both partnerships and, as such. they are fully consolidated in these consolidated
financial statements. Further details can be [ound in Note 31,

Ultim ate controlling party
The ultimate controlling party is Whitbread PLC.

Related party transactions

2021/22 2020/21
Joint ventures Joint ventures
£m £m
Sales to a related party 0.1 0.1
Joint ventures
For details of the Groups investments in and loans to joint ventures, see Note 15.
Compensation of key management personnel (including directors):
202122 2020/21
£m £m
Short-term employee benefits 8.4 62
Post-employment benefits - -
Share-based payments 3.9 5.1
123 11.3

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Sales to, and purchases from. related parties are made at normal market prices. Qutstanding balances at year-end are unsecured and
settlement occurs in cash. There have been no guarantees provided. or received. for any related party receivables. No adjustment for
expected credit loss relating to amounts owed by related parties has been made (2021: £nil).

An assessiment is undertaken, each financial year, through examining the financial position of the related parties and the market in
which the related parties operate.

Transactions with other related parties
Details of transactions with directors are detailed in Note 7.
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33. Events after the balance sheet date

Property

On 7 March 2022. the Group entered into a forward funding transaction in relation to one property which was included within

assets classified as held for sale at the year end. receiving gross proceeds of £46.4m. !

Covenants

Following the release of the Ultimate Parent Group's financial statements, the Group notified its lending banks of its intentiot to remave
the covenant waivers that existed on its revolving credit facility, and issued a compliance certificate to reinstate the original covenants.
being:

Net DebtVAdjusted EBITDA' <3.5x
Adjusted EBITDAYinterest' »3.0x

On 25 May 2022. the Group signed a new Revolving Credit Facility Agreement, which contains one financial covenant ratio, being:

Net Debt!/Adjusted EBITDA' <3,5x

" The covenant measures are calculated pre-IFRS 16

Revolving credit facility (£850m)

On 25 May 2022 the Group signed a new 5 year £775m mulicurrency Revolving Credit Facility Agreement to replace the existing
facility. The facility is a Multicurrency Revolving Facility Agreement and has variable interest rates with GBP being linked to SONIA
and EUR being linked to EURIBOR.

34. Business combinations

Acquisition in 2020/21 — Foremost Hospitality Hiex GmbH

On 28 February 2020. the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Foremost Hospitality Hiex GmbH for consideration of
£2235.8m. The acquisition consisis of 13 trading hotels which have been rebranded to Premier Inn as well as the leasehold for a
further six pipeline sites. The transaction forms part of the Group’s strategic priority of international growth.

Trading hatel leases

In 2020/21. the Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in refation to the 13 hotels which were rebranded.
Lease fiabilitics were recognised at the present value of future lease payments. using assumptions consistent with those of new
leases. Right-of-use assets were valued at an amount equal to the lease liability as the lease arrangements were considered to
be at market rates.

Pipeline hotel leases

Three of the pipeline sites were open and operated by a third party. The Group acquired the headlease for these sites and
subleased them. The Group recognised investment property and lease liabilities in relation to these sites. During the vear, the
Group took over the operations of these sites and the investment property was transferred to right-of-use assets.

Contingent consideration
Contingent consideration was recognised at the date of acquisition and £62.6m were paid in instalments when the Group took
control of the operations of the pipeline hotels,

Subsequent to the acquisition. an impairment of the goodwill arising on acquisition has been recorded {see Note 14).

Asset acquisition in 2020/21 — 13 hotels from Centro Hotel Group

On 1 December 2020, the Group completed the acquisition of 13 hotels from the Centro Hotel Group. The transaction was
accounted for as an asset acquisition under IFRS 3 Business Combinations as the fair value of the assers was concentrated in

a single group of similar assets. The transaction consisted of six open hotels and seven pipeline hotels which were due to open
between 2021 and 2023. On acquisition, the Group recognised right-of-use assets of £84.9m and lease liabilitics of £77.2m in
relation to the open hotels. The Group had also committed to lease commitments of £202 4m in relation to the pipeline hotels.
Contingent consideration of £1.9m would become pavable once handover of the pipeline sites is complete.
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3 March 2022 25 February 2021
Notes £m £m
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 4 515 510
Property, plant and equipnient 5 1.856.3 1,894.5
Right-of-use assets 6 594.7 5902
Investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures 7 1.947.9 1.850.1
Derivative financial instruments 15 158 6.6
Loans to subsidiaries 303.5 3171
Defined benefit pension surplus 12 619.4 3354
5389.1 50449
Current assets
Inventorics 8 16.2 109
Derivative financial instruments 13 - 82
Current tax asset 211 -
Trade and other receivables 9 61.5 377
Cash and cash equivalents 1,089.0 12351
1.187.8 12919
Assets classified as held for sale 5
55.2 14.9
Total assets 6,632.1 6,351.7
Current tiabilities
Borrowings 11 - 3120
Lease liabilities 6 26.5 254
Pravisions 13 1.7 133
Derivative financial instruments 15 - 24
Current tax liability - 75
Trade and other pavabies 10 23223 1.974.6
2,360.5 23352
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 11 991.9 990.3
Lease liabilities 6 710.3 706.1
Provisions 13 8.9 89
Berivative financial instruments 15 - -
Deferred tax habilities 14 137.6 36.5
1,848.7 1,742.0
Total liabilities 4209.2 4,077.2
Net assets 24229 2,274 5
Equity
Share capital 16 133.7 133.7
Share premium 17 W7.7 2007
Revaluation reserve 17 21.8 232
Capital redenption reserve 17 1.7 11.7
Retained earnings 17 2,046.2 19003
Hedging reserve 17 - 2.1
Excluded component of hedge reserve 17 1.8 -
Tagal equity 24229 22745

emant Pate
Chief Financial Officer

23 August 2022

The income statement of the parent Company is omitted from the Company's accounts by virtue of the exemption granted by
Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006. The loss generated for ordinary shareholders and included in the financial statements
of the parent Company amounted {0 £58.4m (2020/21: loss of £368.6m}.
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Capital Excluded
Share Share  Revaluation Retained  redemption Hedging component of
capital  premium reserve earnings reserve reserve hedpe reserve Total
£fm fm £m fm £m £m £m £fm
At 27 February 2020 133.7 2077 233 2,278.6 1.7 (3.8) - 26512
Loss tor the year - - - (368.6) - - - (368.6)
Other comprehensive income - - - (23.8) - L7 - (22.1}
Total comprehensive income - - - (3924) - r7 - (390
Accrued share-based payments - - - 14.0 - - - 14.0
Realised revaluation gain transferred to profit and loss 0.1) 0.1 . -
account B i (0. : j j
At 25 February 2021 1337 207.7 232 1.900.3 1.7 (2.1} - 22745
Loss for the year - - - (58.4) - - - (58.4)
Other comprehensive mcome - - - 14,0 - 2.1 1.8 193.9
‘Total comprehensive income - - - 131.6 - 21 L8 135.5
Accrued share-based payments - - - 12.9 - - - 12.9
Realised revaluation gain transferred to profit and loss
- - {1.4) 1.4 - - - -
account
At 3 March 20622 133.7 2077 21.8 2,646.2 11.7 - 1.8 2,422.9

92



Whitbread Group PLC

Notes to the company financial statements
Year ended 3 March 2022

1. General Information and authorisation of consolidated financial statements

The financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC for the year ended 3 March 2022 were authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors on 23 August 2022, Whitbread Group PLC is a public company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom
under the Companies Act and is registered in England and Wales. The Company's senior unsecured bonds are listed on the
London Stock Exchange. The address of the registered office is shown on page 2.

Whitbread Group PLC. its subsidiaries and joint ventures. operate hotefs and restaurants. [ocated in the (UK and internationally.
2. Accounting policies

Basis of accounting and preparation
The financial statements of Whitbread Group PLC have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

The financial statements are presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred thousand except when
otherwise indicated. The financial year represents the 53 weeks to 3 March 2022 (prior financial year: 52 weeks to 25 February
2021).

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard 100 *Application of Financial
Reporting Requirements' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly. the Company has applied Financial
Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council in preparing these
financial statements.

As permitted by FRS 101. the company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard in relation
to share-based payments, non- current assets held for sale, financial instruments. capital management. presentation of comparative
information in respect of certain assets. presentation of a cash-flow statement. standards not yet ctfective. impairment of assets
and related party transactions. Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated accounts of the Company and
Group accounts of Whitbread PLC. The Group accounts of Whitbread PLC are available to the public and can be obtained as set
out in Note 20.

Going concern
The directors have concluded that it is appropriate for the financial statements to be prepared on the going concern basis (sce Note
2 to the consolidated financial statements).

Accounting policies
The accounting policies applied are consistent with those disclosed in Note 2 10 the consolidated financial statements except as
indicated below,

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures

Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less provision for any impairment. The carrying value of investiments are
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverabie. Cost
is the fair value of the consideration given. including acquisition charges associated with the investment.

Investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the centractual rights and
obligations of each investor. The Company has assessed the nature of its joint arrangement and determined ii to be a joint venture.
Investments in joint ventures are recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. including acquisition charges
associated with the investment less any provision for impairment.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Derivatives and hedging

The Company enters into derivative transactions to manage its exposure to exchange rate and foreign exchange rate risks.
Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value on the date the contract is entered into and subsequently re-measured to their fair
value at cach reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is
designated and effective as a hedging instrument. in which event the timing of the recognition in prefit or loss depends on the
naturc of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a derivative with a negative fair value is
recognised as a financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in the financial statements unless the Company has both the legal
right and intention to offsct.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than
12 months and is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives arc presented as current assets or
current liabilities.

The Company designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of foreign currency risk and interest rate risks as
fair value hedges and cash flow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange risk en firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow
hedgces.

At the inception of the hedge relationship. the Company documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the
hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Company
documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting the hedged risk, by confirming that there is an economic
relationship between hedged items and the hedging instrument; the effect of credit risk does not deminate the value changes that
result from that economic relationship: and the planned ratio of hedge: hedge item is the same as the actual ratio of hedge: hedge
item. The fair value change on qualifying fair value hedges is recognised in profit or loss.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated under the cash flow hedging reserve. Any gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion
of the hedge is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line
as the recognised hedged item.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting when the hedge relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria, or when the
hedging instrument expires, is sold. terminated or exercised.

Hedges of a net investment

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation. including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net
investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument retating to the
cffective portion of the hedge are recognised in other comprehensive income while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective
portion are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation. the cumulative value of any such
gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the statement of profit or loss.

The Company uses a loan as a hedge of its exposure to foreign exchange risk on its investments in foreign subsidiaries. Refer to
Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements for more details.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumpiions that affect the
amounts reported as assets and Habilities at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported as revenues and expenses during the
year. Although these amounts are based on management's best estimates, events or actions may mean thal actual results ultimately
ditfer from those estimates. and these differences may be material. These judgements and estimates and the underlying
assumptions arc reviewed regularly.

The critical accounting judgements and Key sources of estimation uncertainty applicable to the Company are consistent with
thosedisclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, with the exception of Adjusting items as these are not disclosed
by this Company.
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3. Dividends

2021722 2021/22 2020121 2020721
Pence per share £m Pence per share £m
Dividends paid during the year - - - -
4. Intangible asseis
Goodwill IT software Total
Cost £m £m £m
AL 25 February 2021 4.1 101.0 1051
Additions - 21t 211
Assets written off - (10.8) (10.8)
At 3 March 2022 4.1 1113 1154
Amortisation and impairment
At 25 February 2021 (L (53.00 (54.1}
Amortisation during the year - {20.53 (20.5)
Amortisation on assets written off - 10.7 10.7
At 3 March 2022 (LD €62.8) (63.9
Net book value at 3 March 2022 3.0 48.5 LIRS
Net book value at 25 February 2021 30 8.6 51.0

A review of [T software assets resulted in write off of assets with a net book value of £0.1m (2020/21: £1.2m)

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments in relation to intangible assets at the year-end amounted to £7.4m (2021: £0.5m).

5. Property, plant and equipment
Furniture, fixtures &

Land & Buildings cquipment Total
Cost £m £m £m
At 25 February 2021 15655 601.3 2.166.8
Additions 18.2 57.0 75.2
[nterest capitalised 0.7 - 0.7
Assets written off (1.4) (37.8) (39.2)
Movements 1o held for sale in the year 46.9) (12) (48.1}
At 3 March 2622 1,536.1 619.3 21554
Depreciation and impairment
At 25 February 2021 {76.6) (195.7) 272.3)
Depreciation charge for the year (8.0 (67.9) (75.9)
Assets written off 1.4 378 392
Movements to assets held for sale 06 02 08
Impairment reversal/(charge) 946 (0.3) 9.1
At 3 March 2022 (73.0) (226.1) £299.1)
Net book value at 3 March 2022 1,463.1 393.2 1,856.3
Net book value at 25 February 2021 14889 405.6 1,894 5

Capitalised interest
Additions to land and buildings include £0.7m of interest capitalised during the year at an average rate of 2.7% (202§ £0.1m at 2.9%).

Capital expenditure commitments 2022 2021
£m £m
Capital expenditure commitments for property. plant and equipment for which no provision has been made 51.2 79
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5. Property, plant and equipment {continued)

Impairment

As aresult of the COVID-19 pandemic and subsequent easing of restrictions. the Company identificd indicators of both
impairment and impairment reversals and as a result performed an impairment assessment of all trading sites. 'This resulted in a
nct impairment reversal of £9.1m being recorded in relation to property, plant and equipment and a net impairment reversal of
£5.0m being recorded in relation to right-of-use assets.

Further detail on the impairment assessment and the assumptions used is set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial
staternents.

Assets held for sale

During the year. two property assets with a net book value of £47.3m (2020/21: two with a net book value of £3.9m) were
transferred to assels held for sale. No property assets were iransferred back to fixed assets (2020/21: none). Three property
assets were sold during the year with a net book value of £7.0m (2020/21: none). No impairment loss was recognised relating to
assets classified as heldfor sale (2020/21: none). By the year end there were ning sites with a combined net book value of
£552m (2020/21: £14.9m).

6. L.ease arrangements

The company leases various buildings which arc used within the Premicr Inn business. The leases are non-cancellable operating
leases with varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights, and include variable payments that are not fixed in amount

but based upon a percentage of sales. The company also leases various plant and equipment under non-cancellable operating
lease agreements.

An analysis of the Group's right-of-use assct and lease liability is as follows:

Right-of-use asset

Property Other Total

£m £m £m

At 27 February 2020 4973 2.1 459.4
Additions 1263 08 127.1
Impairment (7.6) - (7.0)
Depreciation (27.5) (1.1) (28.6)
Terminations - (0.1} (0.1
At 25 February 2021 588.5 1.7 3902
Additions 304 0.7 311
Impairment reversal/(charge) 5.0 - 5.0
Depreciation (30.3) 0.9 (31.2)
Terminations 0.4) - (0.4)
At 3 March 2022 5932 15 594.7

Lease liability

Property Other Total

£m £m £m

At 27 February 2020 617.2 23 6195
Additions 1263 08 1271
Interest 319 0.1 3240
Payments (42.4) (1.2) (43.6)
Terminations (3.3) (0.2) (3.5
At 25 February 2021 729.7 1.8 7315
Additions 304 4.7 31.1
Interest 328 - 328
Payments (57.7) 0.7} (58.4)
Terminations 0.2y - 0.2)
At 3 March 2022 735.0 1.8 7368

During the vear, the Company had to right-of-use property assets and property lease liabilities of £20.5m (2020/21: £115.9m)

relating to new leases and £9.9m (2020/21: £10.4m) relating to amendments to existing icases.
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6. Lease arrangements (continued)

Amendments to IFRS 16: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

During the final quarter of the previous financial year, the Company underpaid lecase payments with a total value of £4.7m and
remains in discussion with substantially all of the impacted landlords. As a result. the underpaid amount was included within lease
liabilities in the balance sheet. Substantially all of these amounts were paid in FY 22, The Company early adopted the requirements of
Amendments to [FRS 16: Covid-19- Related Rent Concessions during the prior vear. As a result of early adopting these requirements,
rent deferrals which would otherwise have been treated as lease modifications have been accounted for as if the change was not a
lease modification. The adoption of the amendments had no impact on the income statement.

Amounts recognised in the income statement

2021/22 202021

£m fm

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 312 286
Interest expense on lease (fabilitics 32.8 2.0
Expense relating to low-value assets and short-term leases - -
Variable lease payment expense - N
Impairment (reversal Ycharge on right-of-use assets {5.0) 1.6
Lease income 2.7y {2.8)
56.3 65.4

Future possible cash sutflows not included in the lease liability

The Company has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. Sct out below are the undiscounted
future rental payments relating to periods following the exercise date of extension and termination options that are not included in
the lease Hability.

2021122 2020/21

£m £m

Extension options expected not o be exercised 373.3 274.1
Termination options expected not to be exercised - -
3733 2740

The Company uses judgement in determining whether termination and extension option periods will be included within the lease term.
The Company assumes that, unless a decision has been made to exit a lease, termination options will not be exercised as a result of
historic practices within the Group. At the outset of a lease, the Company assumes that it will not exercise extension options. Due to
the length of the Company’s leases, there is generally insufficient evidence that exercising an extension optionis certain.

The Company as a lessor

The Company acts as a lessor in relation to a number of non-trading legacy sites and in subletting space within trading sites. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year is £2,7m (2020/21: £2.8m). Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable
operating lcases at the year-end are as fellows:

2021/22 2020121

£m £m

Within one year 1.7 31
Alfter one year but not more than five years 24 4.6
More than five vears 3. 23
73 10.0

Maturity of lease liabilities
The company has undiscounted future lease payments associated with leases recognised within the lease liability as follows:

202122 2020121

£m £m

Within one year 57.8 573
After one year but not more than five yvears 239.1 2093
More than five years but not more than 10 vears 2697 2568
Morc than 10 vears but not more than 20 3538 4523
More than 20 years 371.8 4139
12922 1.389.6
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7. Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures

Subsidiary

undertakings Joint venture Total

£m £fm £m

At 25 February 2021 1.850.1 - 1,850.1
Additions 106.8 - 106.8
Impairment - - -
Foreign exchange (9.0 - 9.0)
At 3 March 2022 19479 - 19479

During the financial year a further investment was made 1o the entity’s investment in Premier [nn Holding Gmbl! in exchange
for share capital to provide funding to support acquisitions of hotels in Germany and operational cash flows.

In October 2019. the Company entered into cross-currency swaps, whereby it pays an average fixed rate of 2.12% on a notional
amount of €521.0m and receives a fixed rate of 3.375% on a notional amount of £450.0m. These swaps are being used as a net
investment hedge to manage the impact of movements in the GBP:EUR exchange rate on the value of the Group's investment in
its business in Germany, The swaps mature in October 2023 in line with the bonds.

Information about the Company 's related undertakings can be found in Note 19.

8. Inventories

2022 2021
£m £m
Finished goods held for resale 13.6 6.3
Consumables 2.6 4.6
16.2 10.9
The carrying value of inventories is stated net of a provision of £2.5m (2021: £5.5m).
During the year, cost of inventories recognised as an expensc totalled £100.2m (2020/21: £38.2m).
9. Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
£m £m
Trade debtors 249 16.9
Prepavments and accrued income i4.2 10.5
Other debtors 224 10.3
615 37.7

Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms. Trade debtors includes £23 9m (2021
£10.9m) relating to contracts with customers. Other debtors include £nil (2021: £3.1m) in relation to grants and other support
receivable from the UK government (see Note 9 to the consolidated accounts).

The allowance for expected credit loss relating to trade and other receivables at the year end was £1.2m (2021: £0.8m).

During the year. credit losses of £2.4m (2020/21: £0.6m) were recognised within operating costs in the consolidated income
statement.

98



Whitbread Group PLC

Notes to the company financial statements {continued)

10. Trade and other payables

2022 2021

£m £m

Trade payables 68.3 199
Amounts owed to group undertakings and parent 1.962.7 1.802.0
Other taxes and social security 24.7 293
Congract liabilities 559 182
Aceruals 162.3 68.9
Other payables 48.4 36.3
2,322.3 1974.6

Amounts payable to related parties are payable on demand and carry an average quarterly interest rate based upon the group funding.

Contract liabilities relate to payments received for accommodation where the stay wilt take place after the year-end and the Group’s
customer loyalty programmes,

Trade payables typically have maturities up to 60 days depending on the nature of the purchase transaction and the agreed terms.
11. Borrowings

Amounts drawn down on the Company’s borrowing facilities are as follows:

Current Non-current
2022 2021 2022 2021
£m fm £m £m

Revolving credit facility - N
Private placement loan notes - 3120

Senior unsecured honds - - 991.9 GH).S
- 312.0 991.9 990.5
Full details of the loans repayable are given in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
12. Pensions
2022 2021
£m £m
Pension surplus 6194 3354

During the year, the accounting surplus increased from £335.4m at 27 February 2021 to £619.4m at 3 March 2022. The
principal reasons for this increase were higher returns on plan assets than expected using the discount rate alongside
changes in financial assumptions, primarily an increase in discount rate applicd.

As explained further in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, the Whitbread Group established a partnership, Moorgate
SL.P, in which the Group is a general partner to hold an investment in a further partnership, Farringdon SP in March 2010.

Under IAS 19, the partnership interest held by the pension scheme represents a plan asset for the purposes of this Company's
accounts, and accordingly the pension surplus position in the Company accounts was increased by £96.8m (2021: £147.4m) to

reflect the interest in Moorgate SLP held by the pension scheme.

For information concerning the assets and liabilitics of the pension scheme, and details of the actuarial valuation, see Note 31 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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13. Provisions

Onerous Property

Restructuring contracts COSES Other Total

£m £m £m £m £m

At 23 February 2021 1.1 81 23 10.7 222

Created 04 1.0 - 14.3 15.7

Utilised {0.8) (3.3 2.2 (5.7) (12.3)

Released 0.3) 0.7 - {2.3) (5.0€)

At 3 March 2022 04 3.1 0.1 17.0 206
Analysed as:

Current 04 i3 al 9.2 1.7

Noen-current - 1.2 - 7.7 89

At 3 March 2022 0.4 30 0.1 17.0 20.6

Restructuring

Restruciuring provisions have been recognised as a result of the Company's decision to restructure its operations. The restructuring
provisions arc expected to be used within one year.

Onerous contracts
Onerous contract provisions relate primarily to property and software licences where the contracts have become onerous. Provision is
made for property-related cosis for the period that a sublet or assignment of the lease is not possible.

Onerous contraci provisions are discounted using a discount rate of 2.0% (2021: 2.0%) based on an approximation for the time value
of money.

Property
The amount and timing of the cash outflows are subject to variation. The Company utilises the skills and expertise of both internal
and external property experts to determine the provision held. Provisions are expected to be utilised over a period of up to 12 years.

Saftware

Certain software licence agreements were deemed to be onerous when, following the disposal of Costa, it was no longer beneficial to
the Company to use the software. At the year end, a provision of £0.8m (2021: £3.0m) was held for future unavoidable costs on such
agrecments, to be utilised over a period of up to three years. The software intangible assets associated with these contracts have been
{ully impaired in previous financial years,

Property costs

From FY 18-FY20, the Company established a provision for the performance of remedial works on cladding malterial at a small
number of the Company’s sites. As a result, a provision of £2.3m was brought forward this vear in refation to these costs. During the
year £0.5m of the provision has been utilised. The remaining provision is expected to be utilised within one year.

The Company utilises the skills and expertise of both internal and external property experts to determine the provision held.

Other

Insurance

A provision of £7.2m was brought forward in relation to the estimate of the cost of future claims against the Group from both
employees and the public. The claims covered typically relates to accidents and injuries sustained in Whitbread's sites. During the
year further provisions were created with a value of £3.0m and £2.0m of the provision was utilised.

Government payments

The Company has made various claims for government support which are subject to the review of relevant agencies. The provision
recognised represents the Company’s best estimate of amounts potentially repayable under previously submitted claims, and for
potential historical indirect tax repayments. A provision of £3.6m was brought forward in refation to these claims. During the year
further provisions were created with a value of £11.8m and £3.8m of the provision was utilised. Due to the complex nature and fast
pace of changes in the rules around certain government payments, the Company has endeavoured to apply and adhere to the rules in
place. [n certain areas where a rule interpretation was required, the Company has claimed in accordance with its assumptions.
Subsequently third party review has highlighted an alternative assumption could be formed and on the basis of a probable outflow a
provision based on that approach has been made.
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14. Deferred income tax assets/(liabilities)

Deferred tax relates to the following

2022 2021
£m £m
Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated capital allowances (39.2) (22.1)
Rolled over gains and property revaluations (61.1) @37
Pensions {165.9) (62.3)
Gross deferred tax liabilities {266.2) (128.3)
Deferred tax assets
Leases 235 17.9
Losses 104.2 66.9
Other 0.9 7.0
Gross deferred tax assets 128.6 91 &
Net deferred tax (liabilities)/assets (137.6) (36.5)
15. Derivative financial instruments
Categories of financial instruments accounted for at fair value:
2022 2021
Financial assets at fair value
Derivative financial instruments held at fair value Current - 8.2
Non-current 15.8 6.6
Financial liabilities held at fair value
Derivative financial instruments held at fair value Current - 24)

The change in value of financial instruments at {air value credited to the profit or loss account during the year was £1.3m (2021;
charge of £0.4m} and credited to the hedge reserve was £2.1m (2021: £2.3m).

Non-current

The fair value of derivative instruments classified as level 2 is calculated by discounting all future cash flows by the relevant market

discount rate at the balance sheet date,

16. Share capital

Allotted, calied up and fully paid

2022 2021

£m £m

“A” Ordinary shares of 25 pence each (2020: 25 pence each) 11.0 11.0
Ordinary shares of 25 pence each {2020: 25 pence each) 1227 1227
133.7 133.7

2022 2021

Million Millicn

Number of A" ordinary shares in issue 44.0 4.0
Number or ordinary shares in issue 490.6 490.6
Total shares in issue 534.6 534.6

The "A" shares have the same rights and rank equally with the ordinary shares. save that:
i. a holder of "A" shargs shall, on return of assets, whether on a winding-up or otherwise. be entitled 1o participate
propertionately in the surplus assets of the Company remaining after the payment of its liabilities

ii. a holder of "A" shares has no right as such to receive notice of or attend or vote at any general meeting of the
Company unless a resolution to vary or abrogate the rights attaching to such shares as proposed: and

iti. a holder of "A" shares is not entitled to any dividend or any other distribution (except as provided for in (i)
above).
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17. Reserves

Share capital
Share capital comprises the nominal value of the Company's ordinary shares of 25 pence each.

Share premium
The share premium reserve is the premium paid on the Company's 25 pence ordinary shares.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve includes the amounts that were re-valued on the UK properties up to and including 1998/99. It has been
the company s policy not to revalue fixed assets and the reserve is unwinding over a period of time as the re-valued properties are
disposed of.

Hedging reserve
This reserve records movements for effective cash flow hedges measured at fair value.

Excluded component of hedge reserve
The excluded component of hedge reserve records movement in the elements of derivatives used in hedging arrangements that are

excluded from the hedge relationship.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings are the accumulated profits of the Company.

18. Contingenti liabilities

Whithread Group PLC has undertaken to guarantee the lease payments of some other companies in the Group. The total
committed guaranteed amounts to £1.437.9m (2021: £1.441.2m). It also has bank and other guaraniees totalling £0.1m (2021:
£0.3m). The company considers it unlikely that it will be called upon to make any payments under these guarantees.

The company has additionally guaranteed liabilities of certain subsidiaries. See Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements,

19. Related parties
Details of related undertakings are shown below:

19. Related parties — active undertakings % of class of
% of class of shares held by the % of
shares held group {if different nominal
Country of by the parent from the parent  value (where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)
_AIREHIEX Stutigart Verwaltungs GmbH  Germany®  Ondimary EURS0000 - -~ 1000 1000
Brickwoods Limited England’ Ordinary £0.25 100.0 - 1000
~Duttons Brewery Limited England! Odinary £1.00 100.0 S - 10090
Elm Hotel Holdings Limited England’ Ordinary £0.10 - 100.0 100.0
Farringdon Scottish Partnership Scotland® ~ N/A o NIA N/A NA
Healthy Retail Limited England it} A ordinary £0.01 100.0 -
. R Bordinary £001 - - =
. Cordinary £0.01 . - - -
Milon (SC) 2 Limited " Seofland” T Oudinay £1.00°
Milton (SC) Limited Scotland? | Ordmnary £1.00
Milton 1 Limited _ Ordinary £1.00

Moorgate Scottish Limited Partnershi .

_.PIHotels and Restaurants Ircland Limited ~ _ Ieland®
Premier [nn (Bath Street} Limited

_Premier Inn {Guernsey} Limited

_-Prerm T Inn (Je
TP‘re:mer Inn (UK) Limited

Codmgie Ty

inary EUR 25,000
ary EUR 25,000

Ordinary FURZ5.000 .o mo
. Ordinary EUR 25,000
dinary £1. 00

 Ordinary EUR 25,006““ o
Ordinary EUR 25.000

Premier Inn Holding GmbH
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9. Related parties — active undertakings (continued) %o of class of
% of class of shares held by the % of
shares held group (if different avminal
Country of by the parent from the parent  value (where
Company name incorporation Class of shared helg Company Company) applicable)
Premier Inn Hotef GmbH Germany® There are no classes of - 100.0 100.0
shares. The total nominal
share capital amounts to EUR
300.066 and is divided into

two shares, one in the
nominal amount of EUR

275.008 and one in the

nominal amaunt of EUR
Preruier Inn Hotels Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Premier Inn Hotels LLC United Arab Ordinary AED 1.000 - 49.0 49.0

Emirates®

" G
England"
England’

_WPremler Inn Manchester Airport Limited

Premier Inn Manchester Trafford Limited England' Ordinary £1 5
Prerier inn Mannheim Quadrate TI Gmbi{ ~ Germany? Ordinary EUR25000
Premier Inn Mimchen Frank{urter Ring Grnbl | Germany® Ordinary EUR 25,000
. Premier Inn Qchre Lamited_ B England' .. Ordinany £100
Premier Inn Rostock City Hafen Gmbil Germany® Ordmary EUR 25.000
{tormerly UNA 344. Equity Managemem GmbH) B e i
..Premier Inn Stuttgart Feverbach GmbH_ o Gemany® | Ordinary EUR 23,000 T wog 1000
Pretmier Inn Verwaltungsgesellschafi Sid GmbH(formerly:  Germany® Ordinary EUR 50.000 - 100.0 100.0
__Acom Hotelbetriebs- und Verwaltungs GmblH) . e
Premier Inn Westminster Limited R England’ Ordinary £100 R
__Premier Travel Inn India Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 — L 160.0
_PL Whithread Indonesia. " T T indonesia® T Ondinary USDLOO T T TS T 1000 7000
"'PTT Mhddle East Limited Umted Arab Ordinary AED 1000 - 100.0 100.0
Silk Street Hotels Limited Lngldnd' ,,,,,,,,,

TF, Ashe & Nephew Limited |~ "

Ordinary SGD 1.00

Whitbread Holcl Company Limited o . L ). e
Whitbread International ‘Sourcmg Business Services China® Ordinary RMB 1.00 100.0 - 100.0
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd . ) _
Whitbread Properties Limited Fngl and' 5% non-cumulative 100.0 - 249
. N e prefergnce £0.50 e e
7% non-cumulative 100.0 - 164
- - . . L preference£025 -

Ordinary £0.175 1600 -
. Whitbread West Pennines Limited C 7 England” | Ordinary £100_ e BB T
WHRI Development DMCC United Arab Ordinary AED 1000 1900 B
Emirates" i

_WHRI Holding Company Limited __England' Jwe -

19. Related parties — dormant undcrtakmgs (continued) %% of class of
% of class of  shares held by the % of
shares held group (if different nominak
Country of by the parent from the parent  value {(where

Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)

Advisebegin Limited England’ Ordinary £1 00 - 100.0 100.0
Alastair Campbell & Company Limited Scotland'* Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Archibald Campbeil Hope & King Limited Scotland"” Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Autumn Days Limited Engfand" Ordinary £1.00 100.0 100.0
Belgrave Hotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 190.0 - 100.0
Belstead Brook Manor Hotel [imited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Brewers Favre Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 HGLO - 100.0
Britannia [nns Limited Fngland! Ordinary £1.00 1000 — 100.0
Broughton Park Hotel Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Carpenters of Widnes [imited England' Ordinary £0.91 100.0 — 100.0
Deferred ordmary £1.00 1060 - 100.0
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19, Related parties — dormant undertakings (continued) % of class of % of
% ol classof  shares held by the nominal
shares heid  group (if different value
Country of by the parent from the parent {where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)
Cherwell Inns Limited England' A ordinary non-voting 100.0 _ 66.7
£1.00
Chiswell Overseas Limited England* Ordinary ££.00 100.0 — 100.0
Chiswell Properties Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 160.0
Churchgate Manor Hotel Limited England' Ordinary £1,00 - 100.0 100.0
Country Club Hotels Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 190.0 1060.0
Cromwell Hotel (Stevenage) England! Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1060.0
Cymric Hotel Company Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Danesk Limited Scotland™ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
David Williams (Builth) Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Dealend Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Delamont Freres Limited Engtand' Ordinary £1.00 1000 - 100.0
Delaunay Freres Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Dome Restaurants Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Dragon lnns and Restaurants Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Dukes Head 1988 Limited England' B ordinary £1.00 104.0 - 100.0
W ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
E. Lacon & Co., Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
E B. Holdings Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Evan Evans Bevan Limvited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Finite Hote! Systems Limited England' A ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 30.0
B ordinary £1.04¢ - 100.0 50.0
Fleet Wines & Spirits Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Forest of Arden Golf and Country Club Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Gable Care Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Goodhews (Castle) England’ A ordinary £1 .00 — 100.0 SO
Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 19.0
Goodhews (Holdings) Limited England' A otdinary £1.00 100.0 - 422
B ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 422
C ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 15.6
Goodhews {(Inng) England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Goodhews {Restaurants) England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Goodhews B. & S. Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Goodhews Enterprises England! Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
CGoodhews Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 1000
Gough Brothers Limited England’ Deferred ordinary £.0.20 100.0 — 97.6
Ordinary £0.20 100.0 — 24
Grosvenor Leisure Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 1000
Hammock Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 1600
Hart & Co., (Boats) Limited England' E/D Oréonfumulative preference - 100.0 990
Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 1.0
1% non-cumulative preterence - 100.0 —
£0.01
Harveys Leisure Promotions Limited England' A ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 70.0
B ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 300
Hunter & Ofiver Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 160.0 - 100.0
J. Burton (Warwick) Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1000
J. J. Norman and Ellery Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
James Bell and Company Eimited England' Deferred ordinary £0.25 - 100.0 96.2
— Ordinary £0.01 - 100.0 38
Jestbread Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Kingsmills Hotel Company Limited Scotland’’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Larnbtons Ale Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Latewise Linited Englang' Ordinary £1.00 534 - 534
Lawnpark Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 10:0.0 - 100.0
Leisure and Retail Resources Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — .6 XK.6
Lloyds Avenue Catering Limited England’ 3%non-curmulative preference 100.0 - 300
£1.00
Ordinary £1.00 100.6 — 500
London Intemational Hotel Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Lorimer & Clark, Limited Seotland' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Mackeson & Company Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 160.0
Mackies Wine Company Limited England' COrdinary £1.00 160.0 - 160.0
Maredrove Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 160.0
Marine Hote! Porthcawl Limited England' Ordinary £1 00 160.0 — 100.0
Marlow Catering Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 160.0 - 100.0
Meon Valley Golf and Country Club Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Milton 2 Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 — 190.0 100.0
Morans of Bristol Linited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 10F 100.0
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19. Related parties — dormant undertakings {continued) %o of class of Y of
%o of classof  shares held by the nominal
shares held  group (if different value
Country of by the parent from the parent {(where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicable)
Morris’s Wing Stores Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 54
5.6% non-cunudative preference - 100.0 94.6
£1.00
New Clapton Stadium Companv Limited England' Ordinary £0.05 - 100.0 100.0
Norsermnan Lager Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Pacific Caledonian Properties Limited Scotland™ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Percheron Properties Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100-H 100G
Peter Dominic Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 1060 — 100.0
Pl Hotels York Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 160.0
Piguant Caterers [.imited England' Ordinary £1.00 160.0 — 100.0
Pizzaland 1.imited England’ Ordinary £1.0¢ 100.0 — 1000
Premier Inn Kier Limited England' A ordinary £ 00 - - —
B ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 50.0
Premier Inn Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 180.0 100.0
Premier (an Troon Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 6.0 106.G
Priory Leisure Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
R.C. Gough and Co. Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Raybain (Northern) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 160.0 - 100.0
Raybain (Wine Bars) Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Respotel Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Rhynney Breweries Limited Fngland! Ordinary £1.00 1060.0 - 100.0
S & S Property Limited Fngland! Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.6
S.H. Ward & Company Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Salford Automatics Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Scorechance | Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Scorechance 12 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 160.0 100.0
Scorechance 17 Limited England’ QOrdinary £1.00 — 106.0 100.0
Scorechance 25 Limited Fneland' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Scorechance § Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Sheffield Autormatics Limited England' Crdinary £1.00 160.0 — 100.G
Shewell Limied England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Silk Street Hotel Liverpool Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Small & Co. {Engineering) Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Smali & Co. Limited England' 7% cumufative preference £1.00 - 100.0 0.7
Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 99.3
Spring Soft Drinks Limited England' Qrdinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
_ Sprowston Manor Hotel Limited Enpland' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Square October | i.imited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Square October 2 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Square October 3 Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
St Andrews Homes (1995) Limited England' Ordinary £1 00 - 100.0 100.0
St Martins Care Homes Investments |imited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 1000
Stoneshell Lirmited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Stripe Travel Inn Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Strong and Co. of Romsey Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Sumimertields Care Limieed England Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 1000
Sun Tavems Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 5.0 95.0 100.0
Sweetings (Chop House) Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - E00.0
Swingbridge Hote] Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 100.0
Swiit (Lurchrise) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 160.0 100.0
Swift Hotels (1995) Limited Frgland' Ordinary £1.00 - 160.0 100.9
Swift Hotels {Management) Limited England’ Ordmary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Swift Inns and Restaurants Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Swift Profit Sharing Scheme Trustees Linited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 190.0 100.0
Swift Quest Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Tewkesbury Park Golf and Couniry Club Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
The Barcave Group Limited 7% cumulative preference 100.0 - 90.9
Fngland’ £1.00
COrdinary £1.00 100.0 - 91
The Dominic Group Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
The Four Seasons Hotel Investments Limited England' 8% cumulative preferenceA - 100.0 330
£1.00
8% curmnulative preferenceB - 100.0 28.1
£i.00
Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 302
Preferred ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 8.8
The Four Seasons Hote! Investments England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 160.0
Management Linuted
The Four Seasons Hotel Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
The Gyster Spa Company Lirmted ﬂgland' Crdinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
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' % éf class of

19. Related parties — dormant undertakings {continued) % of
% of class of  shares held by the neminal
shares held - -group-(if- different- value
Country of by the parent from the parent (where
Company name incorporation Class of shared held Company Company) applicabte)
The Portsmouth and Brighton United Breweries. England’ Ordinary £0.25 1006 - 100.0
Limited
Thomas Wethered & Sons Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Threlfalls (Liverpoot & Birkenhead) Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0
Threlfails (Salford) [Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Trentrisc Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Uncle Sam’s Eimited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Virlat Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
W. M. Darley, Linmuted England' Ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 49.8
Prefercnce £1.00 - 100.0 49.8
Preferred ordinary £0.01 — 100.0 0.4
W. R. Wines Limited England’ Deferred £1.00 — 100.0 .0
West Country Breweries Limited England' Deferred £1.00 - 100.0 99.0
Ordinary £0.01 - 100.0 1.0
Wentworth Guarantee Company Limited England' N/A N/A N/A
Whitbread {Condor) Holdings Limited England! Ordinary £0.0061 823 17.7 100.0
Whitbread (G.C.) Lirnited England* Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 100.0
Whitbread Company Two Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Whitbread Developments Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Devon Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 1040.0
Whitbread Directors | Limited England’ Ordinary £0.05 - 100.0 100.0
Whitbread Directors 2 Limited England' Crdinary £1.00 9.0 1.0 100.0
Whitbread Dunstable Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Enterprise Centre Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 106.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Finance PLC England! Ordinary £1.00 50.0 50.0 100.0
Whitbread Fremlins Limited England! Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Whitbread Golf and Country Club Limited England’ 5% non-cumulative preference - 100.0 45.0
£1.00
A ordinary £1.00 — 106.0 55.0
Whitbread Golf Club Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 1000 100.0
Whithread Guarantee Company Two Limited England’ NiA N/A N/A
Whitbread Hotel (Bourmemouth) Limited England Ordinary £0.03 — 1000 100.0
Whitbread Hotels {Management) |imited England Deferred £1.00 - 1000 100.0
USD 0.01 - 100.0 -
Whitbread Intermationat [ imited Lingland' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread International Trading |imited England' Ordinary £0.25 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Investment Company Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
‘Whitbread [nvestrent Comparty Securities Limited England' COrdimary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Whitbread London Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Nominees Limited Fngland' Ordinary £1.00 50.0 50.0 100.0
Whitbread Pension Trustee Directors Company Limited  England' N/A N/A, N/A N/A
Whitbread Pension Trustees England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Pub and Bars Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Pub Partnership Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Pub Restaurants Business Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Whithread Quest Trustee Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Restaurants (Australia) Limited Englandl Ordinary ££.00 100.0 — -
Ordinary £0.56 100.0 - 100.0
Whitbread Restaurants Limited England* Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 100.0
Whitbread Scotland Limited Scotland" Ordinary £1.0¢ 160.0 - 100.0
Whithread Secretaries Limited England’ Ordinary £0.05 1600 - 50.0
4% preference £0.05 100.0 - 50.0
Whitbread Share Ownership Trustees [imited England' NA N/A N/A
Whithread Spa Company Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 -
Whitbread Sunderland (§995) Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 = 100.0 100.9
Whitbread Sunderland 2 Limited England’ Ordinary £1.00 - 100.0 57.0
5.6% non-cumulative preference - 106.0 43.0
£1.00
Whitbread Sunderland Limited England' Ordinary £5.00 — 100.0 50.0
Preference £5.00 - 100.0 50.0
Whitbread Trafalgar Properties Limited England' A ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 50.0
B ordinary £1.00 100.0 E 50.0
Whitbread UK Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Whitbread Wales Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 — 100.0
Whitbread Wessex Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
White Cross Films Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 100.0
Wiggin Tree Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 100.0 - 160.0
Willhouse Limited England’ Deferred £1.00 — 100.0 30.0
Q ordinary £1.00 - 100.9 250
W ordinary £1.00 — 100.0 25.0
William Overy Crane Hire Limited England' Ordinary £1.00 - 19848 100.0




Whitbread Group FLC

Notes to the company financial statements {continued)

20 Parent undertaking
The immediate and ultimate parent undertaking is Whitbread PLC, registered in England and Wales.

The parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings for which group accounts are drawn up and of which the Company is

a member is Whitbread PLC. registered in England and Wales. Copies of their accounts can be obtained from Whitbread Court.
Houghton Hall Business Park, Porz Avenue. Dunstable, Bedfordshire. LUS SXE.

21 Events after the balance sheet date
Post balance sheet events likely to impact the company are set out within Note 33 to the consoclidated financial statements.
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